

The role of polyphenols on sugar release from carbohydrate rich foods, and the consequent impact on metabolic risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes

Shelly A Coe (2014)

https://radar.brookes.ac.uk/radar/items/af685b2c-e480-4d7f-95e7-6a8502faf62c/1/

Note if anything has been removed from thesis:

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder(s). The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

When referring to this work, the full bibliographic details must be given as follows:

Coe, S A, (2014), The role of polyphenols on sugar release from carbohydrate rich foods, and the consequent impact on metabolic risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes, PhD, Oxford Brookes University

# WWW.BROOKES.AC.UK/GO/RADAR

# The role of polyphenols on sugar release from carbohydrate rich foods, and the consequent impact on metabolic risk factors associated with type 2 diabetes

Shelly Ann Coe

Oxford Brookes University

Doctor of Philosophy

September 2014

# **Table of Contents**

1. Abstract

- 2. Aims and novelty of this PhD
- 3. Introduction to polyphenols
  - 3.1 Classes and characteristics
  - 3.2 Polyphenol intake
  - 3.3 Changes in the polyphenol content of foods
  - 3.4 Bioaccessibility and bioavailability
  - 3.5 Factors affecting polyphenol bioaccessibility and bioavailability
  - 3.6 Analysis of polyphenols
- 4. The potential of polyphenols as functional components in health
  - 4.1 Polyphenol rich diets and health: an introduction
  - 4.2 Functional Foods
  - 4.3 Establishing a recommended daily intake
  - 4.4 Synergism
  - 4.5 The role of polyphenols in inflammation
  - 4.6 Polyphenol consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease
  - 4.7 Green tea catechins, energy expenditure and weight maintenance

#### 5. Diabetes, glycaemia and polyphenols

- 5.1 Diabetes: background and characteristics
- 5.2 The glycaemic index (GI)

5.3 Low GI diets and health

5.4 Diabetes and polyphenols: the evidence

5.5 Summary of the evidence from animal and human studies

5.6 Carbohydrate digestion and absorption

5.7 Abnormal glucose metabolism, insulin resistance and the molecular role of polyphenols

5.8 Polyphenols at the intestinal level

5.9 Conclusion

6. The impact of polyphenols on acute postprandial glycaemia: a systematic review

6.1 Introduction

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Data extraction

6.2.2 Inclusion of studies

6.2.3 Quality assessment

#### 6.3 Results

- 6.3.1 General characteristics
- 6.3.2 Paper quality and outcomes
- 6.3.3 Polyphenols as solutions
- 6.3.4 Food sources of polyphenols
- 6.3.5 Adverse effects

6.4 Discussion and Conclusions

- 6.4.1 Polyphenols as solutions
- 6.4.2 Polyphenols consumed as whole foods
- 6.4.3 Further limitations
- 6.4.4 Conclusions

6.5 Publication

7. Polyphenol bioaccessibility and sugar reducing capacity of black, green and white teas.

7.1 Summary

7.2 Introduction

7.3 Materials and Methods

7.3.1 Chemicals

7.3.2 Study protocol

7.3.3 Folin-Ciocalteu analysis (FCR)

7.3.4 Bioaccessibility of tea polyphenols

7.3.5 Measurement of sugar release

7.3.6 Bread Preparation

7.3.7 In vitro Digestion

7.3.8 Analysis of reducing sugars released during digestion

7.3.9 Statistical analysis

#### 7.4 Results

7.4.1 Polyphenol content

7.4.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

7.4.3 Sugar release

### 7.5 Discussion

7.5.1 Polyphenol content

7.5.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

7.5.3 Starch digestion and sugar release

7.6 Conclusion

7.7 Publication

8. The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.) reduces starch digestion in vitro

8.1 Summary

8.2 Introduction

8.3 Methods and Materials

8.3.1 Chemicals

8.3.2 Study protocol

8.3.3 Ferric-ion reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)

8.3.4 FCR

8.3.5 Bioaccessibility of baobab polyphenols

8.3.6 Measurement of sugar release

8.3.7 Bread preparation

8.3.8 In vitro digestion

8.3.9 Analysis of reducing sugars released during digestion

8.3.10 Statistical analysis

#### 8.4 Results

8.4.1 Antioxidant and polyphenol content

8.4.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

8.4.3 Sugar release

#### 8.5 Discussion

8.5.1 Polyphenol content and bioaccessibility

8.5.2 Starch breakdown and sugar release from bread

8.6 Conclusion

8.7 Publications

9. The effect of polyphenol rich extracts in isolation and in combination, on sugar release from various starch rich foods in vitro.

9.1 Summary

9.2 Introduction

9.3 Methods

9.3.1 Chemicals

9.3.2 Study protocol

9.3.3 FRAP

#### 9.3.4 FCR

9.3.5 Bioaccessibility of plant extracts

9.3.6 Measurement of sugar release

9.3.7 Dose-response

9.3.8 Optimal doses added to other starch foods

9.3.9 Bread preparation

9.3.10 Extracts in combination

9.3.11 In vitro digestion

9.3.12 Analysis of sugar release

9.3.13 Statistical analysis

#### 9.4 Results

9.4.1 Antioxidant and polyphenol content, and bioaccessibility

9.4.2 Analysis of sugar release: dose response in white bread

9.4.3 Flat bread and gluten free bread

9.4.4 Extracts in combination and resulting RDS

#### 9.5 Discussion

9.5.1 Bioaccessible polyphenol rich extracts

9.5.2 Dose-response in white bread

9.5.3 Polyphenol rich extract addition to other starch foods

9.5.4 Polyphenols in combination

9.6 Conclusion

9.7 Publications

10. The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.) reduces the glycaemic response in humans.

10.1 Summary

10.2 Introduction

10.3 Methods

10.3.1 Subjects

10.3.2 Test meal

10.3.3 Study design

10.3.4 Energy expenditure

10.3.5 Glycaemic response

10.3.6 Satiety

10.3.7 Statistical analysis

10.4 Results

10.4.1 Glycaemic response

10.4.2 Energy Expenditure

10.4.3 Satiety

10.5 Discussion

10.6 Conclusion

10.7 Publication

11. White bread enriched with polyphenol extracts shows no effect on glycaemic response or satiety, yet may increase postprandial insulin economy in healthy subjects.

11.1 Summary

11.2 Introduction

11.3 Methods

11.3.1 Materials

11.3.2 Bread preparation

11.3.3 Subjects

11.3.4 Test meals

11.3.5 Study design

11.3.6 Glycaemic response

11.3.7 Insulin response

11.3.8 Satiety

11.3.9 Statistical analysis

11.4 Results

11.4.1 Glycaemic response

11.4.2 Insulin response

11.4.3 Satiety

11.5 Discussion

11.6 Conclusions

12. Conclusions and future prospects

# Abrreviations:

ANOVA, analysis of variance;	iNOS, nitric oxide synthase;		
aPCK, atypical protein kinase C;	IR, insulin response;		
AUC, area under the curve;	IRS1, insulin receptor substrate 1;		
avCHO, available carbohydrate;	LD, low dose;		
BAO, baobab;	LDL, low density lipoprotein;		
BP, blood pressure;	NOX, nitric oxide;		
C, control;	P13, phosphoinositide 3 kinase;		
CON, control;	RDS, rapidly digestible starch;		
CQA, caffeoyl quinic acids;	RES, resveratrol;		
CRP, C-reactive protein;	RMR, resting metabolic rate;		
CVD, cardiovascular disease;	RM-ANOVA, repeated measures ANOVA; species;		
DBP, diastolic blood pressure;	ROS, reactive oxygen		
dH <sub>2</sub> O, distilled water;	sAUC, segmental AUC;		
DIT, diet induced thermogenesis;	SBP, systolic blood pressure;		
DNS, dinitrosalicylic acid;	SD, standard deviation;		
EE, energy expenditure;	SDS, slowly digestible starch;		
ECG, epicatechin-gallate;	SEM, standard error of the mean;		
EGCG, epigallocatechin-gallate;	SGLT1, sodium dependent glucose transporter;		
FCR, Folin-Ciocalteu;	SPSS, Statistical Package for Social Science;		
FFQ, food frequency questionnaire;	TNF, tumour neurosis factor;		
FMD, flow mediated dilution;	VAS, visual analogue scale		
FRAP, ferric-ion reducing antioxidant power;			

GAE, gallic acid equivalents;

GI, glycaemic index;

GL, glycaemic load;

GLUT, glucose transporter;

GP, glycaemic profile;

GR, glycaemic response;

GSE, grape seed extract;

GTE, green tea extract;

HD, high dose;

HDL, high density lipoprotein;

HPLC, high performance liquid chromatography;

IAUC, incremental area under the curve;

IL, interleukin;

#### 1. Abstract

In the United Kingdom from 1993 to 2011, the proportion of people who were overweight and obese increased from 58 to 65 % in men and from 49 to 58 % in women. There was also an increase in related comorbidities including type 2 diabetes, which is predicted to be the 7<sup>th</sup> leading cause of death by 2030. The modification of food is becoming an attractive option in obesity management and disease prevention with much interest recently focused on the role of plant extracts and secondary plant compounds such as polyphenols as potential functional food additives for improving glycaemic control.

The aim of this PhD was to assess the effect of a variety of polyphenol rich sources including green, black and white teas, and also green tea extract, grape seed extract, resveratrol, and baobab fruit extract, on starch digestion and on markers of glycaemia. Throughout an *in vitro* digestion procedure, green tea and all of the polyphenol rich extracts were found to reduce starch digestion from white bread, and this effect was dose specific. These same doses of green tea extract and baobab fruit extract added into white bread were shown to have no effect on reducing the glycaemic response in healthy subjects, and therefore there may be inconstancies between *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods. However, although having no effect on glycaemia, baobab addition to white bread was shown to reduce the postprandial insulin response. Conversely, baobab fruit extract consumed as a solution at higher doses in combination with white bread was found to reduce the postprandial glycaemic response. Therefore baobab fruit extract may show potential as a functional food additive for improving health, and more specifically for alleviating markers of abnormal glucose metabolism.

# 2. Aims and novelty of this PhD

White bread is a widely consumed major staple food which accounts for 75% of the bread consumed in the UK (Flour and Bread Consumption, 2014). However, white bread contains a high glycaemic index (GI) value and thus can elicit an elevated postprandial glycaemic response (GR; Englyst *et al.*, 1999). A potential strategy for lowering the GI could be to introduce compounds into the bread which reduce the degree to which the carbohydrate is digested. Polyphenols may show potential for reducing the amount of carbohydrate breakdown in a food, and therefore may possibly lower the GI and resulting postprandial blood glucose levels (Williamson, 2013).

This PhD was composed of a series of experiments in which the results of each study formed the basis of the next study. A variety of black, green and white teas and plant extracts including grape seed extract, green tea extract, baobab fruit extract and resveratrol, were selected due to their potential rich polyphenol content and beneficial effects on glucose homeostasis, based on previous literature (Baur *et al.*, 2006; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Sapwarobol *et al.*, 2012; Tanko *et al.*, 2008; Yan *et al.*, 2012). The polyphenol content and polyphenol bioaccessibility of each tea and extract was assessed, and all sources were measured for their effect on *in vitro* starch digestion. The polyphenol sources with the greatest stability and potential for reducing sugar release *in vitro* were selected to measure their effects on markers of glycaemia in healthy humans. Therefore, the results from two years of *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods of starch digestion and resulting glycaemia was performed to determine if there was a correlation between the methods when studying the effect of polyphenols on starch degradation.

Previous studies have looked at the combination of polyphenol rich foods with carbohydrates and resulting glycaemic parameters (Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). This is the first study to investigate the effect of green tea extract and baobab fruit extract baked into white bread, on *in vitro* starch digestion and also on postprandial glycaemia and insulin response (IR) in humans. Therefore, the first part of this research focused on the chemistry and characteristics of different polyphenols using various *in vitro* assays. However the wider implications of this work are public health related, building up from what was learned at the molecular level to how this can bring benefits for improving metabolic abnormalities in the general population. The overall aim of this PhD was to lower the GR after the consumption of white

bread by the addition of extracts rich in total polyphenols, and therefore to construct potential functional foods for reducing the risk factors of diabetes and other metabolic diseases.

#### 3. Introduction to polyphenols

#### 3.1 Classes and characteristics

Polyphenols are plant secondary metabolites found abundantly in foods such as fruits and vegetables, and also in sources such as dark chocolate, tea and wine. These compounds are classified into four main groups depending on their structure as shown in Figure 3.1, and can be further broken down into subclasses as represented in Figure 3.2. Polyphenols can be more broadly classified as flavonoids or non-flavonoids, and are usually found in foods combined to sugars or organic acids (Landete, 2012). The parent flavonoid molecule is composed of two aromatic rings bound together by three carbon atoms, which form an oxygenated heterocycle and flavonoids are thus placed into subclasses based on the type of heterocycle involved (Spencer *et al.*, 2008; Figure 3.1). Non-flavonoid phenolics are more heterogeneous and can vary in chain length. The flavonoids are the most frequently found in the diet (Gharras, 2009), and over 4000 flavonoids have been identified with different flavonoid scontaining their own unique mixtures of polyphenol compounds (Harborne & Williams, 2000). Some common characteristics of the different flavonoid subclasses are presented in Table 3.1.





**Figure 3.2** Polyphenol classes and subclasses (Hardman, 2014)

Table 3.1	Flavonoid characteristics					
	Flavanols	Flavonols	Isoflavones	Flavones	Flavanones	Anthocyanins
<b>Structure</b> (D' archivio <i>et al.,</i> 2007)	Saturated 3 C chain with -OH on C3	Double bond between C2 and C3 with -OH on C3	-OH on C7 and C4	Double bond between C2 and C3	Saturated 3 C chain with $O_2$ on C4 and glycosylated by disaccharide on C2	Sugar at C3 or on A5', A7'
Subclasses (Higdon, 2005)	Catechin Epicatechin EGC, ECG, EGCG Theaflavin Thearubigin Proanthocyanidin	Quercetin Kaempferol Myricetin Isorhamnetin	Daidzein Genistein Glycitein Biochanin A Formononentin	Apigenin Luteolin	Naringenin Hesperetin Eriodictyol	Cyanidin Delphinidin Malvidin Pelargonidin Peonidin Petunidin
<b>Common dietary</b> <b>sources</b> (D' archivio <i>et al.</i> , 2007)	Green tea Red Wine Black Tea Dark Chocolate Berries Apricots	Green tea Black Tea Dark Chocolate Red Wine Onions (red) Curley Kale Leeks Blueberries Broccoli	Soyabeans Legumes	Parsley Celery	Citrus Orange Juice Tomatoes	Red wine Cereals Vegetables Fruits
Preferentially absorbed form	EGC and epicatechin better than + enantiomers ( Peters <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010) (-) epicatechin and (+) catechin (Crozier <i>et al.</i> , 2010)	Glucosides of quercetin (Manach <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004) Kaempferol more than quercetin (Dupont <i>et al.</i> , 2004)	All generally well absorbed, 20-50 % of intake absorbed Genistein more than daidzein, aglycones, glucosides (Manach <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005)	β -glucoside of apigenin (Walle, 2004)	Aglycones (Manach & Donovan, 2004)	Acylated better than non- acylated aglycones Glucosides better than galactiosides Pelargonidin better than cyanidin (Walle, 2004)
Poorly absorbed form	Proanthocyanidins EGCG, ECG (-) catechins Gallated forms (Van Amelsvoort <i>et al.</i> , 2001)	Glycosides and rutin (Manach <i>et al.</i> , 2004)	Glycosides (Setchell <i>et al.</i> , 2001)	n/a	n/a	Glucosides (Passamonti <i>et al.,</i> 2002)

Absorption site	Procyanidins and thearubigins in colon by microflora All other in small intestine (Manach <i>et al.</i> , 2005)	Rutin in colon by microflora Quercetin and isoquercitrin in small intestine (Mullen <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006)	Small intestine Equol, dihydrodaidzein and dihydrogenistein in large intestine (Tamura <i>et al.</i> , 2008)	n/a	Rutinosides in large intestine Aglycone and other forms in small intestine (Manach <i>et al.</i> , 2003)	Small intestine (Manach & Donovan, 2004)
Active metabolites in plasma	Free form (77-90 % of time), glucuronic, sulphate, methylated (Manach <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2005; Ullmann <i>et al.</i> , 2003)	Quercetin as methyl, sulfate, or glucu- ronic acid conjugates (Mullen <i>et al.</i> , 2006) Kaempferol as glucuronides and free form (Dupont <i>et al.</i> , 2004)	Aglycones, glycosides, sulfates or glucuronides (Hosoda <i>et al.</i> , 2008)	Monoglucuronide of luteolin and free luteolin (Shimoi <i>et al.</i> , 2000)	Hesperetin – monoglucuronide and diglucuronides, sulphated (Mullen <i>et al.</i> , 2008)	O-methylation of B ring & glucuronidation, sulphation (Felgines <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2003)
Excretion	Galloylated in bile (Van Amelsvoort <i>et al.</i> , 2001) EGCG low in urine, high in bile (Kohri <i>et al.</i> , 2001) Most others in urine	Glucuronide in urine (Crozier <i>et al.</i> , 2010)	Urinary (Crozier <i>et al.,</i> 2010)	n/a	<ul> <li>8.6% hesperitin and</li> <li>8.8% naringenin in</li> <li>urine (Manach <i>et al.</i>, 2005)</li> <li>Glucuronides (Mullen <i>et al.</i>, 20</li> <li>08)</li> </ul>	Low urine excretions, 80% monoglucuronides in urine (Felgines <i>et al.</i> , 2003)

<sup>1</sup>C, carbon; OH, hydroxyl; O<sub>2</sub>, oxygen, A, acylated; EGC, epigallocatechin; ECG, epicatechin-gallate; EGCG, epigallocatechin-gallate.

#### 3.2 Polyphenol intake

Although the different classes and structures of polyphenols are well known, few researchers have succeeded in assessing the total amount of polyphenols consumed in different populations due to the difficulty in adequately performing these studies. Overall, the estimated average intake of polyphenols worldwide is thought to be around 1000 mg/ day, with a third of this intake resulting from phenolic acids (Landete, 2012). Japan has the highest level of flavonol intake compared to other countries, which is predominately due to their high intake of green tea (Skibola & Smith, 2000). Polyphenol intake in the Spanish diet has been estimated between 2590 and 3016 mg/ day (Saura-Calixto *et al.*, 2007) and the intake of flavonoids in the United States is in the range of 500 to 1000 mg/ day. By performing 48-hour dietary recalls in 2007 Finnish adults, polyphenol intake was estimated at 863  $\pm$  42 mg/ day, composed mainly of phenolics followed by proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins (Ovaskainen *et al.*, 2008). In the diet of 4942 French adults aged 45 - 60 years, 337 different polyphenols were determined with an average intake of 1193  $\pm$  510 mg/ day (Pérez-Jiménez *et al.*, 2011). In the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study, Denmark was found to have the highest phenolic acid intake of 1265.5 mg/ day in men and 980.7 mg/ day in women, with Greece having the lowest intake of 213.2 mg/ day and 158.6 mg/ day in men and women, respectively (Zamora-Ros *et al.*, 2013b). There was a great heterogeneity in phenolic acid intake across European countries, thus further studies need to consider the meaning and relevance of these results.

However, there is great difficulty in determining more accurate predictors of polyphenol intake as it is unknown whether those polyphenols most abundant in foods are those most bioactive in the body. Furthermore, obtaining intakes of certain polyphenol rich foods such as fruits and vegetables can be complicated due to poor understanding around how much a 'portion' is and what constitutes a fruit or vegetable. Biomarkers of intake are thus hard to determine due to the variety of factors that influence polyphenol intake and bioactivity.

# 3.3 Changes in the polyphenol content of foods

Polyphenols exist in plants to act as defences against pathogens, oxidants and ultraviolet radiation (Beckman, 2000). Organic fruits and vegetables often have higher polyphenol contents because more polyphenols are produced in order to protect the plant against these foreign pathogens (Carris-Veyrat *et al.*, 2004). Plant variety is a major determinant of polyphenol composition, as is the environment it is grown in and the

conditions of storage (Spencer *et al.*, 2008). Polyphenols are very unstable and easily degraded by such things as light, air oxidation and heat. However, the bio-synthesis of flavonoids is stimulated by light, and for this reason phenolic compounds tend to accumulate in the outer parts of the fruit. Many flavonoids are found in the peels of fruits, vegetables and grains, and therefore refining or peeling will reduce the polyphenol content. Cooking, such as boiling or frying, can result in major losses of flavonoids. As flavonoids are highly soluble in water, cooking foods with a high surface area or ruptured cell wall in water can result in a substantial reduction in flavonoids that leach into the surrounding water (Rodriguesa *et al.*, 2009). Food processing can also reduce the polyphenol content as the plants are grinded thus causing enzymes to act on the polyphenol compounds (Manach *et al.*, 2004). Esterases, glycosidases, and decarboxylases all can alter polyphenol structure in foods through oxidation and this can influence the sensory quality of foods, either resulting in beneficial or harmful changes to the foods (Pandey & Rizvi, 2009). For example, in tea production oxidation enhances sensory quality, yet in fruits this oxidation process results in fruit browning.

Individual polyphenols can be affected differently by external stimuli. For example, epigallocatechin-gallate (EGCG) is unstable to auto oxidation and epimerization, with temperature, pH, oxygen and the level of associated antioxidants also affecting EGCG stability (Sang *et al.*, 2005). In a review by Ananingsih *et al.* (2013) investigating the stability of various catechins, stability was low at a pH < 4, increased at a pH of > 6, and most catechins were easily degraded by heat. The phenolic acid content of a plant tends to decrease during ripening, yet the anthocyanins in fruits and vegetables are found predominantly in the skins of plants and increase with colour intensity and fruit ripeness (D'Archivio *et al.*, 2007). These compounds are highly sensitive to changes in pH and may undergo ring opening or oxidation during sample extraction and thus when foods are measured for polyphenol content, anthocyanins may not always be detected (Pandy & Rizvi, 2009). Therefore due to the easily degradability of polyphenols, the analysis of these compounds in foods can vary greatly between different varieties of the same source depending on many external factors.

#### 3.4 Bioaccessibility and bioavailability

Although much research has been completed assessing the total content of polyphenols in foods, there is confusion around the bioaccessibility and bioavailability of phenolic molecules in the digestive system, plasma and tissues (Saura-Calixto *et al.*, 2007). A main goal for future research is to determine not only which polyphenols are the most abundant in the diet and most efficiently absorbed, yet also which polyphenols produce active

metabolites and identification of those metabolites. Although polyphenols such as quercetin and genistein have been the most largely studied phenolic compounds due to their structural properties, they only constitute about 2-4 % of total polyphenol intake in Western diets and therefore their activity in the body is negligible (Scalbert & Williamson, 2000).

Bioaccessibility is defined as the amount of polyphenols that reach the intestinal border with the potential to be absorbed into the blood. The bioaccessibility of compounds is measured by *in vitro* methods and therefore has its limitations. In contrast, bioavailability refers to the amount of polyphenols that actually get absorbed and therefore have potential to exert their actions in the body. When ingested polyphenols reach the intestine, the chemical structure determines the rate and extent of absorption, and thus the content of polyphenol plasma metabolites. Some polyphenols are absorbed at the gastrointestinal level, whereas others are absorbed at the more distal parts of the intestine (Pandey & Rizvi, 2009; Table 3.1). It is thought that only approximately 5-10 % of total polyphenols are absorbed at the small intestine, with the remaining being metabolised by the colonic microbiota (Chiva-Blanch & Visioli, 2012). The nature and position of the conjugated groups can affect the biological properties of the compound, and is therefore important to determine for accurate analyses (Day, 2000a). During absorption, polyphenols may be transformed into aglycones or sugar conjugates rather than existing in the original form of the compound found in the food. In order for diffusion across the intestinal brush border, the first step is the removal of sugar moieties from the polyphenol by glycosidases (Gharras, 2009). Following hydrolysis polyphenols are conjugated by methylation, sulfication, glucuronidation or a combination which is controlled by enzyme action. Flavonoids that are normally glycosylated include certain classes of flavonols, isoflavones, flavones and anthocyanins. Glucosides are more readily available from the small intestine than are other glycosides, and galloyl groups also influence the absorption, yet not to the same extent as glycosylation (Williamson & Manach, 2005).

An early study by Lipinski and others (2012) proposed that compounds should have a molecular weight of no more than 500 Daltons, less than five hydrogen bond donors and no more than ten hydrogen bond acceptors in order to be absorbed into the body. EGCG contains a large number of hydrogen bond acceptors and donors, and therefore is not well absorbed despite showing high activity *in vitro* (Lee, 2013). Proanthocyanins can have a wide range of molecular weights with varying degrees of polymerization (Guyot *et al.*, 2001). As polymerization increases, degradation decreases in the intestinal tract and overall absorption of the polymer and complex compounds decreases (Rios *et al.*, 2003). Quercetin is promising for its health benefits yet has a low bioavailability *in vivo*; however combining polyphenol compounds with other sources may influence their degree of bioavailability (Guo *et al.*, 2013). For example, in the study by Guo *et al.* (2013) consumption of the aglycone

20

quercetin in combination with a high fat breakfast was shown to enhance absorption of quercetin, possibly due to the micellarisation at the small intestine.

The two most common methods of evaluating polyphenol intake and bioavailability are through the plasma and urine (Vetrani *et al.*, 2014). A high concentration of polyphenol metabolites in the urine generally corresponds to a high absorption of polyphenols from the small intestine, however this can be misleading as many phenolics are eliminated in the bile, and thus urine evaluation can result in an underestimation of polyphenol bioavailability. Metabolites that have been extensively conjugated are more likely to be excreted by means of bile, whereas small conjugates are more likely to exit via urine (Pandy & Rizvi, 2009). Urinary excretion is generally high for flavanones from citrus fruits (Manach *et al.*, 2004) and for isoflavones (Setchell *et al.*, 2003), while very low for flavonols such as quercetin and its glycosides (Graefe *et al.*, 2001; Table 3.1). However, due to the vast structural changes that take place, there is great limitation for determining accurate biomarkers of polyphenol intake.

#### 3.5 Factors affecting polyphenol bioaccessibility and bioavailability

By performing a simulated *in vitro* digestion, it is possible to assess the changes in polyphenol bioaccessibility throughout the digestive process. For example, Ryan and Prescott (2010) tested various fruit juices and found that certain polyphenols became more bioaccessible as they changed form throughout digestion. The conclusion was that this increase may be due to the change in structure of certain phenols such as the anthocyanins. This was further highlighted in a later study by Wootton-Beard *et al.* (2011) which found the antioxidant and polyphenol content of 23 vegetable juices to increase in bioaccessibility into the gastric phase and then decrease into the duodenal stage of digestion. Bermudez-Soto *et al.* (2007) also found that polyphenol bioaccessibility increased after the gastric phase of digestion yet decreased after the duodenal phase, and the alkaline pH in the duodenum was thought to be responsible for the degradation. Heat treatment is generally considered harmful for polyphenols, however it may also allow for the formation of new structural groups giving polyphenols enhanced productivity (Kim *et al.* 2010). For example Kim *et al.* (2010) found that compared to the fresh form, thermally processed tannic acid had a 67% higher plasma antioxidant capacity.

The food matrix is another important issue to consider as the consumption of polyphenols in combination with other compounds can influence the degree of degradation. For example, Rios and others (2002) found that *in vivo* the food medium was shown to buffer the pH of the

intestine and thus compounds such as proanthocyanins were not subject to as high a degree of hydrolysation as they would otherwise be in isolation. In the study by Seeram *et al.* (2005), pomegranate juice was found to have greater bioactivity in colon cancer cell lines compared to its purified polyphenols, and it was concluded from this that synergism and multi factorial effects were greater compared to any single compound on anti-proliferative activity. However, other studies show conflicting results. Bermudez-Soto *et al.* (2007) found that the pure compound quercetin-3-rutinoside from chokeberry was more stable when incubated alone than in the chokeberry juice. Therefore, depending on the type of polyphenols and the food medium, and also the specificity of the method of analysis used, the digestion process may enhance or decrease the amount of polyphenols absorbed and thus the polyphenol activity in the body.

# 3.6 Analysis of polyphenols

To date, there is a lack of standardised analytical methods to quantify the polyphenol content of foods. Current methods include the Folin-Ciocalteu (FCR) method to estimate total phenols, where as individual compounds such as cholorogenic acid, quercetin or catechins can be estimated by chromatographic techniques (Spencer *et al.*, 2008). The FCR method is a standardised method for measuring the polyphenol content of a sample (Prior *et al.*, 2005), and estimates phenol content by measuring reducing capacity based on an electron transfer based assay (Phipps *et al.*, 2007). The method is sensitive and precise yet is slow and not standardised, and lacks specificity with many substances able to interfere with measurements. For example, sulfites and sulphur dioxide react with the FCR reagent and may therefore become an issue when measuring total polyphenol content of sources such as wine (Singleton & Rossi, 1965). Also, there is a tendency for overestimation when using the FCR method due to ascorbic acid being included in the total reducing power value. However, underestimation of polyphenol content is frequent when using chromatography because proanthocyanidin polymers and oxidised polyphenols may escape detection (Scalbert & Williamson, 2000). The high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) analysis and the liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS) are the main methods used to analyse individual polyphenol contents and measure the compounds both qualitatively and quantification of compounds without sample preparation (Canas *et al.*, 2003); however, analysis time can be long and samples require a high resolution (Motilva *et al.*, 2013). Hundreds of studies have used HPLC-MS and other methods to determine the individual polyphenol profiles of different food sources (Cacciola *et al.*, 2012). Information on the polyphenol content of a range of different fruits, vegetables and other foods is now available to the public. Polyphenol Explorer is the first comprehensive database to have a detailed record of the polyphenol content of select foods from a meta-analysis of studies (Neveu *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, research into the polyphenol content of foods, and also the structural changes that take place throughout digestion is progressing highlighting the potential variety of fates that these compounds may have in health.

#### 4. The potential of polyphenols as functional components in health

# 4.1 Polyphenol rich diets and health: an introduction

Food and beverages rich in polyphenols are thought to be beneficial for sustaining long term health. A high fruit and vegetable consumption specifically has been extensively associated with a reduced risk of chronic disease (Liu, 2003). Fruits and vegetables are well known for their high micronutrient content, and are frequently acknowledged for being high in antioxidants and different fruits and vegetables contribute significantly to the intake of polyphenols in the diet worldwide (Scalbert & Williamson, 2000). The British Nutrition Foundation (BNF) recommends a minimal consumption of five servings of fruit and vegetables a day for disease risk reduction, however the average consumption in the UK is far below this level (BNF, 2014). Based on data from the Health Survey for England between 2001 and 2008, it has been proposed that five servings may not be an adequate intake to prevent chronic disease, and thus it has been recommended that the UK population should aim for seven plus servings a day. This increase in fruit and vegetable consumption may significantly increase overall polyphenol intake.

The consumption of a polyphenol rich diet may simply protect against disease because these healthful foods replace other 'non healthy' foods such as those rich in saturated fat and refined sugars (Chiva-Blanch & Visioli, 2012). Also, those who consume an overall healthy diet are more likely to have other healthy lifestyle behaviours, such as performing regular exercise, being non-smokers and consuming low amounts of alcohol. In a 12-year cohort study of 807 people, total urinary polyphenols were assessed for their association with overall mortality. Those in the highest tertile of total urinary polyphenols at baseline were shown to have the lowest mortality rate at follow up, thus indicating that high polyphenol intake may be associated with longevity (Zamora-Ros *et al.*, 2013a).

One mechanism in which polyphenols may slow down the ageing process is thought to be due to their antioxidant potential (Harmen, 2006). The increase in antioxidant capacity after consuming polyphenol rich products could be a result of their effects on endogenous antioxidants, their reduction on the absorption of pro-oxidants or simply due to their own reducing potential (Scalbert *et al.*, 2005). However, previously thought to work predominately as antioxidants in the body polyphenols are now thought of more for their other health promoting properties. Few polyphenols contain the right free hydroxyl structure to actually work as antioxidants and an insufficient amount may be absorbed to contribute to the overall antioxidant status (Bors *et al.*, 2001). Many foods and beverage products with extracts of single polyphenolic compounds are being marketed for their antioxidant potential, which is solely based on *in vitro* data and therefore products are being labelled and promoted before there is sound evidence for their actual wide variety of health benefits (Lee, 2013).

#### 4.2 Functional Foods

The idea of a functional food was initiated in Japan in the 1980s when the Ministry of Health and Welfare took action to promote foods that were designed to prevent and treat chronic disease in the ageing population (Arai, 1996). These foods were termed Food for Specified Health Use (FOSHU) and by definition refer to foods that contain ingredients that are physiologically active and beneficial for health. In the UK, functional foods are not as advanced and there is still a lack of knowledge for consumers around what a functional food is and how these foods can be beneficial for health (Annunziata & Vecchio, 2011). This confusion revolves around the limited science supporting the role of functional components in relation to disease reduction. The EU regulations specify that in order to contain health claims a food must adhere to a set of nutrient requirements backed by clear and substantiated scientific evidence (EFSA, 2014). The consideration of polyphenols as functional additives is part of a rapidly growing area of nutritional science.

## 4.3 Establishing a recommended daily intake

There are a variety of conflicts that arise when considering polyphenols as functional food ingredients, including their potential toxic effects. Unlike the micronutrients in the diet, there is currently no recommended daily intake of polyphenols to maintain optimal health (Chiva-Blanch & Visioli, 2012). Obtaining polyphenols exclusively through food and beverage sources is unlikely to lead to toxicity, even in high polyphenol consuming countries. However, taking isolated polyphenol supplements in addition to consuming a polyphenol rich diet may increase overall intake to very high levels. Polyphenols are generally consumed from the diet in milligrams per day, whereas taking supplements can result in the ingestion of grams of polyphenols (Skibola & Smith, 2000).

Although polyphenols are known for their antioxidant role, they can also work as pro-oxidants at higher doses. *In vitro* work has highlighted the potential of flavonoids in causing adverse reactions such as mutations and cytotoxicity if consumed in high amounts (Halliwell *et al.*, 2008). In a review by Schönthal (2011) the adverse effects of polyphenol rich green tea at various doses were highlighted, including such things as liver damage and potential interactions with certain medications. Other compounds such as the isoflavones have been shown to have both protective and adverse effects on breast cancer at doses obtained from the diet, due to their oestrogen like nature (Dong & Qin, 2010). However, toxicity studies in humans are limited due to the ethical issues associated with these types of designs, making a clear upper limit difficult to determine.

Research performed in *in vitro* and in animal models is beneficial for considering these dose response studies for polyphenols and their influence on health, however when working with these models several conflicts may arise making it hard to translate results to human models (Yang *et al.*, 2001). For example, administered doses of phenolics are often much higher in animal models than those used in humans. Also, in obvious terms animals are not humans, and therefore the causative disease factors in animals are not necessarily the same for human pathologies. Even epidemiological human studies, although the best method for looking at real-life effects of dietary interventions, consist of confounding factors that make true cause-effect relationships hard to determine. However, considering the pitfalls polyphenols have still shown significant promise in some of the most prevalent chronic diseases in the Western culture.

#### 4.4 Synergism

A potential strategy when considering the development of functional foods may be to combine different polyphenols in an attempt to produce synergistic effects compared to the isolated compounds. The literature is promising for the *in vitro* effects of polyphenol synergism on various disease parameters including risk factors of chronic inflammation and cancer, yet there are no well-designed human studies to date. For example,

the polyphenol compounds quercetin and resveratrol were found to reduce the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) gene and the production of NO in combination, and therefore may prove beneficial for reducing chronic inflammation (Man-Ying Chan *et al.*, 2000). Quercetin combined with catechin produced a significant inhibition of collagen induced hydrogen peroxide production, which did not occur with either polyphenol alone (Pignatelli *et al.*, 2000). Resveratrol and black tea polyphenols and also kaempferol and quercetin significantly suppressed tumour growth in synergism compared to any of the compounds in isolation (Ackland *et al.*, 2005). Also, Bastianetto *et al.* (2009) found that in combination, the polyphenols in red wine including resveratrol, quercetin and catechin reduced reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels. Therefore, although these studies are promising, polyphenol synergism in relation to health needs to be determined in human studies before more conclusive results can be drawn.

#### 4.5 The role of polyphenols in inflammation

Polyphenol rich sources have shown promise in the prevention and treatment of some of the most common disease states throughout the developed world, including pathological inflammation and cardiovascular disease (CVD). Chronic inflammation plays a significant role in a number of disease pathologies, and involves the excessive release of ROS and pro inflammatory cytokines which can cause damage to host tissues (Medzhitov, 2008). Epidemiological evidence suggests that foods rich in polyphenols such as fruit, olive oil and nuts can reduce various markers of chronic inflammation (Salas-Salvadó *et al.*, 2008). Individual polyphenols may also reduce risk as found in the Nurse's Health Study in which total flavonoids were associated with a reduction in inflammatory markers, with the flavonoids found in citrus fruit specifically associated with a reduction in interleukin (IL)-8 (Landberg *et al.*, 2011). Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination (Chun *et al.*, 2008). Of the individual flavonoids, flavonoids, anthocyanidins and isoflavones were inversely associated with CRP, and specifically quercetin, kaempferol, malvidin, peondidin, daidzein and genistein. Most studies determining the role of polyphenols for reducing inflammatory markers have been performed *in vitro*, with few randomised controlled trials to date. Of the human trials performed, resveratrol (Ghanim *et al.*, 2005; Ryu *et al.*, 2008) were less effective in reducing chronic inflammation and cocoa consumption showed conflicting results (Mathur *et al.*, 2002; Monagas *et al.*, 2008)

2009). Therefore more well-designed studies are needed to confirm the optimal foods, compounds and doses for reducing various markers of pathological inflammation.

#### 4.6 Polyphenol consumption and risk of CVD

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease consisting of pathological lesions which can lead to complications such as myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death (Vita, 2005). Polyphenols may help to prevent the accumulation of atherosclerotic plaques and thus reduce CVD risk, for example by improving endothelial dysfunction, reducing blood pressure (BP) (López-Sepúlveda *et al.*, 2008) and improving plasma lipids (Annuzzi *et al.*, 2014). In the recent Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease with a Mediterranean Diet (PREDIMED) observational study with a duration of 4.3 years and consisting of 7172 participants, a 46% reduction in CVD risk was observed in the highest versus the lowest quartile of polyphenol intake, with flavanols, lignans and hydroxybenzoic acids having the strongest inverse relationship to risk (Tresserra-Rimbau *et al.*, 2014). This was also supported in previous work by McCullough *et al.* (2012) in which total flavonoids, anthocyanidins, flavanols, flavonols, and proanthocyanidins were inversely associated with fatal CVD events.

Of the whole foods and beverages studied, moderate alcohol consumption has been shown to offer benefits in both those with CVD and also in healthy subjects, with the strongest association found for beverages rich in polyphenols such as wine and beer (Chiva-Blanch *et al.*, 2013). A more recent review by Estruch & Lamuela-Raventos (2014) highlighted this benefit, and further concluded that moderate wine consumption protects against the development and progression of atherosclerosis due to both its ethanol and polyphenol content. Chocolate consumption has been shown to reduce BP, myocardial infarct and risk of stroke (Buijsse *et al.*, 2010), and to increase flow mediated dilation (FMD) and reduced systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) (Hooper *et al.*, 2008). In a study by Hooper *et al.* (2008) soy protein isolates were also found to reduce DBP, soy and green tea were found to reduce low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and acute black tea consumption actually increased overall BP. Epidemiological studies on soy and CVD risk are limited, however a review by Zhang *et al.* (2003) found a strong inverse association between soy food intake and risk of coronary heart disease, and this association was strongest for myocardial infarct. Although black tea has was found to have no benefits for reducing CVD risk factors, green tea and its polyphenols have shown an inverse association with CVD (Wang *et al.*, 2011).

#### 4.7 Green tea catechins, energy expenditure and weight maintenance

Research determining the effect of certain polyphenols in relation to weight maintenance is promising (Galleano *et al.*, 2012; Gonzalez-Castejon & Rodriguez-Casado, 2011), with a majority of studies assessing the effect of green tea and its polyphenols. A meta-analysis of 11 studies found that the polyphenols from green tea were beneficial for weight loss (Hursel *et al.*, 2009) and specifically the green tea catechins were thought to play a significant role in weight reduction (Rains *et al.*, 2011). Polyphenols may play a role in weight maintenance by altering the metabolic rate and promoting fat oxidation, and therefore by increasing the amount of energy expended postprandial. Diet induced thermogenesis (DIT) is the increase in metabolic rate after the ingestion of food (Rothwell & Stock, 1983), and results in 5 to 15 % of daily energy expenditure (EE) when on a mixed diet (Westerterp, 2004). Intervention studies have shown beneficial effects of green tea and its polyphenols for increasing fat oxidation (Boschmann & Thielecke, 2007; Murase *et al.*, 2002), EE (Auvichayapat *et al.*, 2007) and especially DIT (Harada *et al.*, 2005).

Catechins specifically have been shown to increase metabolic rate. Harada and others (2005) found that in healthy males who consumed a drink containing 592.9mg catechins, fat oxidation and DIT were significantly enhanced after 12 weeks. Brown adipose tissue has a high metabolic rate and although it is found in low amounts in human adults, stimulating this tissue may significantly increase EE (Trayhurn & Milner, 1989). Green tea has been shown to increase the respiration rate of brown adipose tissue *in vitro* (Dulloo *et al.*, 2000) and may enhance  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor activation and thus metabolic rate in this tissue in humans (Choo, 2003). However results on green tea need to be interpreted with caution due to the thermogenic effect of caffeine in the tea (Dulloo *et al.*, 2000; Hursel *et al.*, 2011; Rumpler *et al.*, 2001). A recent meta-analysis investigated the effect of catechin rich teas and also caffeine on EE and fat oxidation (Hursel *et al.*, 2011). It was concluded that although both the catechin-caffeine mixtures. Another study by Dulloo *et al.* (2000) discovered that brown adipose tissue thermogenesis was stimulated by the green tea catechin-polyphenols and caffeine interaction and the thermogenic effect of green tea was greater than could be explained by the caffeine content alone. Therefore, these studies highlight the potential of polyphenols and caffeine to act synergistically as agents for increasing metabolic rate.

Other polyphenols have been shown to affect EE, yet studies are limited. A recent study found that the combination of EGCG and resveratrol increased both EE and DIT (Most *et al.*, 2014). In mouse models, quercetin was found to increase EE over a three week period (Stewart *et al.*, 2008), and in mice fed a high fat diet, supplementation with the coffee polyphenols caffeoyl quinic acids (CQA) increased EE as measured by indirect calorimetry (Murase *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, green tea and possibly other polyphenol compounds may increase EE and DIT partially mediated through brown adipose tissue, proving beneficial for obesity and its related disorders such as inflammation, CVD and type 2 diabetes.

#### 5. Diabetes, glycaemia and polyphenols

#### 5.1 Diabetes: background and characteristics

Last year the World Health Organisation (WHO) reported a total of 347 million people worldwide to have diabetes (WHO, 2013). In the UK there are an estimated 3.2 million cases of diagnosed diabetes and potentially 630,000 people who are currently undiagnosed (Diabetes UK, 2014). The disease is associated with an abnormal glucose metabolism in which glucose cannot enter the cells and therefore concentrations in the blood can reach pathological levels. There are two main forms of diabetes, type 1 and type 2 and the main characteristics of each disease are given in Table 5.1.

	Type 1 diabetes	Type 2 diabetes
Prevalence (% of cases)	10%	85-95 %
Onset	Acute and potentially fatal	Chronic, often undiagnosed for long periods of time
Age of onset	<40 yr, but can occur at any age	Predominantly 30+ yr, but can occur at any age
Symptoms	Excessive thirst, passing urine frequently, weight loss, fatigue, blurred vision and ketoacidosis	Excessive thirst, slow healing wounds, passing urine frequently, weight loss, fatigue, reoccurring thrush and blurred vision
Pathology	Destruction of pancreatic β- cells causing a lack of insulin production	Not enough insulin produced or insulin cannot function properly
Cause	Unknown, may be due to genetics, infection and/ or environmental factors	Genetics factor, increased risk caused by unhealthy lifestyle factors such as diet
Treatment	Daily insulin injections	Can be controlled through diet, yet may require medication and/ or insulin injections
Optimal blood glucose range	4-7 mmol/L pre meal <9 mmol/L post meal <10 mmol/L post meal for children	4-7 mmol/L pre meal <8.5 mmol/L post meal

Table 5.1 Common characteristics of type 1 and type 2 diabetes

Diabetes UK, 2014; yr, year.

Strict blood glucose control is important to prevent the further complications associated with diabetes, such as neuropathy, retinopathy and nephropathy (NICE, 2014). Disturbance in glucose metabolism can also increase one's risk of other chronic disease states such as insulin resistance, abnormal plasma lipid levels, hypertension and other risk factors of CVD. Diet plays a large role in the prevention of type 2 diabetes and the treatment of both type 1 and 2 diabetes and research has suggested the particular role of low GI foods for improving glycaemic control.

### 5.2 The glycaemic index

The concept of the GI of foods for managing type 1 diabetes and dyslipidaemia was brought about by Jenkins and others in 1981. The GI of a food is calculated by dividing the postprandial blood glucose area under the curve (AUC) of 50g of available carbohydrate (avCHO) from a test food by 50g of avCHO from a reference food (either white bread or glucose). The AUC is determined two to three hours postprandial and the resulting value is expressed as a percentage, with high GI foods thought to negatively exacerbate postprandial glycaemia (Pi-Sunyer, 2002). Routine GI tests are conducted in healthy subjects in the morning after a 10 - 12 hour overnight fast (FAO/ WHO, 1998).

Several factors can influence the GI of a food, including the ripeness, physical form, type and preparation of the food. For example, the GI of fruits will vary depending on whether they are consumed whole, as a purée or as a juice (Radulian *et al.*, 2009). The amylose to amylopectin ratio of the food may also affect GI, with the higher the amount of amylopectin the higher the resulting GI. Starch granules must be disrupted to allow for digestion and absorption of sugars and therefore processes such as cooking, grinding and the degree of chewing will alter the GI (Williamson, 2013). Foods are generally consumed as a meal instead of in isolation and the GI of mixed meals will depend on the amount of avCHO consumed (Salmeron *et al.*, 1997). Foods such as watermelon which have a high GI value produce a low GL due to the low quantity consumed and the high water content of the fruit.

Published GI values may differ between studies as glucose was the initial reference food whereas now white bread is predominantly used (Jenkins *et al.*, 1988). The calculation of the AUC usually includes only the area above the curve (FAO/ WHO, 1998) which results in another conflict as some researchers do measure the entire glucose response, and therefore the GI may be higher when the area beneath baseline is included (Gannon & Nuttall, 1987). Also, the glucose from some foods such as those rich in dietary fibre and/ or low GI foods may take longer

than four hours to clear the blood stream and the entire glycaemic effect may not be accounted for (Brennan *et al.*, 2012). Although GI studies are designed to limit the amount of confounding factors, such as reducing physical activity, and caffeine and alcohol intake on the night before a test, several factors can still affect the postprandial GR to a test food. For example, it has been proposed that the foods in the hours and days prior to testing may significantly affect the 'next meal' blood glucose values (Robertson *et al.*, 2003); however other studies show no effect of a pre evening meal on next day glycaemia (Ning *et al.*, 2010).

#### 5.3 Low GI diets and health

Although the postprandial response to food in healthy people may be highly efficient, this is not the case in various disease states and consuming food with a low GI may positively influence blood glucose levels and also other metabolic abnormalities. Glycosylated HbA1<sub>c</sub> is a precise marker of diabetes control and represents the average blood glucose concentration of plasma over the previous two to three months (Diabetes UK, 2014). In a recent Cochrane review assessing the effect of GI on risk factors of diabetes, hypo and hyperglycaemic episodes were fewer in the low versus high GI diet, with HbA1<sub>c</sub> also reduced in the low GI group (Thomas & Elliot, 2009). Low GI and low GL diets may also be beneficial for other associated disease risk factors, for example those following a low GI diet were found to lose significantly more weight, have a lower body mass and total fat mass and have fewer lipid abnormalities than those on control diets (Thomas *et al.*, 2007). A cross sectional study combining results from the Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Disease (CoDAM) Study and the Hoorn Study found an inverse association between GI and insulin sensitivity, and a positive association with a pathological lipid profile and chronic inflammation (Huaidong *et al.*, 2008).

Hyperglycaemia increases the production of ROS which can activate inflammatory cytokines, leading to an increase in inflammatory cell recruitment (Dickinson *et al.*, 2008). It was concluded from the Nurses' Health Study that the inflammatory marker CRP was positively associated with GI and GL, the relationship being stronger in overweight women (Bhupathiraju *et al.*, 2014). Obesity, diabetes and inflammation are linked largely by an increase in the release of these cytokines from adipocytes, which also have the potential to further affect glucose metabolism. For example, inflammatory mediators such as tumour neurosis factor (TNF) -  $\alpha$  can increase tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor in adipose and muscle tissue, reducing glucose uptake into the muscle and cause resulting insulin resistance (Hotamisligil, 1999).

Therefore, high GI diets can influence blood glucose levels directly or indirectly through increasing the inflammatory response and increased inflammatory recruitment can potentially further worsen glycaemic control.

Diets rich in low GI carbohydrates may also improve plasma lipids as an attenuated, prolonged absorption of glucose into the blood can result in a reduction in plasma free fatty acids, and in time this can lead to an accelerated uptake of glucose into the cells (Dresner *et al.*, 1999). A systematic review and meta-analysis on GI and markers of CVD found that the evidence from short term studies supported a low GI diet for reducing total and LDL cholesterol while having no effect on high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol (Goff *et al.*, 2013).

After the consumption of a high GI carbohydrate, the increase of glucose in the blood is followed by an exaggerated release of insulin, and resulting hypoglycaemia in the hours postprandial. The Glucostatic Theory proposed by Mayer in 1953 states that the frequent consumption of high GI foods can result in an increase in hunger due to these drastic changes in blood glucose and insulin levels. However, although short term studies support this hypothesis, more long term studies are need to confirm an association between glycaemia and satiety (Niwano *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, high GI foods may not only increase one's risk of developing diabetes by causing abnormal glucose and insulin levels, yet may also contribute to obesity by increasing the feelings of hunger (Arumugam *et al.*, 2008).

#### 5.4 Diabetes and polyphenols: the evidence

To date, the most extensively studied polyphenols and polyphenol rich foods in the prevention of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome have been tea, both black and green for its high tannin and EGCG content, coffee for its phenolic acids, grapes and grape products such as wine for resveratrol and apples for their abundance of flavonoids (Williamson, 2013). Various herbs, berries, soy, vegetables and whole grain products have been recognised for their benefits for blood glucose control in humans. The assessment of dietary patterns in the development of type 2 diabetes has been reviewed. Huxley *et al.* (2009) found an inverse linear association between coffee, decaffeinated coffee and tea intake and risk of type 2 diabetes, while Carter *et al.* (2010) found green leafy vegetable consumption, but not fruit or vegetables, to be associated with a 14% reduction in risk of type 2 diabetes.

Overall flavonoid intake has been shown to reduce the incidence of type 2 diabetes, with the strongest association found for flavonols and to a lesser extent flavanols (Jacques *et al.*, 2013). Other epidemiological studies have looked at the effects of whole foods on diabetes risk factors,

particularly apples and black tea consumption has been linked to a lower incidence of type 2 diabetes (Song *et al.*, 2005). The consumption of one plus apple a day resulted in a 28% reduction in diabetes compared to those consuming no apples, and four plus cups of black tea a day was also associated with a reduced risk. Vegetables are abundant in micronutrients, fibre and also polyphenols. In the Japanese Elderly Diabetes Intervention Trial, vegetable intake was compared against metabolic parameters in males with type 2 diabetes (Takahashi *et al.*, 2012). It was found that HbA1<sub>c</sub>, triglycerides and waist circumference had an inverse association with vegetable consumption, specifically green vegetables were shown to have the most pronounced effect in reducing HbA1<sub>c</sub>.

#### 5.5 Summary of the evidence from animal and human studies

Studies in animals have shown the potential of polyphenol rich sources for reducing pathological markers of glycaemia, with results being strong for isolated polyphenols such as catechins from green tea (Sabu *et al*, 2002; Wu *et al*., 2004), resveratrol (Ramadori *et al*., 2008), quercetin (Kim *et al*., 2011), isoflavones (Zimmermann *et al*., 2012), anthocyanins (Seymour *et al*., 2011) and proanthocyanidins (Young *et al*., 2008). Randomised controlled trials in humans further support these animal studies, with the majority measuring longer term effects of polyphenol consumption on markers of glycaemia over a period of weeks and months.

Polyphenol rich sources such as cinnamon (Crawford, 2009; Lu *et al.*, 2012), resveratrol (Bhatt *et al.*, 2012) and green tea (Hsu *et al.*, 2011) have been shown to improve HbA1<sub>c</sub> in diabetic subjects, and therefore can improve glycaemic control over months. The reduction in fasting blood glucose is also important for improving diabetes control, as a high fasting level can result in an exaggerated postprandial response. Green tea extract has been shown to reduce fasting plasma glucose in both obese (Bogdanski *et al.*, 2012) and healthy subjects (Huang *et al.*, 2013), and black tea (Bahorun *et al.*, 2012), genistein (Squadrito *et al.*, 2013), quercetin (Lee *et al.*, 2011) and low amounts of soy isoflavones (Bahls *et al.*, 2011) have also been shown to reduce fasting glucose levels in long term intervention trials. Chocolate polyphenols may have a saturation effect in reducing fasting plasma glucose as 1000mg polyphenols in healthy overweight and obese subjects. At similar doses, the flavanols in dark chocolate have also been shown to increase insulin sensitivity in healthy lean subjects (Grassi *et al.*, 2005), and to reduce insulin resistance in women with type 2 diabetes when combined with 100mg of isoflavones (Curtis *et al.*, 2012). Moderate red wine consumption
(approximately one glass a day) can reduce insulin resistance when controlling for the alcohol component, thus highlighting the beneficial effects of the wine polyphenols (Chiva-Blanch *et al.*, 2013), specifically resveratrol (Brasnyó *et al.*, 2011).

There is considerable variability and heterogeneity between different study designs, including the health status of the subjects, the form and dose of the polyphenol source, the combination with other nutrients and the length of the study, to name a few. The consumption of various fruits in relation to glycaemia is another area with extensive research, however trials are conflicting. For example, two studies found no difference in HbA1<sub>c</sub> (Christensen *et al.*, 2013) or insulin resistance (Wallace *et al.*, 2013) in those consuming little or no fruit compared to those with a higher intake. However, an improvement in overall glycaemic control was found in subjects with type 2 diabetes who were instructed to consume two pieces of fruit a day for three months (Hegde *et al.*, 2013). Although some studies show no effect of fruit on markers of glycaemia, the sugar content of fruit should be considered due to the adverse effects that may result from the addition of sugar rich fruit to the diet (Rock *et al.*, 2009).

Research has also been considering the role of polyphenols for improving postprandial glycaemia although again, results are conflicting. Wine and its components and various types of berries have been shown to reduce post-meal metabolic abnormalities including hyperglycaemia (Burton-Freeman, 2010). For example, 300mg of polyphenol rich grape seed extract was found to reduce postprandial GR in overweight people (Edirisinghe *et al.*, 2012), and 40g of sweetened dried cranberries low in sugar reduced the GR in subjects with type 2 diabetes (Wilson *et al.*, 2010). In healthy adults, although the consumption of an oatmeal drink with added bilberry showed no effect on postprandial GR, it was found to reduce the insulin demand for a given GR and therefore reduce acute IR (Granfeldt & Björck, 2011).

### 5.6 Carbohydrate digestion and absorption

Starch is a polysaccharide containing glucose molecules linked by  $\alpha$ -1,4 and branched  $\alpha$ -1,6 glycosidic bonds (Guzman-Maldonado & Paredes-Lopez, 1995). These chains are made up of either amylose or amylopectin, with amylopectin constituting most of the branched structure and different starch sources will contain different ratios of these molecules. Sucrose and lactose are the main disaccharides in the diet and are broken down into the monosaccharides glucose, and fructose and galactose, respectively (Williamson, 2013). The main enzyme for carbohydrate digestion is  $\alpha$ -amylase which can only act on  $\alpha$ -1,4 linkages and is secreted both by the salivary glands and by the pancreas (Woolnough *et al.*, 2008).  $\alpha$ -Glucosidase enzymes are found in the intestinal border and are able to complete the digestion of starch chains by hydrolysing the

terminal  $\alpha$ -1,4 glucose linkages to release free glucose. Maltase is also found in the intestine and can hydrolyse maltose into individual glucose molecules. Lactose is found in milk products and is digested by lactase, with only a small amount of lactase still active when people reach adulthood (Williamson, 2013). Polyphenols that are linked to sugars by glycosidic bonds can be broken down in the intestine by enzymes such as lactase and therefore most polyphenols contain a structural group that allows them to bind to glucose and the resulting glucose receptors (Day *et al.*, 2000b).

Glucose is hydrophilic and thus cannot cross the intestinal membrane unaided. Glucose transport is mediated by both sodium dependent and sodium independent transport (Scheepers *et al.*, 2004). Active transport takes place via sodium dependent glucose transporter 1 (SGLT1) in which two sodium ions bind to the transporter on the luminal side of the small intestine, initiating a conformation change to the transporter to allow glucose to bind. Another transformation then takes place permitting the sodium ion and glucose into the enterocyte. In the basolateral membrane, the facilitative transporter glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2) then causes a release of the glucose into the circulation. Glucose can also be absorbed through independent mechanisms by facilitated diffusion.

## 5.7 Abnormal glucose metabolism, insulin resistance and the molecular role of polyphenols

As glucose is taken up by GLUT2, a series of enzymatic reaction begin which result in an increase of the energy compound ATP (Hosokowa & Thorens, 2002). ATP-sensitive potassium channels are inactivated leading to depolarisation, and calcium flows into the cell through calcium channels allowing insulin to be released through exocytosis. Glucose transporters can be regulated at the transcriptional level and/ or by intracellular signalling (Williamson, 2013). In diabetes, the glucose transporters in the intestine become up regulated, as do certain enzymes such as lactase and sucrase resulting in an increase in glucose absorption.

The increase in postprandial plasma glucose causes a resulting increase in insulin secretion, which in turn binds to cells producing a series of signalling cascades that lead to glucose uptake. After the binding of insulin, phosphorylation of a tyrosine residue on insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS1) activates phosphoinositide 3- (P13)-kinase, which in turn activates atypical protein kinase C (aPKC). The translocation of the GLUT4 vesicle from inside the cell is then relocated in the membrane, where glucose can enter into the cell (Williamson, 2013). In skeletal muscle, glucose is either stored as glycogen or is oxidized to produce energy (Huang & Czech, 2007). Insulin resistance is linked to an increase in the

phosphorylation of a serine residue which inhibits phosphorylation of the tyrosine on IRS1. There is a reduction in the downhill signal events resulting in a reduction of GLUT4 in the cell membrane and therefore an increase of glucose in the blood to abnormally high levels.

Chronic hyperglycaemia can lead to the destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells and therefore to the development of insulin resistance (Augustin *et al.*, 2002). As the pancreas overcompensates by producing more insulin,  $\beta$ -cells can lose efficiency leading to their malfunction. Insulin secretion by the pancreas is a potential target for flavonoids as these compounds have been shown to increase the efficiency of the insulin secretion pathways in those with insulin resistance (Birnbaum, 2001). There are various fates for those polyphenols that are absorbed in the intestine and enter the circulation. Such roles can include activating insulin receptors and facilitating glucose uptake into tissues (Hanhineva *et al.*, 2010; Martineau *et al.*, 2006), modulation of intracellular insulin signalling pathways (Cordero-Herrera *et al.*, 2013), an increase in insulin secretion (Zhang & Liu, 2011) and promotion of glucose release from the liver (Hanhineva *et al.*, 2010). However, when polyphenols reach the intestine they have potential to interact with carbohydrates and with digestive enzymes and local transporters, and therefore they may influence the rate and degree of glucose absorption into the blood. More specifically, polyphenols may show potential for reducing the GI of a carbohydrate rich source. The widely produced diabetic drug acarbose inhibits the digestive enzyme  $\alpha$ -glucosidase but does not get absorbed into the body, and therefore works only at the intestinal level. Natural sources of glucosidase inhibitors such as polyphenols with actions similar to acarbose are currently being studied to act competitively with sugars to reduce carbohydrate absorption and to attenuate postprandial glycaemia (Scheen, 2003).

## 5.8 Polyphenols at the intestinal level

Polyphenol compounds can inhibit certain digestive enzymes either by binding to receptors on the enzymes and/ or by possibly denaturing these enzymes (Kuhnert *et al.*, 2011). Studies support the role of different polyphenols for inhibiting  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity and to a lesser extent  $\alpha$ -amylase *in vitro* (McDougall, 2005). For example, extracts rich in polyphenols such as *Ficus species* (Olaokun *et al.*, 2013), Ginkgo *biloba* (Tanaka *et al.*, 2004) and grape seed extract (Yilmazer-Musa *et al.*, 2012), have been found to inhibit the activity of both  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase. Certain berries such as blackcurrant and rowanberry (Boath *et al.*, 2012), and also anthocyanins (Matsui *et al.*, 2001) and isoflavones (Tadera *et al.*, 2006) may be more potent at inhibiting  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, whereas proanthocyanins (Hargrove *et al.*, 2011) and resveratrol (Maio *et al.*, 2013) have been shown to significantly inhibit  $\alpha$ -amylase activity. Catechins from tea have been found to inhibit porcine pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase

activity *in vitro*, epicatechin-gallate (ECG) and EGCG being the most potent inhibitors from the tea (Cheng *et al.*, 2013). Yilmazer-Musa *et al.* (2012) found that tea catechins showed greater inhibitory potential for  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, and therefore different tea catechins and other polyphenols may inhibit digestive enzymes to varying degrees. Certain classes of polyphenols including flavonols and flavones influence digestive enzyme activity (Kim *et al.*, 2000; Tadera *et al.*, 2006) and can also reduce the transport of glucose into the blood (Kwon *et al.*, 2007).

Polyphenols can also influence postprandial glycaemia at the intestinal level by binding to glucose receptors and inhibiting glucose transport into the body via SGLT1 and GLUT2. Galloylated catechins such as ECG and EGCG can inhibit SGLT1 transport activity, and can reduce glucose absorption under sodium dependent and to a lesser extent sodium free conditions (Kobayashi *et al.*, 2000; Johnston *et al.*, 2005). Phenolic acids and tannins found in the fruits strawberries and apples have been shown to reduce activity of GLUT2 and to a lesser extent SLGT1 (Manzano & Williamson, 2010), and anthocyanin rich berry extract (Alzaid *et al.*, 2013) and a mixture of herbs and spices containing cafferic acid and *p*-coumaric acid (Farrell *et al.*, 2013) have also been shown to inhibit both GLUT2 and SGLT1 activity.

Finally, certain polyphenols may also act to reduce glucose absorption by binding to starch chains therefore reducing carbohydrate breakdown (Beta *et al.*, 2001; De Castro Palomino Siller, 2007). High molecular weight proanthocyanidins specifically can interact with amylose, thereby reducing starch digestibility and increasing resistant starch, with polymeric and oligomeric molecules thought to be better than monomeric (Barros *et al.*, 2012).

#### 5.9 Conclusion

Therefore in summary, the literature shows a strong correlation between polyphenol consumption in overweight and/ or disease populations and a reduction in risk factors of diabetes. However, the effect on healthy people is not as convincing. Polyphenols have shown potential for reducing acute GR and have shown great promise *in vitro* for reducing starch digestibility and glucose absorption into the blood after a carbohydrate rich source. To date there are no systematic reviews assessing the effect of different polyphenol rich sources on carbohydrate digestion and resulting glycaemic parameters, in healthy adults.

#### 6. The impact of polyphenols on acute postprandial glycaemia: a systematic review

#### 6.1 Introduction

From 1996 to 2013, the number of people diagnosed with diabetes in the UK has increased from 1.4 million to 2.9 million (Diabetes UK, 2013). This rate is predicted to continue to increase and by 2025 it is estimated that five million people will have diabetes. Most chronic disease associated with obesity and type 2 diabetes is treatable and, more importantly, preventable by maintaining a healthy lifestyle of which nutrition plays a key role. A healthy diet which is low in saturated fat and sugar yet rich in fruits, vegetables and dietary fibre, has frequently been shown beneficial in type 2 diabetes (Diabetes UK, 2013). Certain food compounds and food combinations are being reviewed with the intention to manage diseases associated with poor diet quality and overeating. For example, foods that can reduce blood glucose levels and/ or improve overall metabolic parameters are attractive for improving glycaemic control.

Polyphenol rich foods are thought to carry various health promoting properties including their effects on glycaemic regulation. To date, few systematic reviews have examined the effect of polyphenol rich sources and type 2 diabetes risk (Bhatti *et al.*, 2013; Shojaii *et al.*, 2011) and those that have been completed show conflicting results. For example, herb and herbal products are rich in polyphenols and have been extensively studied for their effects on blood glucose levels (Shojaii *et al.*, 2011). In a review of 38 randomised controlled trials investigating the effect of herbs on various parameters of glycaemic control, 26 of the herbs produced benefits for glycaemia, yet the evidence was inconclusive as to what components of the herbs were the contributing factors. Another review by Bhatti *et al.* (2013) found that tea, especially green tea was associated with a reduced risk of stroke and diabetes, with improved levels of blood glucose, abdominal obesity, cholesterol and blood pressure. Coffee intake showed an inverse dose-dependent association with diabetes, and also with CVD deaths and all-cause mortality.

Epidemiological studies are also conflicting as to whether polyphenol rich foods are associated with a reduced risk of type 2 diabetes (Mursu *et al.*, 2014; Nanri *et al.*, 2010). In a study by Mursu *et al.* (2014), 2,332 non-diabetic men between the ages of 42 - 60 years were followed for 19.3 years. Fruit, berry and vegetable intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes were assessed at follow-up, and fruit and vegetables, especially berries were found to reduce the risk of developing type 2 diabetes. In another study in 25,872 and 33,919 Japanese men and women, respectively, aged between 45 - 75 years and without diabetes, soy and isoflavone intake was determined (Nanri *et al.*, 2010). Although soy

products and isoflavones were not significantly associated with type 2 diabetes in men and women of normal weight, in overweight women a higher soy intake was associated with a lower risk of developing the disease.

Randomised controlled trials performed over weeks and months have shown beneficial effects of polyphenols in reducing fasting blood glucose and for longer term markers of hyperglycaemia such as HbA1<sub>c</sub> (El-Sayed, 2011; Jayesh-Kumar *et al.*, 2012; Squadrito *et al.*, 2013). However, the immediate effect of polyphenol sources on postprandial glycaemia and insulinaemia is also of interest. Recent trials looking at postprandial GR have shown promise for polyphenols in reducing blood glucose levels when consumed with a carbohydrate source, such as foods high in starch (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2010; Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013) and/ or sucrose (Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Gruendel *et al.*, 2007; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b). Polyphenols may alter the postprandial GR in numerous ways, for example by increasing the overall glycaemic profile (GP). The GP was a term proposed by Rosen *et al.* (2009) with a high value representing a facilitated postprandial GR with a lower peak and a reduction in late stage hypoglycaemia. Therefore, any food or beverage that can prolong carbohydrate digestion thus reducing the rate of glucose absorption into the blood will have a high GP and a favorable effect on glycaemic parameters.

The mechanisms behind blood glucose and insulin reduction have been more extensively studied by *in vitro* methods. The molecular structure of specific polyphenols allows them to interfere with starch digestion at the intestinal level and therefore they can reduce and/ or prolong glucose absorption into the blood (Chai *et al.*, 2013). Polyphenols have been shown to inhibit digestive enzymes thus preventing enzyme attack on starch and sucrose chains, reducing the amount of free glucose released (Kwon *et al.*, 2008; Sapwarobol *et al.*, 2012). Polyphenols can also reduce glucose transport into the blood via the inhibition of specific glucose transporters in the intestinal lumen (Alzaid *et al.*, 2013).

However, there are issues when considering the combination of polyphenol and carbohydrate rich foods in an aim to reduce markers of postprandial glycaemia. For example, the optimal doses required to produce significant health benefits, the easy degradation of polyphenol compounds by such factors as light and heat, and the adverse effects of high polyphenol consumption, are all factors that need to be considered (Landete, 2012; Skibola & Smith, 2000). Polyphenols can be consumed alongside other foods or can be used as a functional ingredient by being added into foods, and therefore the form in which polyphenols are ingested may have different effects on glycaemia (Forester *et al.*, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2011). Also, the effect of polyphenols on carbohydrate digestion may be influenced by factors such as the disease status of the person and/ or other metabolic parameters.

Considering the results from the variety of studies which have been performed to date, elucidation of the role of polyphenols in carbohydrate digestion is necessary in order to develop food products and/ or meal combinations for improving the GP in both healthy subjects and for people with type 2 diabetes. The aim of this systematic review was to assess studies which determined the acute, postprandial GR and IR after the consumption of a polyphenol rich source in combination with carbohydrate.

### 6.2 Methods

#### 6.2.1 Data extraction

The databases Medline, CINHAL and Web of Knowledge were searched for studies in English language between 1970 and 2014 comprising of all human participants. A combination of MeSH search terms were used (flavan\* or flavon\* or isoflav\* or EGCG or catechin or epicatechin or anthocyani\* or cyanidin or procyani\* or tannin or polypheno\* or berry or fruit or resveratrol or stilbene or extract or phytochemical AND blood glucose or diabet\* or glyc?mic response or glyc?mic index or insulin or glyc?mia or glucose tolerance or insulin sensitivity AND starch or sucrose or sugar or glucose or maltose or carbohydrate or amylose or starch digesti\* AND {Medline and Web of Science only} human or subject or volunteer or participant or adult).

#### 6.2.2 Inclusion of studies

Two independent investigators reviewed studies using a systematic hierarchy of exclusion criteria as shown in Figure 6.1. Papers were excluded based on titles if there was no mention of polyphenols or a potential polyphenol rich source, no mention of any type of metabolic outcomes (lipaemia, glycaemia etc.), cell, *in vitro* or animal mentioned in title, review or epidemiological study apparent from title or obvious from title that there was no starch or sugar source. A total of 873 abstracts were included for review. Of these, inclusion criteria of papers for further analysis were randomised controlled trials in all adult humans, an outcome of acute postprandial GR and/ or IR and abstracts with insufficient data. Papers were excluded if exercise was included as part of the intervention, there was no control group, the polyphenol source was debatable or not confirmed, there was >30 min between polyphenol intake and carbohydrate intake, GI studies, whole meals were used instead of a plain carbohydrate source, fasting blood glucose or long term measures of glycaemia/ insulinaemia and abstracts with insufficient data if no full paper

was available. Sixty eight full papers were put forward for further review based on the same guidelines for exclusion of abstracts. Further exclusion criteria when reviewing full papers included no starch source or not an appropriate starch source and no mention or quantifying of polyphenols in paper (methods; unless foods or beverages well known to be rich in polyphenols). A total of 13 papers fit all criteria for the review and extracted data are shown in Table 6.1.





 Table 6.1 Characteristics of 13 studies included for review

Reference	Subject characteristics	Intervention	Control	Polyphenol source and dose
Balisteiro <i>et al.</i> 2013	23 healthy adults (17 female) 29±6 y, 23.7±2.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	White bread (25g avCHO) and 300mL clarified aracá juice	White bread (25g avCHO) and 300mL water	Aracá juice containing 1.48g proanthocyanidins TQE and 546mg total phenolics CE/ 300mL juice
Bryans et al. 2007	16 healthy adults (12 female) 35.5±1.5 y, 23.8±.7 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	1g instant black tea w/ 75g glucose in 250mL water	75g glucose w/ .052g caffeine in 250mL water (+ con)	Black tea containing 39 mg/g flavanol-3- ol, 21 mg/g theaflavins and 350 mg/g total polyphenols
Clegg et al. 2011	12 healthy adults (9 female) 33±13 y	Pancakes w/ 100g raspberries (50g in/ 50g additional) and 200mLwater	75g glucose in 250mL water (con) Pancakes w/ 2.65g glucose/ 2.88g fructose and 200mL water	100g raspberries or blueberries
Coe <i>et al.</i> 2013	9 healthy adult females 25.3±4.8 y, 22.3±2.6 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Pancakes w/ 100g blueberries (50/ 50g) and 200mL water 18.5g baobab fruit extract in 250mL water and 123g white bread	Pancakes w/ 4.88g glucose/ 4.95g fructose and 200 mL water 132g white bread and 250mL water	Baobab fruit extract containing 28.85±.47mg GAE/g total polyphenols
Gruendel et al. 2007	20 healthy adults (12 female) 29.4±2.6 y, 23±.5 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	37g baobab fruit in 250mL water and 144g white bread 5, 10 or 20 g carob fibre w/ 50g glucose in 200mL water	50g glucose in 200mL water	Carob containing 2.8g/100g total polyphenols including gallic acid,
Johnston et al. 2002	9 healthy adults (5 female) 24±3.2 y	Clear apple juice 400mL (total of 25g glucose/ 30.7g fructose)	Total of 25g glucose/ 30.7g fructose in 400mL water	gallotannins and flavonol glycosides Clear apple juice w/ phloridzin 5.7- 11.9µg/mL and chlorogenic acid 35.1- 68.6µg/mL
		Cloudy apple juice 400mL (total of 25g glucose/ 30.7g fructose)		Cloudy apple juice with phloridzin 4.1- 27.3µg/mL and chlorogenic acid 79.1- 255.6µg/mL
				Low amounts of phloretin xyloglucoside and catechin
Johnston <i>et al</i> . 2003	9 healthy adults (5 female) 26±3.2 y	400 mL caffeinated coffee w/ 25g glucose	25g glucose in 400mL water	Cottee containing 2.5mmol/L cholorogenic acid
		400 mL decaffeinated coffee w/ 25g glucose		

Reference	Results	Evidence direction	Quality score	Level of significance	Outcomes
Balisteiro et al. 2013	Aracà juice reduced maximum GR and total GR-AUC vs con	+	+	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR
Bryans et al. 2007	<ol> <li>Tea reduced 120min GR vs con and caffeine</li> <li>Tea increased 90min IR vs con and caffeine</li> <li>Tea increased 150min IR vs caffeine</li> <li>Tea reduced 30<sup>a</sup> and 120min<sup>b</sup> IR vs caffeine</li> </ol>	+	+	1. p<0.01 2. p<0.01 3. p<0.05 4. p<0.01 <sup>a</sup> , p<0.05 <sup>b</sup>	GR and IR
Clegg et al. 2011	No difference	-	ø	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR
Coe <i>et al</i> . 2013	37g baobab fruit reduced 60 and 120min GR-AUC vs con 18.5g baobab fruit reduced 120 and 180min GR-AUC vs con	+	+	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR
Gruendel et al. 2007	5 and 10g carob increased total GR vs con	-	Ø	<i>p</i> <0.001	GR and IR
	5 and 10g carob increased total IR vs con				
Johnston et al. 2002	<ol> <li>Clear apple juice reduced 15<sup>a</sup> and 30min<sup>b</sup> GR vs con</li> <li>Cloudy apple juice reduced 15min GR vs con</li> <li>Cloudy apple juice increased 45<sup>a</sup> and 60min<sup>b</sup> GR vs con</li> <li>Clear<sup>a</sup> and cloudy<sup>b</sup> juice reduced GR-AUC 0-30min vs con</li> <li>Cloudy reduced GR-AUC 30-90min vs con</li> <li>Clear and cloudy juice reduced IR-AUC 0-90min vs con</li> </ol>	+	+	1. $p < 0.0001^{a}$ , $p < 0.05^{b}$ 2. $p < 0.001$ 3. $p < 0.05^{a}$ , $p < 0.005^{b}$ 4. $p < 0.01^{a}$ , $p < 0.005^{b}$ 5. $p < 0.01$ 6. $p < 0.05$	GR and IR
Johnston et al. 2003	Caffeine coffee increased 0-30min GR-AUC vs non- caffeine and con	-	+	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR and IR
	Caffeine coffee increased 0-30min IR-AUC vs non- caffeine				

avCHO, available carbohydrate; TQE, tannin equivalents; CE, catechin equivalents; GAE, gallic acid equivalents; GR, glycaemic response; AUC, area under the curve; IR, insulin response; GP, glycaemic profile; con, control.

Reference	Subject characteristics	Intervention	Control	Polyphenol source and dose
Ochiai et al. 2014	14 healthy adult males, 36.2±7.8 y, 22.7±1.8 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ,	75g glucose w/ coffee polyphenols in 225mL water	75g glucose in 225mL water	Chlorogenic acid 600mg
Rosen <i>et al.</i> 2011	non-smokers 14 healthy adults (7 female) $23.6\pm.5$ y, $22\pm.5$ kg/m <sup>2</sup>	Whole grain rye breads (50g avCHO): <i>Amilo, Nikita, D. Zlote, H. Loire, Rekrut</i> and all w/ 250mL tap water	White wheat bread (50g avCHO) and 250mL water	Various
Törrönen et al. 2010	12 healthy adults (11 female) 54.2 ±15.1 y, 25.4±2.9 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	150g berry purée and sucrose 35g (natural sugar content 4.5g/p glucose and 5.1g/p fructose) in 120mL tap water	Sucrose 35g and 4.5g glucose/5.1g fructose in 250mL water	37.5g total blackcurrants, bilberries, cranberries and strawberries
Törrönen et al. 2012a	20 healthy adult females, 57±10 y, 24.6±2.4 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	1. 150g berry purée and sucrose 35g in 150mL water	Sucrose 35g in 300mL water	150g blackcurrants or lingonberries
		2. 150g fresh berry nectars and sucrose 35g in 300mL water		
Törrönen et al. 2012b	12 healthy adults (10 female) 58±11 y, 24.3±2.2 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	150g berry purée w/ sucrose 35g (natural sugar content 4.4g/p glucose and 4.7g/p fructose) in 120mL tap water	Sucrose 35g and 4.4g glucose/4.7g fructose in 250mL tap water	37.5g blackcurrants, bilberries, cranberries and strawberries
Törrönen et al. 2013	1. 15 healthy adult females, $48\pm14$ y, $24.4\pm2.7$ kg/m <sup>2</sup>	1. Wheat bread and 150g whole berry purée and 200mL water	1. Wheat bread and 50g cucumber and 300mL water	1. 150g strawberries, bilberries or lingonberries
	2. 13 healthy adult females, $50\pm12$ y, $24.2\pm3.2$ kg/m <sup>2</sup>	2. Wheat bread and 150g whole berry purée and 200 mL water	2. Wheat bread and 50g cucumber and 300mL water	2. 150g raspberries, cloudberries or chokeberries
	3. 20 healthy adult females, $57\pm12$ y, $24.2\pm2$ kg/m <sup>2</sup>	3. Wheat bread or rye bread and a mix of berries and water	3. Wheat or rye bread and 50g cucumber and 300mL water	3. 150g total strawberries, bilberries, cranberries and blackcurrants
		(all w/out crust; 50g avCHO)	(all w/out crust; 50g avCHO)	

Reference	Results	Evidence direction	Quality score	Level of significance	Outcomes
Ochiai et al. 2014	No difference	-	Ø	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR and IR
Rosen et al. 2011	Amilo reduced IR-AUC 0-60min vs con, D Zlote and Nikita	+	+	<i>p</i> <0.05	GR and IR
	Amilo and Rekrut reduced IR 60-120min vs con and H Loire				
	Rekrut reduced IR 120-180min vs H Loire				
	Amilo reduced peak IR vs all rye breads except Rekrut				
	Rekrut reduced GR-AUC 60-120min vs con				
	Correlation between total polyphenols and GR 0-60min			. h	
Törrönen et al. 2010	1. Berries reduced 15 <sup>a</sup> and 30min <sup>b</sup> GR vs con	+	Ø	$1. p < 0.05^{a}, p < 0.01^{b}$	GR
	2. Berries increased 150min GR vs con			2.p < 0.05	
	3. Berries reduced maximum GR vs con			3. p=0.002	
Tärränen et al 2012e	4. Defines (non-sig) reduced total OK-AUC vs con	I.	~	4. <i>p</i> =0.29	CB and IB
10110fiell <i>et al</i> . 2012a	1 Derrice reduced CD 15 min vs con	Ŧ	Ø	Furee	OK allu IK
	2. Blockeurrants reduced GP 30min vs con			2 n < 0.05	
	2. Diackeutratits reduced OK Johnny's con			2. p < 0.05 3 n < 0.001	
	A Lingonberries reduced GR120min vs con			5. p < 0.001	
	5. Blackeurrants reduced maximum GR vs con			5 n=0.022	
	6 Berries increased GP vs con			5.p = 0.022 6 $p < 0.001$	
	7 Berries reduced IR 15min vs con			$7 \ n < 0.001$	
	8 Blackcurrants <sup>a</sup> and lingonberries <sup>b</sup> reduced IR 30min vs con			$8 n < 0.001^{a} n < 0.05^{b}$	
	9 Blackcurrants <sup>a</sup> and lingonberries <sup>b</sup> increased IR 60min vs con			9 $p < 0.001^{\circ}$ , $p < 0.005^{\circ}$ 9 $p < 0.001^{\circ}$ , $p < 0.01^{\circ}$	
	10 Berries increased IR 90min vs con			$10 \ n < 0.001$	
	11 Blackcurrants <sup>a</sup> and lingonberries <sup>b</sup> increased IR120min vs con			$11 \ p < 0.001$ $11 \ p < 0.05^{a} \ p < 0.001^{b}$	
	12 Blackcurrants <sup>a</sup> and lingonberries <sup>b</sup> reduced maximum IR vs			$12 \ p=0.052^{a} \ p=0.03^{b}$	
	con			$13 \ p = 0.002^{a} \ p = 0.004^{b}$	
	13. Blackcurrants <sup>a</sup> and lingonberries <sup>b</sup> increased IR-AUC vs con			, , <sub>r</sub>	
	Nectars			Nectars	
	1. Blackcurrants reduced GR 0-45min vs con			1. <i>p</i> <0.05	
	2. Blackcurrants increased GR 90min vs con			2. <i>p</i> <0.05	
	3. Blackcurrants reduced maximum GR vs con			3. <i>p</i> <0.001	
	4. Blackcurrants reduced GR-AUC vs con			4. <i>p</i> =0.03	
	5. Lingonberries increased GR 60-120min vs con			5. <i>p</i> <0.05	
	6. Berries increased GP vs con			6. <i>p</i> <0.001	

Törrönen <i>et al.</i> 2012b	<ol> <li>Blackcurrants reduced IR 30min vs con</li> <li>Blackcurrants increased IR 60 and 90min vs con</li> <li>Lingonberries increased IR 90 min vs con</li> <li>Blackcurrants<sup>a</sup> and lingonberries<sup>b</sup> increased IR-AUC vs con</li> <li>Berries reduced capillary<sup>a</sup> and venous<sup>b</sup> GR 15min vs con</li> <li>Berries increased capillary<sup>a</sup> and venous<sup>b</sup> GR 90min vs con</li> <li>Berries reduced maximum capillary<sup>a</sup> and venous<sup>b</sup> GR</li> <li>Berries reduced maximum IR</li> <li>Berries increased IR 120min vs con</li> </ol>	+	Ø	7. $p < 0.05$ 8. $p < 0.01$ 9. $p < 0.001$ 10. $p = 0.03^{a}$ , $p = 0.036^{b}$ 1. $p = 0.021^{a}$ , $p < 0.007^{b}$ 2. $p = 0.028^{a}$ , $p = 0.021$ 4. $p < 0.009^{a}$ , $p < 0.011^{b}$ 5. $p < 0.005$ 6. $p < 0.001^{a}$ , $p = 0.003^{b}$ 7. $p = 0.042$	GR and IR
Törrönen <i>et al.</i> 2013	<ol> <li>Strawberries reduced maximum IR vs wheat con</li> <li>Strawberries reduced IR-AUC 0-60min vs wheat con</li> <li>Strawberries increased GP vs wheat con</li> <li>Bilberries and lingonberries reduced IR-AUC 0-60 vs wheat con</li> <li>Bilberries and lingonberries reduced IR-AUC 0-30min vs wheat con</li> <li>Chokeberries reduced IR-AUC 0-60 vs wheat con</li> <li>Chokeberries reduced IR-AUC 0-30min vs wheat con</li> <li>Chokeberries reduced IR-AUC 0-30min vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced GR-AUC 0-30min vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix increased GP vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix increased IR 15 and 30min vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR-AUC 0-120<sup>a</sup>, 0-60<sup>b</sup> and 0-30min<sup>b</sup> vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced GR-AUC 0-30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced GR-AUC 0-30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR-AUC 0-120<sup>a</sup>, 0-60<sup>b</sup> and 0-30min<sup>b</sup> vs wheat con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> <li>Berry mix reduced IR 15 and 30min vs rye con</li> </ol>	+	Ø	1. $p < 0.05$ 2. $p < 0.01$ 3. $p < 0.05$ 4. $p < 0.05$ 5. $p < 0.01$ 6. $p < 0.05$ 7. $p < 0.001$ 8. $p < 0.001$ 9. $p = 0.005$ 10. $p < 0.05$ 11. $p < 0.05$ 12. $p = 0.001$ 13. $p = 0.041^{a}$ , $p < 0.001^{b}$ 14. $p = 0.026$ 15. $p = 0.05$ 16. $p < 0.05$ 17. $p < 0.05$ 18. $p < 0.001$ 19. $p = 0.03^{a}$ , $p < 0.001^{b}$	GR and IR

#### 6.2.3 Quality assessment

Quality of the 13 final papers was assessed by the quality criteria checklist: primary research from the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2014). Papers were allocated a quality rating of negative, neutral or positive based on a series of questions including subject characteristics, study bias, detail of intervention, clearly defined outcome measures and statistical analysis.

## 6.3 Results

# 6.3.1 General characteristics

A total of 13 papers fulfilled all inclusion criteria, totalling 218 adults (165 female and 53 male) with a mean age of  $39.08 \pm 7.78$  years. All studies were cross-over trials in which subjects acted as their own control. Search criteria included all types of human adults however the final papers consisted of healthy adults only. Body mass index (BMI) was not available for three of the studies (Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003), and therefore mean BMI for the remaining 10 studies was  $23.72 \pm 2.03$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>.

Papers consisted of research conducted in Japan (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014), the United Kingdom (Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003), Finland (Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013), Sweden (Rosen *et al.*, 2011), Germany (Gruendel *et al.*, 2007) and Brazil (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013). Two studies had no reference to funding bodies (Gruendel *et al.*, 2007; Johnston *et al.*, 2002), and there was no conflict of interest for six of the studies (Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b) and no answer on conflict for the other seven. All but one study declared subject randomisation to test meals (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2003; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Johnston *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013). Five studies used HPLC methods to assess individual polyphenols (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Johnston *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013). Wash out periods between control and interventions ranged from one day to one week, although four studies did not report the wash out period (Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003).

#### 6.3.2 Paper quality and outcomes

Papers were assigned a quality rating with six papers found to be positive (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Rosen *et al.*, 2011;) and seven neutral (Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Gruendel *et al.*, 2007; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014, Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). No studies received a negative rating. Nine of the 13 studies had evidence in the positive direction (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2012; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013; Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2007; Coe *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013) and four in the negative direction when considering the effect of polyphenols on carbohydrate digestion and resulting postprandial glycaemia and/ or insulinaemia. Eleven of the studies showed significant results in either direction, with only two studies showing non-significance (Clegg *et al.*, 2011; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014).

All studies measured GR as either the primary or secondary outcome, and postprandial IR was also measured in nine of these (Bryans *et al.*, 2007; Johnston *et al.*, 2002; Johnston *et al.*, 2003; Ochiai *et al.*, 2014; Rosen *et al.*, 2011; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). Only one study had GR and IR as the secondary outcome (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014, the primary outcome was endothelial function). Postprandial GR and IR were measured for between two to three hours after the initial consumption of the test food in all studies. Apart from one study which only measured GR and IR at baseline, one and two hours postprandially (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014), all other studies took measurements at baseline, and every 15 min for the first hour, then every 30 min for the remaining one to two hours.

### 6.3.3 Polyphenols as solutions

Two studies in this review used coffee and/ or its polyphenols. Both studies found no effect of coffee polyphenols (especially chlorogenic acids) on GR or IR when consumed with 25g (Johnston *et al.*, 2003) or 75g (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014) of glucose. In one of the studies (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014), GR and IR were only measured at baseline and at one and two hours postprandial and therefore these measurements may not have been frequent enough to show an effect. Caffeine was controlled for in both studies. Two different studies determined the effect of fruit juice consumed with a carbohydrate source on markers of glycaemia (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013; Johnston *et al.*, 2002). In one study, 400 mL of clear or cloudy apple juice were assessed for their effects on GR and IR, the cloudy juice being richer in polyphenols (Johnston *et al.*, 2002). Fructose and glucose were added into the control water to match the sugar content of all juices. Early phase GR was reduced in both apple juices, with this reduction being greater in the polyphenol rich cloudy apple juice. In the second study, 300 mL of aracà juice was found to reduce maximal GR and total AUC-GR to white bread, however IR was not measured (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013). Both the control and intervention were matched with 25g avCHO

(approximately 50g in weight) of white bread, however the juice provided additional carbohydrate in the form of sugars compared to the water control (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013).

Only one study determined the effect of black tea on both GR and IR and it was found that at a dose of 1g, black tea significantly reduced 120 min GR, with variable effects on IR (Bryans *et al.*, 2007). Two studies in this review investigated the effect of polyphenol rich extracts in aqueous solution on GR. Baobab fruit extract at two doses of 18.5g and 37g was made up in solution with both doses found to have beneficial effects on mid-to-late phase GR when consumed with white bread (Coe *et al.*, 2013). However, carob pulp fibre at 5 and 10 g was shown to increase GR and also IR when consumed with 50g glucose in solution (Gruendel *et al.*, 2007). The avCHO in the baobab fruit drinks was matched between meals by reducing the bread content in the intervention meals (Coe *et al.*, 2013) whereas avCHO was not matched when consuming the carob pulp and therefore the higher the carob dose in solution, the greater the avCHO content of the drink (Gruendel *et al.*, 2007).

## 6.3.4 Food sources of polyphenols

Five studies in this review assessed the effects of different berry combinations on GR and IR. Törrönen and colleagues (Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b; Törrönen *et al.*, 2013) performed four of these studies. Berries were found to reduce both the early phase and the maximal increase in GR to sucrose (Törrönen *et al.*, 2010). Berries in the form of purées and nectars both reduced the early phase yet increased the late phase GR and IR, with an overall increase in the GP when consumed with sucrose (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a). Similar results were found in a later study by the same group (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b) which found berries consumed with sucrose to again reduce early phase GR and IR, increase the late phase response and improve overall GP. The effect of berries on white wheat bread and rye bread was determined in three smaller studies (Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). Results found berries to reduce early to mid-phase GR and IR and slightly increase late phase IR to both breads. The only other study to date on berries consumed with a starch source and resulting effects on GR determined the effect of consuming berries in combination with pancakes, yet found no effect on GR (Clegg *et al.*, 2011).

Three of the studies by Törrönen (2010; 2012a; 2012b) assessed the effect of berries in combination with sucrose, of which two were matched for avCHO. Therefore one study provided additional sugars in the intervention yet still had favorable effects on glycaemia (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a). Although lingonberries did not show beneficial effects on GR or IR, the intervention consisted of additional avCHO compared to the control solution and therefore lingonberries did not show negative effects on GR (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a). When the carbohydrate source was

bread or pancakes consumed with berries, both studies matched avCHO for the starch source, however in one of the studies cucumber was consumed alongside the bread in the control group (Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). Therefore less avCHO was consumed in the control, yet favorable effects were still seen on both GR and IR for the berry intervention meal. Due to the distinct sensory and physical properties of berries subject blinding to the intervention in all studies was not possible. It is important for the nutrients and other compounds between the meals to be as similar as possible to reduce confounding factors that may influence metabolism. Törrönen *et al.* (2013) used control meals containing less avCHO in the form of cucumber, and therefore meals were not closely matched for some compounds such as micronutrients. This adds some variability into the study and the reliability of the results may be altered.

Another study measured different rye breads for their polyphenol contents and all breads were found to be a rich source of a variety of compounds. Polyphenol rich rye breads were shown to significantly reduce the IR, especially the Amilo and Rekrut breads (Rosen *et al.*, 2011). Amilo significantly reduced early phase IR, Amilo and Rekrut reduced mid-phase IR and Rekrut reduced late phase IR and mid-phase GR, with all breads matched for avCHO.

# 6.3.5 Adverse effects

Adverse effects of consuming polyphenols and carbohydrate in combination were seen in some of the studies. Carob pulp at low doses increased the GR and IR compared to the control (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014). Cloudy apple juice increased the GR at certain time points versus the control, however overall GR was improved (Johnston *et al.*, 2002). All studies by Törrönen *et al.* (2010; 2012a; 2012b; 2013) found berries to increase the late phase GR and/ or IR, despite reducing both in the early stages after consumption. There was an increase not only in the IR at specific time points after tea consumption compared to the control, yet the 3g dose of black tea induced vomiting and palpitations, and therefore these data were excluded from the results (Bryans *et al.*, 2007).

#### 6.4 Discussion and Conclusions

Polyphenol rich foods and beverages are well known for their potential health benefits, including their role in improving glycaemic control and in managing obesity. They show potential for reducing the postprandial GR and therefore for preventing the secondary disease measures associated

with elevated blood glucose levels. This review assessed the effect of polyphenol consumption with carbohydrates, and the resulting effect on two to three hour postprandial glycaemia and insulinaemia. Of the six studies that had a positive quality rating, five showed favorable effects on GR and/ or IR. Polyphenol sources in combination with sucrose, glucose or bread overall were found to reduce the early phase GR and IR (0-60 min), and prolong the rate of glucose absorption into the blood, thereby prolonging and sustaining insulin secretion.

## 6.4.1 Polyphenols as solutions

# Coffee

Coffee consumption has been shown to have a protective effect against developing type 2 diabetes. In a prospective study of 28,812 postmenopausal women, coffee intake and especially decaffeinated coffee had a negative correlation with risk of type 2 diabetes (Pereira *et al.*, 2006). Coffee is rich in phenolic compounds such as the chlorogenic acids, with an average cup providing around 1-1.25 mmol of total CQA L<sup>-1</sup> (20-657 mg CQA; Clifford, 1999). Chlorogenic acid and its components caffeic acid and quinic acid which are also found in coffee, have been shown to inhibit digestive enzymes such as porcine pancreas  $\alpha$ -amylase (Narita & Inouye, 2009).

Two studies in this review investigated the effects of coffee on GR and IR, yet both studies found no effect of coffee and its polyphenols on either measure when consumed with glucose in solution (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014). These results may be partially due to the polyphenols in foods and beverages having synergistic effects with other components and therefore extracting these compounds and adding them into another medium such as was done with the isolated coffee polyphenols (Ochiai *et al.*, 2014), may reduce their bioactivity (Bastianetto *et al.*, 2000; Betts *et al.*, 2011).

## Fruit juice

Sugar sweetened beverages can have adverse effects on blood glucose levels, however fruit juices rich in polyphenols show conflicting results. In a recent systematic review the consumption of soft drinks, 100% fruit juice and vegetable juice were assessed for effects on diabetes risk (Eshak *et al.*, 2013). Soft drink consumption was associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes, yet fruit juice and vegetable juices showed no association. In the current review, polyphenol rich fruit juice was shown to reduce the GR when matched for sugar content (Johnston *et al.*, 2002)

and reduced both the GR and IR when consumed with white bread (Balisteiro *et al.*, 2013). Fruit juices are rich in polyphenols, specifically apple juice was found to be rich in phloridzin and chlorogenic acid and therefore these phenolics may responsible for the reduction in GR and IR (Johnston *et al.*, 2002). The effect of polyphenols on digestive enzymes and/ or on overall carbohydrate digestion will differ depending on if sucrose or starch is the carbohydrate consumed however, studies on juices found favorable effects on GR regardless of whether the juice was consumed with simple sugars or with starch in the form of white bread.

## Black tea

Tea polyphenols have been shown to inhibit intestinal glucose transport (Shimizu *et al.*, 2000) and increase insulin secretion *in vitro* (Hii & Howell, 1985). Uchida *et al.* (2013) found different varieties of black teas to inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity, and total polyphenol content of the teas was positively related to inhibitory activity. One study in this review assessed the effect of 1.5 cups black tea containing 350 mg/ g total polyphenols and 75g glucose, against a caffeine control and standard control (Bryans *et al.*, 2007). This study found a reduction in late stage glycaemia after tea consumption. The effects on late but not early phase GR and IR could be due to the delay in absorption of certain tea polyphenols (Leenen *et al.*, 2000).

### Polyphenol extracts in solution

The polyphenol rich baobab fruit extract made up in solution, showed benefits for reducing GR when consumed alongside starch, yet carob pulp in solution exacerbated GR and IR when consumed with sucrose (Coe *et al.*, 2013, Gruendel *et al.*, 2007). Plant extracts have been shown to inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, with certain extracts showing more potential for inhibiting  $\alpha$ -amylase, and therefore extracts may be more efficient at reducing GR when consumed with a starch source compared to simple sugars (Bhat *et al.*, 2011). Extracts from fruits, and also different tea and coffee drinks will vary in composition depending on extraction and preparation techniques. Both extracts in this review were crude and therefore contained other nutrients such as fibre, vitamins and minerals, all of which could have influenced postprandial blood glucose levels. Fibre can delay digestion and therefore reduce GR (Marlett *et al.*, 2002), however both the insoluble and soluble fibre content were moderate in the solution drinks, and therefore only the higher doses of extracts consumed probably contained enough fibre to influence GR.

Carob pulp produced a greater GR than the control which may be partially due to the extra carbohydrate in the test meals versus the control. Some of the studies in this review matched avCHO between the control and intervention meals, either by reducing the amount of the carbohydrate source when adding the polyphenol source, or by the addition of sucrose, glucose or fructose to the control. However, other studies did not match the avCHO of the meals and therefore the intervention meals in these studies contained a higher amount of carbohydrate than the controls. In the latter, any reduction in GR or IR will be of greater importance considering the greater amount of avCHO in the intervention meals. In contrast to 5 and 10 g, 20g of carob extract did not produce a difference in GR compared to the control. Also, baobab fruit extract was consumed at doses of 18.5g and 37g in solution, and therefore it may be that the consumption of a larger dose of polyphenol rich extract is needed in order to have beneficial effects on GR.

## 6.4.2 Polyphenols consumed as whole foods

#### Berries

Berries are a well-known rich source of a variety of health promoting compounds including polyphenols. In the study by Clegg *et al.* (2011), no effect on GR was found when berries were consumed with pancakes. Compared to sucrose, glucose and white bread which are considered high GI foods, pancakes may contain a lower GI value and thus induce a lower postprandial GR and resulting IR. Berry addition to a carbohydrate source such as pancakes may therefore show no further improvement in the degree of degradation. Also, only 100g of berries were used whereas in the studies by Törrönen *et al.* (2010, 2012a, 2012b, 2013) 150g were consumed, and therefore a higher dose may be required to show effects on GR. Furthermore, IR was not measured in this study and therefore even though no effects were seen on GR, improvements in insulin sensitivity may have been found.

The four studies in this review by Törrönen and others (2010, 2012a, 2012b, 2013) showed positive results on GR and IR. When berries were consumed with sucrose, the GR in all studies was consistently shown to be reduced (Törrönen *et al.*, 2010; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a; Törrönen *et al.*, 2012b). When consumed with a starch source the reduction in IR was more prevalent, with the reduction in GR still significant yet less apparent (Törrönen *et al.*, 2013). This may be due to the different structure of glucose versus bread, with the berries affecting the overall digestion and absorption to different degrees. Different types of berries will vary in their polyphenol contents as well as in their ability to inhibit digestive

enzymes.  $\alpha$ -Glucosidase is the main enzyme for digesting sucrose while  $\alpha$ -amylase acts on starch chains. Polyphenol rich extracts of blackcurrants, blueberries and strawberries have been shown to inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase *in vitro* (Cheplick *et al.*, 2007; Cheplick *et al.*, 2010; da Silva Pinto *et al.*, 2008; da Silva Pinto *et al.*, 2010; Johnston *et al.*, 2011; McDougall *et al.*, 2005).  $\alpha$ -Amylase is thought to be inhibited by a variety of fruit polyphenols (Grussu *et al.*, 2011; McDougall *et al.*, 2005), yet raspberry extracts have been shown to be good inhibitors of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase but not  $\alpha$ -amylase (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). The intestinal transporters SGLT1 and facilitated sodium-independent GLUT2 have also been shown to be inhibited by a variety of the polyphenols found in berries (Cermak *et al.*, 2004, Johnston *et al.*, 2005; Manzano *et al.*, 2010; Song *et al.*, 2002; Welsch *et al.*, 1989). Berries inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase mainly due to their anthocyanin and proanthocyanidin contents (Hanhineva *et al.*, 2010). Anthocyanins are high in bilberries and blackcurrants as represented by their dark color (McDougall *et al.*, 2005) and the anthocyanin cyanidin-3rutinoside is abundant in blackcurrants yet not in lingonberries (Slimestad *et al.*, 2002), and has been found to inhibit  $\alpha$ -glucosidase activity *in vitro* (Adisakwattana *et al.*, 2011). This may be why lingonberries did not show beneficial effects on GR when consumed with sucrose (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a).

The physical form of different berry combinations will affect resulting GR and IR. All berry meals assessed in this review were consumed in semi-solid form, either as whole berry purées or nectars, and therefore they may have delayed gastric emptying compared to the control beverage (Dikeman & Fahey, 2006). Whole berries will contain additional components including fibre, and vitamins and minerals and although juices and nectars will not contain fibre, they will also contain micronutrients and other compounds. In one study by Törrönen *et al.* (2013), GR and IR were only measured for two hours postprandial when bread was used as the carbohydrate source, however the fibre content of the breads may have prolonged the GR past this time period. Raspberries and cloudberries were found to have the highest fibre content in this study yet these berries had no effect on GR or IR, and therefore a further hour of testing may have provided more information about the GR to the breads. At equivalent avCHO profiles, the berry purée contained more soluble fibre compared to the nectar meals, and the nectar meals contained more than the control, however both test meals reduced GR and IR (Törrönen *et al.*, 2012a). Therefore it seems that the polyphenols and not solely the fibre content of berries may be responsible for the improvement in GR and IR. Overall all berry sources in this review were shown to be beneficial for reducing GR to a certain extent without showing any potential negative effects on glycaemia. This review highlights the effect of whole polyphenol sources such as berries for not only reducing overall GR and IR but for also reducing the degree of variability in these parameters compared to liquid sources of polyphenols.

#### Rye breads

Previous studies have shown that soluble fibre reduces carbohydrate absorption rates and also reduces IR after a meal (Del Toma *et al.*, 1988; Tabatabai & Li, 2000) whereas insoluble fibre can increase insulin sensitivity by altering the patterns of insulin secretion (Weivkert *et al.*, 2006). Rye breads in general contain a high amount of fibre, especially soluble fibre and studies have shown rye products to reduce IR without necessarily reducing the GR postprandial (Rosen *et al.*, 2009; Rosen *et al.*, 2011). Also, rye bread has a harder, less porous crumb which is thought to contribute to its lower IR compared to white bread (Juntunen *et al.*, 2003).

In one study in this review, different rye breads with endogenous polyphenols were compared against a white bread low in polyphenols, for effects on GR and IR. Amilo rye contained the highest amount of insoluble fibre and Rekrut rye contained the greatest content of soluble fibre, with both types of fibre showing a negative correlation with IR and GR (Rosen *et al.*, 2011). This study was the only one to have the polyphenol source and the starch source in the same medium (rye bread). Amilo had the greatest content of caffeic acid and H. Loire rye was high in other phenolic acids and a negative correlation was found between early phase GR and polyphenol content. Therefore in rye bread, factors such as the structure of the starch granules, the fibre content and total polyphenols all may be beneficial for both GR and IR compared white bread. Results from this study show that some rye breads provide more benefits on GR and IR than others, and this is at least in part due to the polyphenol content of the breads.

### 6.4.3 Further limitations

Limitations of the studies in this review include an absence of *in vitro* analysis to determine mechanisms by which polyphenols reduce carbohydrate digestion. When whole foods, beverages or extracts were used as the polyphenol source, or when no polyphenol analysis was performed, it is unclear if the polyphenols or other components were responsible for the reduction in glycaemia. Also, there are a wide range of polyphenol classes and structures, with the most abundant polyphenols in foods and beverages not necessarily being those that are most bioactive. All studies were performed in healthy participants and therefore the role of polyphenols on GR and IR in diabetic subjects may show different results. Foods are generally consumed in combination and not in isolation, and therefore the confounding effects of other food components may influence carbohydrate digestion and resulting GR and IR. For example, black tea can be consumed with milk and this may influence the ability

of polyphenols to act on carbohydrates (Ryan & Petit, 2010). This review includes variable sources of polyphenols and also a varied source of carbohydrates, with the range of doses used differing between studies.

#### 6.4.4 Conclusions

Studies assessing the effect of polyphenols on carbohydrate digestion and resulting GR are limited and results are conflicting due to the heterogeneity between studies. Overall, polyphenol addition to a carbohydrate rich food reduces early phase glycaemia and prolongs glucose absorption into the blood. The degree to which polyphenols influence GR and IR depends on the source of polyphenols, the source of carbohydrates, and other factors such as the dose used, the medium in which products are consumed and the composition of the polyphenols used. Due to the lack of studies in this area, it is inconclusive as to what types of polyphenol sources have the most potential for lowering blood glucose, and at what dosage this effect is optimal. The observed pattern of glycaemic reduction from the papers in this review makes it apparent that polyphenols may work at the intestinal level to reduce carbohydrate breakdown and glucose absorption.

Nutrition plays a key role in the risk reduction and management of diabetes. Polyphenols are found abundantly in foods and are an easy addition to the diet. This systematic review shows that there is potential for the postprandial GR and resulting IR to a food or meal to be reduced with the addition of polyphenols at doses easily obtained in the diet. Consuming polyphenol rich sources in the form of beverages, foods or extracts may therefore be a strategy in diabetes management and obesity prevention.

#### 6.5 Publication

Coe S & Ryan L (2014) The impact of polyphenols on acute postprandial glycaemia: a systematic review, Diabetes (Submitted).

#### **Publications and Results**

## 7. Polyphenol bioaccessibility and sugar reducing capacity of black, green and white teas.

### 7.1 Summary

Tea (*Camellia sinensis*) is a widely consumed beverage and recognised for its potential enhancing effect on human health due to its rich polyphenol content. While a number of studies have investigated the quantity and type of polyphenols present in different tea samples, no study has reported the potential effect of digestive enzymes on the availability of tea polyphenols for human absorption or the subsequent impact on glycaemic response (GR). The objectives of the present study were to assess the total polyphenol content of different teas; to assess the bioaccessibility of polyphenols in whole and bagged teas and to determine the effect of black, white and green tea infusions on sugar release. All of the teas were a significant source of polyphenols (10-116 mg Gallic acid equivalents  $\{GAE\}/g$ ). There was an overall increase in the release of polyphenols from both the bagged and the whole teas following *in vitro* digestion. Bagged green tea significantly (p < 0.05) reduced rapidly digestible starch (RDS) from white bread samples compared to control and black and white bagged teas. The present study confirms that tea is a rich source of polyphenols and highlights the potential benefits it may have on modulating GR in humans.

#### 7.2 Introduction

One of the most widely consumed beverages throughout the world is tea produced from the tea plant (*Camellia sinensis*). Tea for consumption is classified according to the methods used in its production. Geographical consumption patterns of the different teas vary greatly with green tea consumed mainly in Asia and the Middle East and black tea consumed mostly in western countries. Tea has been found to be a rich source of polyphenols and antioxidants (Lakenbrink *et al.*, 2000). This together with evidence from epidemiological studies (Khan & Mukhtar, 2007) and high consumption rates worldwide has led to growing interest in tea as a product that may significantly contribute to human health.

The polyphenol profile of the different teas is affected by their different methods of production. Black tea is produced by wilting, crushing and partial oxidation and consequently is rich in theaflavins and thearubigins (Rusak *et al.*, 2008). In green tea production oxidation is minimised resulting in catechins being dominant (Cabrera *et al.*, 2006), particularly epigallocatechin-gallate (EGCG). White tea undergoes the least processing and is produced from young leaves and buds resulting in high levels of EGCG (Santana-Rio *et al.*, 2001), though generally lower than the levels found in green tea.

Reduced risk of coronary heart disease (Mukamal *et al.*, 2007), stroke incidence (Keli *et al.*, 1995), chronic inflammation (Sharma & Rao, 2009) and cancer incidence (Kuzuhara *et al.*, 2008) are associated with black and green tea consumption. Recent studies have focused on the impact of tea and tea polyphenols on blood glucose and insulin sensitivity. Black tea has been shown to decrease plasma glucose and enhance insulin concentrations post consumption in comparison to a control and a caffeine drink (Bryan *et al.*, 2007). Aldughpassi and Wolever (2009) showed that 250 mL of black tea with test meals actually increased overall mean peak blood glucose compared to water though a reduction in the standard error might indicate the ability of tea compounds to improve the precision of the GR. A study of green tea catechins in insulin resistant induced obese rats suggested that they may impact glucose control through several pathways (Yan *et al.*, 2012). It was hypothesised that all teas would be rich sources of bioaccessible polyphenols, and that they would reduce the degradation of carbohydrate from white bread throughout an *in vitro* digestion.

The objectives of this study were as follows:

- 1. To determine the total polyphenol content of different commercial teas.
- 2. To determine the bioaccessibility of polyphenols from whole and bagged teas after in vitro digestion.
- 3. To determine the effect of black, white and green tea infusions on sugar release from bread after an *in vitro* digestion model.

7.3 Materials and Methods

## 7.3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade and were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK). The different teas were sourced directly from JING Tea Ltd as whole teas or purchased in bag form from a local Tesco supermarket. Teas included black teas: Jing Assam Breakfast, Jing Earl Grey, Jing Ceylon, Jing Darjeeling 2nd Flush; green teas: Organic Jade Sword, Organic Dragon Well, Jasmine Pearls, Kagoshima Sencha; white tea: Jasmine Silver Needle; herbal teas: Flowering Osmanthus, Flowering Jasmine & Lily, Moroccan Mint, Jun Shan Silver Needle; oolong teas: Tieguanyin, Yellow Gold Oolong, Taiwan Ali Shan Oolong; and three bagged teas (Tesco supermarket): Clipper Black Tea, Clipper Green Tea, and Clipper White Tea.

# 7.3.2 Study protocol

Samples from 19 brands of commercially available tea were chosen. The weight of each whole tea used was approximately 3g except for the 'Flowering Osmanthus' and 'Jasmine & Lily' teas where an entire bulb was used (the weight of each bulb was recorded). For teas in bagged format, one tea bag (approximately 2.5g) was used. All tea samples were prepared using a standard protocol. Each tea was infused in 200 mL of boiling water (90 °C unless otherwise specified on the manufacturer's instructions) for three minutes and then stirred six times before the tea was removed. The resultant sample was then left at room temperature to cool for an additional 17 min before testing commenced. All tests were carried out on a minimum of three separate occasions and samples were analysed in triplicate for each test.

# 7.3.3 Folin-Ciocalteu (FCR) analysis

An aliquot (200  $\mu$ L) of each tea sample was added to 1.5 mL of freshly prepared FCR reagent (1:10 v/v with water; Sharma & Gujral, 2010). The mixture was allowed to equilibrate for 5 min and then mixed with 1.5 mL of 60 g/L sodium carbonate solution. After incubation in a dark air-tight space at room temperature for 90 min, the absorbance of the mixture was read at 725 nm using the respective solvent as blank. The results were expressed as mg of GAE per gram of tea weight.

## 7.3.4 Bioaccessibility of tea polyphenols

Samples from 19 brands of commercially available tea were analysed using an *in vitro* digestion model adapted from Ryan *et al.* (2008). A total of 4 mL of each 200 mL tea infusion was added to an amber vial and made up to a volume of 15 mL with saline. A 1 mL baseline aliquot was taken

from each sample. The samples were acidified to pH 2 by the addition of 1 mL of a porcine (gastric muscosa) pepsin preparation (250 units/ mg solid; 0.04g pepsin in 1 mL 0.1 M HCl) and then incubated at 37 °C in a shaking water bath at 95 rpm for 1 hour. Gastric aliquots were taken. The pH was increased to 5.3 with 0.9 M sodium bicarbonate, followed by the addition of 200  $\mu$ L of the bile salts glycodeoxycholate (0.04g in 1 mL saline), taurodeoxycholate (0.025g in 1 mL saline) and taurocholate (0.04g in 1 mL saline), and 100  $\mu$ L of pancreatin from porcine pancreas (4 × USP specifications; 0.04 g in 500  $\mu$ L saline) to each sample. The pH was adjusted to 7.4 using 1 M NaOH and overlaid with nitrogen. The samples were then incubated in a shaking water bath for two hours at 37 °C. Duodenal aliquots were taken and samples were frozen until analysis. Bioaccessibility was calculated by determining the percentage change realtive to baseline polyphenol (mg GAE/ g) values, throughout the gastric and duodenal stage of simulated digestion.

# 7.3.5 Measurement of sugar release

The effect of one black tea, one green tea and one white tea sample from the Clipper® brand on the inhibition of starch breakdown was determined with bread used as the starch source. This was achieved by subjecting samples of tea combined with bread to an *in vitro* digestion procedure and measuring the resultant reducing sugars released. Specifically, the RDS was measured which takes place at 20 min into the duodenal stage of digestion when the rate of sugar release is most pronounced. The RDS is therefore an indicator of the glycaemic index (GI) of a food (Englyst *et al.*, 1996).

## 7.3.6 Bread Preparation

White bread dough was made to a recipe of 190g warm tap water, 1 tbsp virgin olive oil, 1 tsp salt, 1 tbsp sugar, 1 tbsp dried milk powder, 350g strong white flour (Hovis super strong premium white bread flour) and 1 ½ tsp of yeast. The dough was then baked in a Russell Hobbs bread maker (model no:18036, Manchester, UK) for a total of 3 hours and 20 min. All bread samples were baked the evening prior, sealed at room temperature in plastic containers overnight and tested the following morning.

## 7.3.7 In vitro Digestion

An *in vitro* digestion procedure was used to test the tea samples. This consisted of a simulated gastric digestion phase followed by an ileal digestion phase with timed sampling at the end of the gastric phase and during the ileal phase (Mishra *et al.*, 2008). Samples of the bread were prepared by weighing 2.5g samples and placing each into 60 mL specimen pots. Samples were finely chopped with a large kitchen knife into small uniform pieces (millimetres in diameter) to reflect the 'chewing process'. The pots were inserted into an aluminium heating block and covered with an insulating sheet in readiness for testing. A volume of 30 mL of each tea infusion (1 tea bag/ infusion) was added to its own individual bread sample. A 250 µL baseline sample was extracted for each sample at t = 0 min and added to a test tube in a ratio of 1:4 in ethanol. This was followed by the addition to each sample of 0.1 mL 10% porcine  $\alpha$ -amylase (Type VI-B,  $\geq$ 10 units/mg solid), 0.8 mL 1 M HCl and 1 mL 10% porcine pepsin (800-2500 U/mL) protein solution in 0.05 M HCl, to each. The resultant mixture was stirred slowly at 130 rpm every 15 sec for 30 min at 37 °C to complete the gastric digestion phase, and then gastric aliquots were taken. The ileal phase was initiated by the addition of 2 mL 1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub> and 5 mL 0.2 M Na maleate buffer (pH 6) to each sample, and the volume was increased to 55 mL with distilled (dH<sub>2</sub>0). In quick succession, 0.1 mL of amyloglucosidase ( $\geq$ 300 U/mL, aqueous solution) and 1 mL of 2% porcine pancreatin solution (8 x USP; in maleate buffer, pH 6), were added to each sample. Samples were then incubated for 120 min with constant slow mixing, and aliquots were taken at 20, 60 and 120 min during ileal digestion. The tubes were centrifuged (1000 x g, 2 min) in a Biofuge Primo Centrifuge (Heraeus Instruments, Kendro Laboratory Products, Germany) and an aliquot of the supernatant was removed for analysis of reducing sugars.

## 7.3.8 Analysis of reducing sugars released during digestion

Sugar released from the bread during digestion was measured by a colorimetric method adapted from Englyst and Hudson (1987) designed to measure monosaccharides after an amyloglucosidase secondary digestion to complete depolymerisation of starch fragments. A total of 0.05 mL of 10 mg/ mL glucose standard or sample from the *in vitro* digestion was added to 0.25 mL of enzyme solution A (1% amyloglucosidase {Megazyme, 3260 U/mL} in acetate buffer, pH 5.2). Each sample was incubated for 10 min at 25 °C and then 0.75 mL of 3,5-Dinitrosalicyclic acid (DNS) mixture (0.5 mg/ mL glucose: 4 M NaOH: DNS reagent mixed in ratio 1:1:5) was added. The resultant sample was then heated for 15 min at 95 °C in a water bath. Following this, 3 mL of water was added to each sample which was then left to cool for 20 min in a cold water bath. Absorbance was read at 530 nm on a Shimadzu UV-1201 spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Australia) and sugar release was measured

in mg per g of bread sample. Slowly digestible starch (SDS) was extrapolated by subtracting the RDS measurement at 20 min from the reducing sugars measurement at 120 min during ileal digestion (Mishra & Monro, 2009).

# 7.3.9 Statistical analysis

All experiments were carried out in triplicate and each had a minimum of three replicates for each tea. The data are presented as means (± SEM) and comparisons between samples were carried out by an one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's multiple comparison test Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS, version 17; SPSS Inc., Chicago III). A probability of 5% or less was considered statistically significant.

7.4 Results

# 7.4.1 Polyphenol content

Table 7.1 illustrates that all teas were a significant source of polyphenols. Of the whole teas, 'Kagoshima Sencha' brand<sup>®</sup> had a significantly higher polyphenol content (p < 0.05) compared to the other commercial whole teas analysed. Of the bagged varieties, green tea infusion had a significantly higher polyphenol content than both white and black teas, as measured by FCR (p < 0.05).

Taa	G.A.E.	G.A.E.	
lea	(mg/ g Tea)	(mg/ serving)	
Black teas			
Jing Assam Breakfast <sup>1</sup>	48.6	145.9	
Jing Earl Grey <sup>1</sup>	62.2	186.7	
Jing Ceylon <sup>1</sup>	58.7	176.0	
Jing Darjeeling 2 <sup>nd</sup> Flush <sup>1</sup>	47.3	141.8	
Green teas			
Organic Jade Sword <sup>1</sup>	42.6	127.9	
Organic Dragon Well <sup>1</sup>	54.9	164.6	
Jasmine Pearls <sup>1</sup>	23.3	69.9	
Kagoshima Sencha <sup>1</sup>	95.3 <sup>*</sup>	285.8	
White tea			
Jasmine Silver Needle <sup>1</sup>	20.4	61.1	
Herbal teas			
Flowering Osmanthus <sup>1</sup>	10.3	75.2	
Flowering Jasmine & Lily <sup>1</sup>	13.8	96.3	
Moroccan Mint <sup>1</sup>	48.7	146.2	
Jun Shan Silver Needle <sup>1</sup>	38.6	115.7	
Oolong teas			
Tieguanyin <sup>1</sup>	28.5	85.5	
Yellow Gold Oolong <sup>1</sup>	23.5	70.5	

Table 7.1 Polypheno	l content (expressed a	as gallic aci	id equivalents	{G.A.E.} per gran	n and per serving	{3g in 200 mL	water})
21	<b>\ I</b>	0	1		1 0		,,

Taiwan Ali Shan Oolong <sup>1</sup>	20.1	60.3
Clipper Black Tea <sup>2</sup>	87.9	263.7
Clipper Green Tea <sup>2</sup>	115.5**	346.5
Clipper White Tea <sup>2</sup>	102.8	308.4

<sup>1</sup>Whole teas, <sup>2</sup>Bagged teas. \*p<0.05 = significantly greater than all other whole tea samples. \*\*p<0.05 = significantly greater than all other bagged tea samples. Values represent means of three independent experiments.

# 7.4.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

Table 7.2 illustrates that the polyphenol content of all tea infusions was enhanced following the gastric digestion phase. This enhancement continued into the duodenal phase, although some tea polyphenols became less bioaccessible relative to the gastric phase.

Tea	Gastric	Duodenal
	(%)	(%)
Black teas		
Jing Assam Breakfast <sup>1</sup>	140.7	121.2
Jing Earl Grey <sup>1</sup>	121.0	127.7
Jing Ceylon <sup>1</sup>	124.6	127.4
Jing Darjeeling 2 <sup>nd</sup> Flush <sup>1</sup>	133.5	142.4
Green teas		
Organic Jade Sword <sup>1</sup>	133.2	131.0
Organic Dragon Well <sup>1</sup>	123.2	128.1
Jasmine Pearls <sup>1</sup>	172.2	204.0
Kagoshima Sencha <sup>1</sup>	143.7	134.7
White tea		
Jasmine Silver Needle <sup>1</sup>	204.1	233.6
Herbal teas		
Flowering Osmanthus <sup>1</sup>	176.8	189.3
Flowering Jasmine & Lily <sup>1</sup>	160.5	174.6
Moroccan Mint <sup>1</sup>	128.0	124.3
Jun Shan Silver Needle <sup>1</sup>	153.9	147.1
Oolong teas		
Tieguanyin <sup>1</sup>	161.7	185.2

 Table 7.2 % Bioaccessibility of the polyphenol content after the Gastric and Duodenal phases of digestion

Yellow Gold Oolong <sup>1</sup>	194.4	233.5
Taiwan Ali Shan Oolong <sup>1</sup>	207.9	231.1
Clipper Black Tea <sup>2a</sup>	136.6	126.6
Clipper Green Tea <sup>2b</sup>	132.0	125.3
Clipper White Tea <sup>2c</sup>	165.1	176.6

<sup>1</sup>Whole teas, <sup>2</sup>Bagged teas.

# 7.4.3 Sugar release

At 20 min into the duodenal phase of digestion, green tea significantly suppressed RDS release of white bread to 253.83 mg/ g bread sample when compared to white tea and the control bread (p < 0.05; Figure 7.1). Black tea showed no significant effect on sugar release at this time point. In all teas, there was a non-significant trend to increase SDS release compared to the control.



Figure 7.1 Sugar release from bread samples, when digested alongside either no tea (control), black, green or white tea.

\*p < 0.05 = significant reduction in sugar release compared to control white bread. Values reported as mg sugar released/g bread sample. Each patterned bar represents different stages of digestion, with 20, 60 and 120 min = intestinal stages of digestion. Values represent mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM) of three independent experiments.

#### 7.5 Discussion

#### 7.5.1 Polyphenol content

Of the bagged teas, the black tea had the lowest polyphenol content. The different methods of processing and production impact the polyphenol content of the resultant teas. Total black tea polyphenols decrease during fermentation, and the longer tea is subjected to processing, the lower the polyphenol content (Astill *et al.*, 2001). Turkman *et al.* (2006) found that black tea polyphenol content as measured by FCR reached a maximum of 131.9 mg GAE/ g tea extract compared to the 87.9 GAE/ g in the current study indicating that the polyphenol content of the same tea can vary widely.

The green tea infusion was shown to have more overall reducing power than both black tea and white tea. The production process used in black tea results in the formation of theaflavins. Theaflavins in black tea are dimers of catechins and contain more hydroxyl groups in their structure. In green tea, catechins remain dominant. This could in part explain the differences in reducing potential between black tea and green tea (Astill *et al.*, 2001).

There has been very little research to date on the polyphenol content and health effects of white tea. Rusak *et al.* (2008) found that green tea was a richer source of polyphenols than white tea and the current study supports this. They also found that the concentration of catechins was significantly higher in green tea leaves than white tea leaves.

Ryan and Carolan (2011) found that green teas varied in their polyphenol content, ranging from 250 - 750 mg GAE/ tea bag. They also found that both the structure of the tea bag and the infusion time influenced the polyphenol content of the teas. FCR values in the current study were slightly lower than those found by Ryan and Carolan (2011), averaging 115.5 mg GAE/ g tea bag. Rusak *et al.* (2008) found that extraction of catechins from green tea was affected by the form of tea used, with extraction from loose green tea leaves being more effective than from refined bagged tea leaves. However, the form of the tea did not affect white tea catechins. Greater tea bag size results in tea solids diffusing into
solution faster because of the larger surface area available in which the contents can diffuse (Astill *et al.*, 2001). The material of the tea bag can also have an impact on polyphenol diffusion. In the current study, tea bag infusion time and stirring/ squeezing of the tea bags were kept constant for all three teas. Tea bags were different weights, the black tea bag weighing more than both white tea and green tea. Weights were however corrected for upon calculations.

Of the whole teas analysed, 'Kagoshima Sencha' had a significantly higher polyphenol content compared to the other teas. This was the only whole tea that had a higher polyphenol content than any of the bagged teas. Whole teas tend to be more compacted and have undergone much less processing than bagged teas. Unpublished data from our laboratory indicate that the grinding of leaves to form the bagged teas has the effect of releasing polyphenols and this may in part explain the higher polyphenol content in the bagged teas. Overall, all teas were shown to be good sources of polyphenols.

#### 7.5.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

The *in vitro* digestion model enables the measurement of polyphenols potentially available for absorption after the gastric and duodenal phases of digestion. Bioaccessibility refers to the proportion of polyphenols which are presented to the brush border for absorption after digestion and gives some indication as to their potential bioavailability *in vivo*. In the current study, polyphenol bioaccessibility increased in all teas from baseline to gastric phases suggesting that the polyphenols in these teas may become more available in humans after consumption. The bioaccessibility increase from baseline to gastric phase was similar for both bagged and whole teas. The compact and relatively unprocessed nature of the whole teas resulted in a lower polyphenol content at baseline. However, the bioaccessibility increases suggest that the digestive enzymes can further release polyphenols from the tea infusion. Green *et al.* (2007) looked at the effect of *in vitro* digestion specifically on catechins in green tea and found that catechins had less than 20% recovery after *in vitro* digestion. However, the current study, with the exception of white bagged tea, the bioaccessibility decreased slightly from gastric to duodenal phases in bagged teas. However, at the duodenal stage values still remained above baseline for all tea varieties. This decrease may be due to the increase in pH during the duodenal phase. Rusak *et al.* (2008) showed that the form of tea, either loose or bagged did not affect white tea catechin stability. Therefore, compounds in white tea may be more stable, and thus less susceptible to degradation compared to those in the other teas.

#### 7.5.3 Starch digestion and sugar release

Green tea was the only tea shown to significantly reduce sugar release from white bread. This is a promising finding in that green tea may reduce the RDS of starch rich foods such as bread. However, tea polyphenols have been shown to reduce starch retrogradation. Wu *et al.* (2009) found that increased levels of added purified polyphenols (50% EGCG) resulted in decreased retrogradation for resistant starch in rice. From these results it was predicted that the hydroxyl radical of tea polyphenols combined with rice starch to form hydrogen bonds, preventing the re-association of the starch chains.

In the current study, white tea had no significant effect on sugar release, although there was a slight increase compared to the control bread. Certain polyphenols or other compounds in white tea may be responsible for interfering with the natural chemical bonds in the bread, therefore rendering the starch more susceptible to degradation. White tea polyphenols were shown to be the most stable throughout digestion, and therefore they may have a greater impact on starch than those polyphenols which are degraded more readily.

Different teas contain different polyphenols, and therefore it is plausible that each tea may have a different effect on sugar release. Teas were used at low concentrations in this study, i.e. one tea bag per infusion. Therefore, green tea at low concentrations reduces sugar release from starch samples, whereas white tea at a low dose seems to have the opposite effect. Teas were made as infusions and then added to bread samples at the baseline phase of digestion, whereas other studies have baked tea into breads or looked at the effect of purified tea polyphenol rich extracts. Also, because bread was chopped to fine particle size before *in vitro* digestion, the starch digestibility may have been increased compared to if bread was not chopped and thus contained larger particle sizes (Edwards *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, different study designs may account for variability in study results. However, what can be seen is that different types of tea do have an effect on starch breakdown and sugar release from breads.

Unpublished data from our laboratory found that GR increased over 180 min following the consumption of white bread with added black tea extract in comparison to eating white bread alone. A more pronounced effect was also seen when a tea infusion was consumed alongside the white bread and the time taken for this combination to exert its peak GR was prolonged compared to either the control bread or the bread with tea extract added. However, Koh *et al.* (2010) found black tea to reduce starch digestion, yet found no effect with green or oolong tea. In the current study, each tea was presented as an infusion alongside bread during digestion and the black tea infusion had no significant effect on sugar release

from bread. The form in which the black tea is used, the preparation method and the concentration used, may all be factors to account for the variation in results between studies.

Deshpande and Salunke (1982) found that in isolation tannic acid and catechins decreased *in vitro* digestibility of various types of starch sources. Also, Bjork and Nyman (1987) found that phytic acid and tannic acid reduced starch hydrolysis in the digestive tract. However, isolated polyphenols may have a different effect on starch digestion compared to phenolics in combination. For example, green tea is one of the richest sources of phenolic compounds and includes catechins such as EGCG, procyanidins and quercetin (Neveu *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, a combination of the phenolics in tea may have synergistic effects, either enhancing or reducing the degree of starch breakdown and sugar release compared to isolated catechins or tannins (Conte *et al.*, 2003; Morre & Morre, 2006). The reason for the reduction in sugar release seen in the current study may be because of the structural bonding of the green tea polyphenols with starch molecules. Both black tea and green tea contain conjugate forms of catechins, and these compounds may interfere with the way in which starch is broken down. Therefore, future research could look into accessing the polyphenol profile of the different teas to determine which polyphenols have an effect on reducing starch breakdown.

Tea polyphenols may have an inhibitory effect on digestive enzymes such as  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase. Black tea and to a lesser extent green tea were shown to inhibit  $\alpha$ -amylase in human saliva and removal of tea tannins resulted in loss of the inhibitory activity (Zhang & Kashket, 1998). Hara and Honda (1990) found that both catechins and theaflavins inhibited salivary  $\alpha$ -amylase and whilst, various teas differed in the extent of inhibitory activity, black tea showed consistently greater inhibitory activity. Kwon *et al.* (2008) found that black tea and white tea showed almost a 40% inhibition of  $\alpha$ -amylase, with green tea showing only a 30% inhibition. They also found black and white tea to have a higher  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitory activity than green and oolong teas. At higher concentrations of polyphenols, {50 µg GAE/ mL, 100 µg GAE/ mL and 200 µg GAE/ mL}  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibition was increased in all teas. Although enzyme inhibition was not tested in the current study, a future area of study is to investigate the effect of tea polyphenols on digestive enzymes.

Finally, it should be noted that many studies evaluating the GR to foods contain the addition of tea or coffee in their test meals. Based on the current results and on previous studies, the polyphenols in tea may affect blood glucose, thus affecting the results of the test foods studied. It is important that when testing foods for different effects on disease parameters, the combination of ingredients is considered. A single food in isolation may have different effects on GR than that food with an additional tea beverage.

73

### 7.6 Conclusion

Tea is a commonly consumed beverage throughout the world, with different teas varying in their polyphenol profile and their total polyphenol content. This study was the first to look at the bioaccessibility of white tea, and it is hypothesised that tea polyphenols may show greater bioavailability in the body after digestion. Green tea reduced the amount of starch breakdown when consumed alongside bread, and therefore may show potential for reducing the amount of sugars available for absorption in the body. Therefore, teas are a rich source of accessible polyphenols and may show potential in reducing risk factors associated with certain metabolic disease states such as diabetes.

### 7.7 Publication

Coe S, Fraser A & Ryan L (2013) Polyphenol bioaccessibility and sugar reducing capacity of black, green, and white teas, *International Journal of Food Science*; available at <u>http://www.hindawi.com/journals/ijfs/2013/238216/</u>.

#### 8. The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.) reduces starch digestion in vitro.

#### 8.1 Summary

The baobab fruit (*Adansonia digitata* L.) is found throughout regions of Africa and is becoming increasingly recognised for its high micronutrient and polyphenol content. Fruits rich in polyphenols and antioxidants have shown benefits for metabolic parameters including their effect on reducing the postprandial GR. In the current study six extracts of baobab fruit were measured for their total antioxidant and polyphenol content and also for their bioaccessibility throughout *in vitro* digestion. The extracts included: five different extracts of baobab fruit donated from five different geographical locations in Africa and one commercially purchased baobab fruit extract (sample 6, Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita, London, UK; Holland & Barrett, UK). The commercial sample of baobab fruit extract powder was then baked into white bread at different doses, to determine the optimal dose for reducing starch breakdown and sugar release. Results showed that all six extracts were good sources of bioaccessible antioxidants and polyphenols. Baobab fruit extract added to white bread at 1.88% was the optimal dose for significantly (p < 0.05) reducing RDS from white bread. Therefore, the polyphenol rich baobab fruit may be a potential functional ingredient for reducing the GI of starch rich foods.

#### 8.2 Introduction

Africa is abundant in novel plant species known to be rich in health promoting compounds, many of which remain undiscovered or unused by western society (Lamien-Meda *et al.*, 2008). The baobab tree, *Adansonia digitata* L., is widely distributed throughout Sub - Saharan Africa and Western Madagascar and has many uses, including but not limited to its use in medicine, food and beverages (Diop *et al.*, 2006; Gebauer *et al.*, 2002). This fruit is of increasing nutritional interest because it may be a significant contributor to the daily intake of important nutrient and non-nutrient compounds (Nour *et al.*, 1980). Many studies have confirmed the baobab fruit pulp to rich in vitamins and minerals (De Caluwe *et al.*, 2010; Gebauer *et al.*, 2002; Osman, 2004; Oyelek *et al.*, 2012) and to contain a high amount of both soluble and insoluble dietary fibre (Arnold *et al.*, 2012).

*al.*, 1985; De Caluwe *et al.*, 2010; Gebauer *et al.*, 2002; Magaia *et al.*, 2013; Osman, 2004; Oyelek *et al.*, 2012). This fruit is high in Vitamin C which contributes to its overall antioxidant capacity (Besco *et al.*, 2007; Blomhoff *et al.*, 2010; Gruenwald, 2009; Lamien-Meda *et al.*, 2008; Vertuani *et al.*, 2002), and is a good source of polyphenols, including certain flavonoids (Lamien-Meda *et al.*, 2008; Mulaudzi *et al.*, 2011) and tannins (Ghani & Agebejule, 1986).

As mentioned previously, polyphenols are thought to have a reducing effect on starch digestion in foods (Desphande & Salunke, 1982; Yoon *et al.*, 1983). Yoon *et al.* (1983) investigated the effect of phytic acid on starch digestibility *in vitro* and *in vivo*. When phytic acid was added to raw wheat starch, using an *in vitro* digestion model it was found that the addition of phytic acid directly after the salivary phase decreased sugar liberation. In addition, the higher the concentration of phytic acid added to a food in healthy people, the lower the GI of the food being consumed. Fruit extracts are rich in both polyphenols and fibre, with the baobab fruit extract powder containing around 30g of insoluble fibre and 30g of soluble fibre/ 100g extract. Foods rich in soluble fibre have been shown beneficial for altering the degree of starch breakdown in a food and for managing blood glucose levels (Cavallero *et al.*, 2002; Thondre & Henry, 2009). Therefore, polyphenols and/or the fibre in various fruit extracts such as the baobab fruit extract, and its overall potential for reducing starch breakdown from white bread *in vitro*. It was hypothesised that the baobab fruit would be a rich source of antioxidants and polyphenols and these compounds in addition to the fibre content of the extract would reduce the starch digestion from white bread.

The specific objectives of the present study were:

- 1. To analyse the antioxidant and polyphenol content, and the polyphenol bioaccessibility of six baobab extracts.
- 2. To test the commercially purchased extract for its effect on starch breakdown and resulting sugar release from white bread samples at different doses.

8.3 Methods and Materials

8.3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade and were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK). The extracts included: five different extracts of baobab fruit donated from five different geographical locations in Africa (samples 1-5) and one commercially purchased baobab fruit extract (sample 6, Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita, London, UK; Holland & Barrett, UK). A total of six extracts were selected in order to test for variability in polyphenol content and bioaccessibility between extract locations. The commercially available extract was the only extract used for the remaining *in vitro* sugar release and contained the following ingredients per 100g: 170 kcal, <1 g total fat, 78g total carbohydrate, 1.8g protein, 30g soluble fibre, 30g insoluble fibre, 14g total sugars, 0.6mg Vitamin B1, 0.03mg Vitamin B2, 300mg Vitamin C, 2500mg potassium, 350mg calcium, 2mg iron, 148mg magnesium, 0.5mg sodium.



Figure 8.1 Commercial baobab (sample 6, Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita, London, UK; Holland & Barrett, UK)

#### 8.3.2 Study protocol

Each sample was weighed out at 500mg and added to a 50 mL solution of  $dH_20$ . All tests were carried out on a minimum of three separate occasions and samples were analysed in triplicate for each test.

### 8.3.3 Ferric-ion reducing antioxidant power (FRAP)

Samples from six baobab extracts were analysed using the FRAP method adapted from Benzie and Strain (1996). The FRAP reagent was prepared from acetate buffer 300 mM, pH 3.6 (3.1g sodium acetate trihydrate and 16 mL glacial acetic acid made up to 1 L water), TPTZ 10 mM HCl (3.4 mL HCl made to final volume 1 L dH<sub>2</sub>0) and ferric chloride FeCl<sub>3</sub> \*  $6H_20$  20 mM (5.406 g/ L dH<sub>2</sub>0) in a 10:1:1 ratio. The FRAP assay was performed by warming 1 mL of dH<sub>2</sub>0 to 37 °C before adding 25 µL of sample and 1 mL of reagent. The tubes were then placed in a water bath at 37 °C for 4 min. Absorbance was measured after the 4 min at 593 nm, with each standard and sample measured against the blank. The FRAP value was then calculated in µmol/ L against a standard of ferrous sulphate (1000 µM).

### 8.3.4 FCR

The polyphenol content of the six baobab extracts was analysed using the FCR method (Sharma & Gujral, 2010), as previously described in section 7.3.3.

### 8.3.5 Bioaccessibility of baobab polyphenols

Samples from six baobab fruit extracts were analysed using an *in vitro* digestion model adapted from Ryan *et al.* (2008) as previously described in section 7.3.4. Samples were frozen ay -20°C until analysis.

### 8.3.6 Measurement of sugar release

The effect of baobab fruit extract on the inhibition of starch breakdown was determined. Bread was used as the starch source. This was achieved by performing a dose-response using different concentrations of baobab fruit extract baked into bread at 1.25%, 1.88%, 2.50%, 3.13% and 3.75%, and then subjecting samples to an *in vitro* digestion procedure and measuring the resultant reducing sugars released.

### 8.3.7 Bread preparation

White bread dough was made to a recipe as in Table 8.1. The dough was then baked in a *Russell Hobbs* bread maker (model no: 18036, Manchester, UK) for a total of 3 hours and 20 min. When adding the baobab fruit extract powder (sample 6, Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita,

London, UK) to the white breads, the flour and water content were altered in order to keep the overall weight of the loaf at 500g. Percentages were calculated based on the entire 500g loaf.

Ingredients/ weights	Baobab % used per g bread (500g)	Baobab % used per g CHO <sup>2</sup>
190g warm tap water	1.25%	2.70%
1 tbsp virgin olive oil	1.88%	4.07%
1 tsp salt	2.50%	5.46%
1 tbsp sugar	3.13%	6.87%
1 tbsp dried milk powder	3.75%	8.30%
1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> tsp yeast		

Table 8.1 Ingredients used to make white bread with added baobab<sup>1</sup>

350g strong white flour

<sup>1</sup> Expressed as percentage per 500g loaf. Values also expressed as baobab percentage per g of available carbohydrate. <sup>2</sup> avCHO= total available carbohydrate. Baobab extract was added into breads and water and flour content were altered in order to keep overall loaf weights at 500g after baking.

### 8.3.8 In vitro digestion

The *in vitro* digestion procedure by Mishra *et al.* (2008) was as previously described in section 7.3.7. Samples of the bread were prepared by weighing 2.5g and placing each into 60 mL specimen pots. A volume of 30 mL of dH<sub>2</sub>O (compared to tea sample in previous section) was added to each bread sample.

# 8.3.9 Analysis of reducing sugars released during digestion

Sugar released from the bread during digestion was measured by a colorimetric method adapted from Englyst and Hudson (1987), as previously described in 7.3.8. Previous studies have shown that the *in vitro* analysis of RDS can be correlated to the GR *in vivo* (Englyst *et al.*, 1999).

### 8.3.10 Statistical analysis

The *in vitro* analysis experiments were carried out three times with a minimum of three replicates of each sample. Comparisons between samples were carried out by an ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test, and statistical analysis was performed using SPSS, version 17. Results were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM and significance was set at p < 0.05.

### 8.4 Results

## 8.4.1 Antioxidant and polyphenol content

Baobab samples 3, 4 and 6 had a significantly (p < 0.05) greater antioxidant and polyphenol content than samples 1, 2 and 5, as measured by both FRAP and FCR (Table 8.2), respectively.

Baobab	$FCR^1 (mg G.A.E./g)^3$	$FRAP^2 (\mu mol/L)^3$
1	$24.94 \pm 0.32$	$1755.07 \pm 28.3$
2	$21.85 \pm 0.27$	$1666.79 \pm 23.5$
3	$27.58 \pm 0.20*$	$2093.76 \pm 61.4*$
4	$26.95 \pm 0.26*$	2121.56 ± 44.8*
5	$24.68 \pm 0.33$	$1844.02 \pm 43.7$
6	$28.85 \pm 0.47*$	2167.68 ± 52.9*

Table 8.2 FCR and FRAP values for baobab samples 1-6 at baseline, before in vitro digestion.

<sup>1</sup> FCR=Folin-Ciocalteu assay

<sup>2</sup> FRAP=Ferric reducing antioxidant power assay

<sup>3</sup> Values reported in  $\mu$ mol/L relative to ferrous sulphate (1000  $\mu$ M) and gallic acid equivalents (G.A.E.)/g sample. Samples 3, 4 and 6 were significantly higher in polyphenols and antioxidant content than samples 1, 2 and 5; \*p< 0.05. Values represent means ± SEM of three independent experiments.

#### 8.4.2 Polyphenol bioaccessibility

Polyphenol content as measured by the FCR method significantly increased throughout digestion in all samples (p < 0.05; Table 8.3) compared to the baseline polyphenol content.

Baobab	Gastric (%)	Duodenal (%)	
1	270.8	330.6	
2	293.0	361.2	
3	222.5	274.5	
4	239.7	292.0	
5	252.2	299.4	
6	223.9	269.1	

**Table 8.3** Bioaccessibility of the polyphenol content after the Gastric and Duodenal phases of digestion, measured using the Folin-Ciocalteu assay.

All samples showed increased bioaccessibility of polyphenols at the gastric and duodenal phase compared to the baseline phase, \*p < 0.05. Values expressed as percentage increase from baseline. Values are results from three independent experiments.

# 8.4.3 Sugar release

The addition of baobab to white bread at 1.88%, 3.13% and 3.75% significantly (p < 0.05) reduced sugar release compared to the control white bread at 20 min (RDS) and 60 min into intestinal digestion (Figure 8.2). There was no significant difference in the SDS calculated values between any samples.



Baobab concetration in white bread

Figure 8.2 Sugar release in mg/g bread sample for each bread containing different concentrations of baobab extract, expressed as percentages at

### each stage of digestion.

p<0.05 denotes significant decrease in sugar release compared to control white bread (no added baobab extract). Percentages of baobab were calculated with baobab extract added into white bread to make a total loaf weight of 500g. Each patterned bar represents different stages of digestion, with 20, 60 and 120 min = intestinal stages of digestion. Values represent means ± SEM of three independent experiments.

## 8.5 Discussion

## 8.5.1 Polyphenol content and bioaccessibility

The antioxidant content of each sample was measured using FRAP and the high antioxidant potential was in agreement with previous studies, which used various methods of antioxidant detection (Besco *et al.*, 2007; Blomhoff *et al.*, 2010; Gruenwald, 2009; Lamien-Meda *et al.*, 2008;

Vertuani *et al.*, 2002). All baobab fruit extracts were shown to be good sources of polyphenols, with the commercial extract (sample 6) being the most concentrated polyphenol extract out of the total six extracts. The donated extracts (1-5) were kept in clear plastic bags, which may have been subjected to more air and light oxidation than the commercial extract which was in a solid dark container. Therefore, some of the polyphenols in the clear bags may have been destroyed before analysis. The antioxidant content of fruits and fruit extracts has been shown to be correlated with the amount of total polyphenols (Soon & Barlow, 2005; Tzulker *et al.*, 2007), and this was also found in the current study. It has previously been found that the bioaccessibility of phenolics increases throughout digestion (Ryan & Prescott, 2010; Wootton-Beard *et al.*, 2011). The bioaccessibility of polyphenols in the current study increased throughout the digestive process, with approximately a three-fold increase in polyphenol concentration between the baseline and duodenal phase.

### 8.5.2 Starch breakdown and sugar release from bread

In this study, there was a significant reduction in sugar release at 20 and 60 min into the duodenal phase of digestion in the 1.88% and also the higher concentrated baobab-white breads (excluding 2.5%), compared to control white breads. Although polyphenols have been shown to reduce sugar release from starch rich foods (Desphande & Salunke, 1982; Yoon *et al.*, 1983) other studies have shown an increase in starch digestibility with added polyphenols (Wu *et al.*, 2009). There are a few hypotheses that may account for the decrease observed in the baobab breads. Polymeric polyphenols are usually not absorbed to any significant extent, and thus they have potential to bind to starch molecules in foods, slowing the rate of starch breakdown (Gonthier *et al.*, 2003). Baobab is rich in compounds such as high molecular weight tannins (Ghani & Agbejule, 1986) which may be interfering with starch degradation. The polyphenols in the extract may be inhibiting digestive enzymes such as a amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, thereby preventing the breakdown of starch (McDougall & Stewart, 2005). However the exact polyphenol composition of the baobab fruit is currently unknown and further work is required to understand how these polyphenols may be exerting their effect.

The soluble fibre in the extract may also be contributing to a reduction in sugar release, as fibre has continuously been shown to reduce postprandial glycaemia (Wolever, 2006, Brennan, 2005; Kwong *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2002; Vosloo, 2005). In the current study, soluble fibre mostly in the form of pectin, from baobab may have formed a viscous solution reducing the rate of starch breakdown and sugar release into solution. Also, the polyphenols may also be major contributing factors to the reduced GR in carbohydrate-rich foods such as oats (Thondre *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2005; Vosloo, 2005).

2011). Thondre *et al.* (2011) found oats to have a significant amount of polyphenols with a negative correlation between polyphenol content and RDS (-0.743). However, in this study there was no correlation between fibre content and the digestibility of the starch in oats and therefore it was the polyphenols of the oats contributing to the reduced sugar release. The reduction in sugar release after consumption of baobab fruit extract in the current study may therefore be partly due to the polyphenols in the extract.

It should be noted that only one parameter, sugar release, was measured in this study. Polyphenols do not only bind to molecules in foods, yet can act as unbound entities. Polysaccharides in the cell wall of plants have been found to form bonds with polyphenols (Le Bourvellec *et al.*, 2004). Charmorro *et al.* (2012) found that adding pectinase and tannase to grape seed extract and grape pomace increased not only the release of sugar from the polysaccharide rich cell walls, yet also increased release of polyphenols. Therefore, unbound polyphenols have the potential to be absorbed where they can modulate specific cellular processes in the body. In this study the vast majority of fates that polyphenols may have are not being considered.

Although the reduction of RDS is important, the resultant increase in SDS is another factor to consider, as it produces a gradual increase in postprandial blood glucose levels (Jenkins *et al.*, 1978). This is important because polyphenols can affect both the early and late stages of digestion. For example, berries have been shown to reduce concentrations of glucose in the blood in the early phase and increase concentrations in the later phase of digestion (Torronen *et al.*, 2010). It was concluded that the proanthocyanidins and other phenols in the berries may be reducing the rate of digestion and/ or absorption from the digestive tract, with the peak glucose increment also reduced. Therefore, even if polyphenol extracts cannot produce an overall reduction in total sugar release, they may still have to potential to reduce the rapid release of sugar. However, the method used by Englyst and Hudson (1987) may have limitations in regards to the amylolysis of starch material as it uses a first order kinetics model with a single digestibility constant. A new method developed by Butterworth *et al.* (2012) which involves two first order kinetic equations that differ in the digetibility rate constant, takes into account the reduced rate of stach digestibility in the later stages of digestion and may therefore be a more accurate predictor of starch digestibility.

### 8.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, this is a novel study as no other study to date has looked at the effect of exogenously added baobab fruit extract on sugar release *in vitro*. The baobab fruit is a rich source of bioaccessible polyphenols and the current study shows the potential of baobab for reducing the GR to carbohydrate-rich foods. Future studies would need to assess enzyme inhibition to determine the effect of baobab fruit on amylase activity, and also the individual polyphenol content of the samples to determine the methods by which baobab reduces starch digestion and potentially the GR.

### 8.7 Publications

Coe S & Ryan L (2012) Polyphenol content and in vitro bioaccessibility of six baobab fruit extracts, Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 71, E26.

Coe S, Clegg M, Armengol M & Ryan L (2013) The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (*Adansonia digitata* L.) reduces starch digestion and glycemic response in humans, *Nutrition Research*, **33**, 888-896.

#### 9. The effect of polyphenol rich extracts in isolation and in combination, on sugar release from various starch rich foods in vitro.

#### 9.1 Summary

Foods rich in polyphenols have been shown to modify starch digestion from carbohydrate rich foods and lower resulting glycaemia. Several factors may influence the potential of polyphenols for reducing starch breakdown, such as the source under study and/ or the combination of polyphenolic compounds used. An *in vitro* dose-response analysis was performed to determine the optimal dose of three extracts, green tea extract (GTE), grape seed extract (GSE) and resveratrol (RES), for reducing RDS from white bread. These same doses were then measured in other starch foods, and were also tested in combination in white bread, and resulting RDS was measured. All extracts were found to reduce sugar release from white bread at optimal doses (p < 0.05). However, there was no significant effect on sugar release for any of the extracts when they were baked into flat bread or gluten free bread at the same doses used in white bread, nor when extracts were baked into white bread in combination. Therefore, this study highlights the potential of plant extracts for reducing starch breakdown from white bread, thus potentially reducing the GI of the bread.

## 9.2 Introduction

Polyphenols are well known for their health benefits including their potential in reducing risk factors of diabetes. Extracts from plant foods including Amla fruit extract (Akhtar *et al.*, 2011), whortleberry fruit extract (Kianbakht *et al.*, 2013), cinnamon extract (Lu *et al.*, 2012) and Sajabalssuk extract (Cho *et al.*, 2012) have been shown to improve blood glucose control in humans. Plant extracts contain a wide range of health compounds including polyphenols, which can be absorbed into the blood and exert their effects at the cellular level. Also current research is discovering the potential of certain metabolites for reducing postprandial glycaemia by inhibiting and/ or prolonging digestion in the intestinal tract when consumed with a carbohydrate rich source (Chai *et al.*, 2013; Sapwarobol *et al.*, 2012). For example, polyphenols have been shown to inhibit the digestive enzymes  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase thereby preventing enzyme attack on starch chains (Sapwarobol *et al.*, 2012) and have

been found to form complexes with amylose chains interfering with the amylose recrystallization and thus reducing their degradation (Chai *et al.*, 2013). White bread is a commonly consumed food with a high GI value, and is therefore able to induce a large increase in postprandial blood glucose and insulin levels. The addition of plant extracts to certain carbohydrate rich foods such as bread may reduce the GI, therefore reducing the resulting GR.

Some polyphenols and polyphenol rich extracts have shown more potential than others for improving various health parameters, specifically for diabetes control. For example, at a concentration of 22.4 mg/kg/day, resveratrol was found to normalise glycaemia and insulinaemia in mice fed a high-fat diet over a six month period (Baur *et al.*, 2006). Wu *et al.* (2004) found that green tea polyphenols increased insulin stimulated glucose uptake of adipocytes and therefore increased insulin sensitivity in rats. Forester *et al.* (2012) found that the administration of 100 mg/ kg body weight of EGCG to mice after the consumption of corn starch modulated amylase-mediated starch digestion and reduced postprandial blood glucose levels. Red and white wines have shown a positive correlation between total soluble phenolics and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitory activity, with black, green, oolong and white tea were all shown to have high  $\alpha$ -glucosidase inhibitory activities (Kwon *et al.*, 2008).

There are many foods and beverages rich in polyphenols, with two or more classes of polyphenols found in a single source. For example, grapes and red wine are rich in polyphenols including the anthocyanins, catechins and quercetin and the stilbene resveratrol (Neveu, 2010). As mentioned previously, green tea contains compounds such as catechins, EGCG, procyanidin and quercetin. Much research to date has focused on isolated polyphenols and their effect on health parameters. However, because foods are found to contain more than one polyphenol type, these naturally occurring polyphenols may have synergistic effects. For example, polyphenols have been found to synergistically benefit markers of cancer. Grape extract was found to work synergistically with decaffeinated green tea extract by inhibiting cancer cell growth and inhibiting tumor-associated nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide (NOX) activity (Morre & Morre 2006). Based on previous studies, it was hypothesised that polyphenol rich extracts both in isolation and in combination, would reduce sugar release from various starch rich foods.

The aims of this study were:

1. To perform a doses response analysis to determine the optimal dose of GTE, GSE and RES for reducing sugar release from high GI white bread.

- 2. To assess the sugar reducing capacity of optimal doses of isolated extracts in other starch systems such as gluten free bread, flat bread and English style pancakes.
- 3. To determine if polyphenol rich extracts show a synergistic effect in reducing sugar release from white bread.
- 9.3 Methods

## 9.3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals and reagents were of analytical grade and were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK). The extracts included: GTE, GSE and RES (Biotivia®, UK). The polyphenol content and optimal dose of baobab fruit extract (BAO; Holland & Barrett, UK) for reducing sugar release from white bread was determined from previous results (Section 8). All bread ingredients were purchased from Tesco supermarket, UK. Extract compositions are given in Table 9.1.

Extract	Contents
Green Tea Extract	315mg green tea extract (Camellia sinensis, standardized to contain 15%
(Holland & Barrett, UK)	polyphenols), maltodextrin, bulking agent (dicalcium phosphate), anti-caking agents (silicon dioxide, magnesium stearate)
Grape Seed Extract	50mg grape seed extract (standardised to contain 50% proanthocyanidins,
(Holland & Barrett, UK)	25mg), Citrus bioflavonoids 500mg, (from 250mg of 2:1 concentrate), rice powder, lactose, maltodextrin, anti-caking agents (silicon dioxide, magnesium stearate, stearic acid)
Trans-Resveratrol	Japanese knotweed (polygonum cuspidatum), dried rhizome extract (Biotivia®,
(Biotivia®, UK)	UK) containing 50% trans-resveratrol, 2% emodin, hydroxypropyl methylcellulose, colour copper complex of chlorophyll and chlorophyllins

Table 9.1 Contents, ingredients and bioactives in each extract tested

Contents based on per capsule amount.

#### 9.3.2 Study protocol

All extracts were prepared using standard protocol. Extract samples were weighed: 250mg GSE, 100mg RES and 50mg GTE, and then added to 50 mL of  $dH_20$ . Weights were determined by the level of detection in the FCR assay.

## 9.3.3 FRAP

Samples of three plant extracts were analysed using the FRAP method adapted from Benzie and Strain (1996), as previously described 8.3.3.

#### 9.3.4 FCR

The polyphenol content of GTE, GSE and RES was analysed using the FCR method (Sharma & Gujral, 2010) as previously described in 7.3.3.

### 9.3.5 Bioaccessibility of plant extracts

Samples from three plant extracts were analysed using an *in vitro* digestion model adapted from Ryan et al. (2008) as previously described 7.3.4.

### 9.3.6 Measurement of sugar release

The effect of polyphenols on the inhibition of starch breakdown was determined. This was achieved by subjecting samples of bread with added polyphenol extracts to an *in vitro* digestion procedure, and measuring the resultant reducing sugars released at various phases throughout duodenal digestion.

### 9.3.7 Dose-response

A dose-response was performed using a range of extract concentrations to determine the lowest concentration of each extract that could significantly reduce RDS from white bread with percentages given based on a 500g loaf (Table 9.2). The optimal dose of BAO was previously determined in our lab (Coe *et al.*, 2013; Section 8).

GTE	GSE	RES	$BAO^{\dagger}$	
0.2	$0.2^{*}$	$0.22^{*}$	1.25	
0.4*	0.4	0.44	1.88*	
0.6	0.6	0.66	2.50	
0.8	0.8	0.88	3.13	
1.0	1.0		3.75	
1.2	1.2			
1.4	1.4			
1.6	1.6			
1.8				
2.0				
2.2				

Table 9.2 Doses of each extract (as a %) analysed for reducing sugar release from white bread.

\*=optimal dosage for reducing sugar release (p<0.05). Values represent the percentage (%) of the extract baked into a 500g loaf. GTE, green tea extract; GSE, grape seed extract; RES, resveratrol; BAO, baobab fruit extract. Sugar release was measured in mg/ g of bread sample.

<sup>†</sup>Baobab results found from previous results in our lab (Coe *et al.*, 2013).

9.3.8 Optimal doses added to other starch foods

The optimal doses of each extract found for reducing sugar release from white bread, was added at the same percentage (%) to both white flat bread and white gluten free bread. Resulting sugar release was then measured. Pancakes were also considered as a potential starch source, yet due to their low amount of sugar release measured *in vitro*, they were excluded from this study.

## 9.3.9 Bread preparation

White bread, flat bread and gluten free bread were made to recipe as in Table 9.3. Flat bread was made by mixing flour and polyphenol extracts before adding water. Dough was rolled flat and cooked in a large oiled frying pan for about 3 min, with occasional flipping. White bread and gluten free bread were made in a Russell Hobbs bread maker (model no:18036, Manchester, UK).

White bread (500 g)	Flat bread (70.5 g)	Gluten free bread (750 g)	
190 g warm water	100 g plain white flour	350 g warm water	
1 tbsp virgin olive oil	75 ml cold water	1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> tbsp virgin olive oil	
1 tsp salt		<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> tsp salt	
1 tbsp sugar		1 tbsp sugar	
1 tbsp dried milk powder		400 g gluten free bread mix <sup>1</sup>	
350 g strong white flour		1 tsp yeast	
1 <sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> tsp yeast			
2 g GTE (0.4%)	0.282 g GTE (0.4%)	3 g GTE (0.4%)	
1 g GSE (0.2%)	0.141 g GSE (0.2%)	1.5 g GSE (0.2%)	
1.1 g RES (0.22%)	0.155 g RES (0.22%)	1.65 g RES (0.22%)	
9.375 g BAO (1.88%)	1.325 g BAO (1.88%)	14 g BAO (1.88%)	

Table 9.3 Ingredients and amounts used to make each bread (based on the control for each bread).

<sup>1</sup>=flour contents were altered when extracts were added into bread, in order to keep overall weights of breads (in grams) the same as control breads. This consisted of subtracting weight of extract from control flour weight to determine new flour weight. % based on optimal doses of extracts found for reducing

sugar release after being baked into white bread. Gluten free bread contained flour blend (rice, potato and tapioca), xanthan gum (Doves Farm brand). tbsp=tablespoon, tsp=teaspoon, g=grams, GTE=green tea extract, GSE=grape seed extract, RES=resveratrol and BAO=baobab fruit extract.

GTE, GSE, RES and BAO were added immediately before the baking process was initiated. When adding extracts to the breads, the flour content was altered in order to keep the overall weight of each bread the same as the control bread. This was achieved by subtracting the extract weight in grams from the flour weight in grams, to determine the new flour weight with added extract. All bread samples were baked the night before, sealed at room temperature in plastic containers overnight and tested the following morning.

#### 9.3.10 Extracts in combination

The same optimal isolated extract doses for reducing sugar release were then combined in breads and sugar release was measured (with a 75% variation to increase the variety of extract combinations used). The type and amount of each extract used, as a percentage of total bread weight (500g), were as follows: bread 1=0.4 GTE/0.22 RES, 2=0.4 GTE/0.2 GSE, 3=0.4 GTE/1.88 BAO, 4=0.22 RES/1.88 BAO, 5=0.2 GSE/1.88 BAO, 6=0.4 GTE/0.2 GSE/1.88 BAO, 7=0.4 GTE/0.22 RES/1.88 BAO, 8=0.2 GTE/0.11 RES, 9=0.1 GTE/0.055 RES, 10=0.3 GTE/0.165 RES.

#### 9.3.11 In vitro digestion

The in vitro digestion procedure (Mishra et al., 2008) was as previously described in 8.3.8.

#### 9.3.12 Analysis of sugar release

Sugar released from the bread during digestion was measured by a colorimetric method adapted from Englyst and Hudson (1987), as previously described in 7.3.8.

#### 9.3.13 Statistical analysis

All *in vitro* experiments were carried out in triplicate and each had a minimum of two replicates for each sample. The data are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM and comparisons between samples were carried out by an ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test (SPSS, version 17; SPSS Inc., Chicago III). Statistical significance was set at *p* < 0.05.

# 9.4 Results

## 9.4.1 Antioxidant and polyphenol content, and bioaccessibility

The antioxidant content in  $\mu$ mol/ L ± SEM was as follows: GTE 2494.4 ± 77.0  $\mu$ mol/ L, GSE 3361.0 ± 35.5  $\mu$ mol/ L, and RES 3510.5 ± 882.3  $\mu$ mol/ L. The polyphenol content in mg GAE per g of extract ± SEM was as follows: GTE 207.67 ± 2.84 mg/ g, GSE 67.95 ± 0.84 mg/ g and RES 161.96 ± 7.17 mg/ g. There was a trend for the polyphenol bioaccessibility of all extracts to increase following the gastric digestion phase (p < 0.05; Figure 9.1); however the resveratrol extract had a non-significant increase. Values continued to increase (p < 0.05) into the duodenal phase.



**Figure 9.1** % Bioaccessibility of the polyphenol content after the Gastric and Duodenal phases of digestion. \**p*<0.05 = significant increase compared to baseline values. GSE=grape seed extract, GTE=green tea extract, RES=resveratrol.

## 9.4.2 Analysis of sugar release: dose response in white bread

RDS sugar release was significantly reduced (p < 0.05) by the addition of GTE at 0.4%, GSE at 0.2% and RES at 0.22% to white bread compared to the CON (Figure 9.2, Table 9.4). These were the lowest doses to have a significant impact on RDS. There was a shift in the time of sugar release in the bread with all extracts, a greater majority taking place during the 120 min stage of ileal digestion.



Figure 9.2 Sugar release (mg/g sample) throughout digestion for each extract at optimal concentrations in white bread.

\*p<0.05 denotes significant decrease in sugar release compared to control white bread (no added baobab extract). Percentages for each extract were calculated after the addition into white bread to make a total loaf weight of 500g. Each patterned bar represents different stages of digestion, with 20, 60 and 120 min = intestinal stages of digestion. GTE=green tea extract (0.4%), GSE=grape seed extract (0.2%), RES=resveratrol (0.22%). Values represent means of three independent experiments ± SEM.

#### 9.4.3 Flat bread and gluten free bread

There was no reduction in RDS sugar release at any stage of digestion for any of the extracts, in either the flat bread or the gluten free bread, compared to the control (Table 9.4). White bread was shown to have a significantly greater sugar release than either the control flat bread or gluten free bread.

	White bread	SD	Flat bread	SD	Gluten free bread	SD
Extracts						
Control	345.62	69.35	275.32**	61.43	256.84**	42.84
GTE	222.25*	41.19	252.33	37.97	247.78	80.93
GSE	279.47*	44.99	248.22	34.71	230.32	26.11
RES	216.07*	32.97	305.74	48.73	272.14	38.43
BAO	201.96*	39.58	277.08	29.46	266.85	46.79

Table 9.4 Sugar release at 20 minutes into the duodenal phase (RDS) at optimal doses

\*p < 0.05=significant reduction in sugar release compared to the control. \*\*p < 0.05=significantly lower compared to white bread control. Values represent the optimal doses of each extract found for reducing sugar release from white bread and are means of three independent experiments ± standard deviation (SD).

### 9.4.4 Extracts in combination and resulting RDS

For combination breads 1 through 10, there was no significant difference between RDS or SDS values between breads or compared to the control bread (Figure 9.3). When comparing all single and combination extract breads to each other, combination bread 6 (0.4% GTE, 0.2% GSE and 1.88% baobab) had a greater (p < 0.05) RDS than isolated GTE, GSE and RES breads. Although bread 1 (0.4% GTE and 0.22% RES), 3 (0.4% GTE and 1.88% BAO) and 8 (0.2% GTE and 0.11% RES) showed a trend in reducing sugar release, no combination of polyphenols was better at reducing sugar release than any of the optimal doses of isolated polyphenols.



Figure 9.3 Rapidly digestible starch (RDS) sugar release from white bread with combinations of polyphenol extracts.

Doses were based on % of each extract added relative to 500g loaf and represent the optimal doses of each extract found for reducing sugar release from white bread. Values are means of three independent experiments  $\pm$  SEM.

## 9.5 Discussion

### 9.5.1 Bioaccessible polyphenol rich extracts

The GTE and RES extract were rich sources of polyphenols, and although GSE was the least concentrated polyphenol extract it was still considered a rich source of polyphenols. All extracts had increased polyphenol bioaccessibility into the gastric and duodenal phase and therefore become potentially more available in the body throughout digestion.

#### 9.5.2 Dose-response in white bread

Green and black tea extract have been found to reduce starch hydrolysis in wheat rice corn and potato, thought to be due to the interaction of polyphenols with starch structure (Guzar, 2012). In the same study by Guzar (2012), green tea extract was baked into sponge cake at 4%, 6% and 9%, yet only 6% and 9% were found to reduce in *vitro starch* digestibility and therefore different doses of extracts may show varying effects on GI and resulting GR. Results for GTE and also GSE and RES, showed this *in vitro* dose-response dependence in the current study.

An early study by Thompson *et al.* (1984) discovered that polyphenols were negatively correlated to the GR in both healthy and diabetic subjects. This was thought to be in part due to high-molecular weight tannins which have the ability to form complexes with macromolecules under certain digestive conditions (Horvath, 1981). Therefore, highly branched procyanidins found in GSE and GTE may reduce carbohydrate digestion by forming complexes with the starch chains, preventing their breakdown. Also, a high carbohydrate diet supplemented with both 100mg and 300mg of GSE was shown to reduce plasma glucose concentrations at 15 and 30 min after ingestion in healthy subjects, compared to a high carbohydrate control (Sapwarobol *et al.*, 2012). It was thought that the proanthocyanidins in GSE may be inhibiting  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase. The high stability of *Trans* - resveratrol may be the reason for the extract remaining intact and thus having a significant impact on reducing starch digestion (Trela & Waterhouse, 1996).

The polyphenol extracts were baked into bread at low doses, each loaf containing the same amount of polyphenols found in approximately two cups of green tea or a third of a small glass of red wine (Rothwell *et al.*, 2013). Therefore there is little risk of an overdose of polyphenols which would result in adverse effects in the body (Mennen *et al.*, 2005) and also little/ no discernible change to bread quality. Although RES decreased sugar release at all concentrations used in the current study, the change in bread properties at higher concentrations may decrease the sensory acceptability of the loaf.

### 9.5.3 Polyphenol rich extract addition to other starch foods

This study shows that freshly baked white bread has a high RDS value when measured *in vitro*, and therefore confirms the known high GI (approximately 100; Englyst *et al.*, 1999). Flat bread and gluten free bread were shown to have a less pronounced presence of RDS during analysis compared to the control white bread. Although polyphenol rich extracts have the potential to reduce the release of sugars from certain high GI starch rich foods such as white bread, flat bread and gluten free bread were estimated to only have a medium GI value and thus there may not have

100

been as much potential for polyphenols to further lower the GI of these carbohydrate rich breads. The food matrix can affect the starch digestibility from different sources, with factors such as the protein matrix, the compact structure of a food, the starch particle size and surface to starch ratio all able to influence disgestibility (Esther *et al.*, 2008). For example, compared to the flat bread, white and gluten free breads were baked instead of cooked, were porous and contained yeast compared to being compact. White bread and flat bread contained gluten protein and although gluten free breads can vary in starch digestibility, gluten itself does not seem to be a major contributor to the GI of a food (Packer *et al.*, 2000). English style pancakes were also considered as a potential starch source, yet due to their poor effect at reducing starch breakdown from white bread *in vitro* (containing a low/ medium GI), they were excluded from the study.

Polyphenols may reduce diabetes risk in ways other than by reducing starch breakdown in the gastrointestinal tract. For example, in streptozotocin-induced rats consuming a high-fat diet, GTE administered at 300 mg/ kg body weight for 30 days was shown to revert key enzymes of carbohydrate metabolism to near normal levels (Sundaram *et al.*, 2013), and grape seed procyanidins had an antihyperglycaemic effect which was thought to be due to insulinomimetic activity in cells by increasing glucose uptake (Pinent *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, these extracts may show beneficial effects on glycaemia *in vivo*, even if no beneficial results were found in the *in vitro* model used in the current study.

In this study, only three different bread systems were tested, and only one dose of each extract was used. Therefore, different doses used in other starch rich foods may show positive effects on sugar release. Liu *et al.* (2011) found that catechins reduced the GR in co-cooked normal and waxy maize starch, yet were shown to increase the GR and delay the blood glucose peak in high amylose maize starch. Amylose is less readily digested and absorbed into the blood than amylopectin and will generally produce a lower GR. This study highlights the potential of polyphenols to either have a sugar enhancing or reducing effect, depending on the starch source and thus the amylose/ amylopectin ratio.

### 9.5.4 Polyphenols in combination

Although polyphenol rich extracts in isolation were shown to reduce sugar release from high GI bread, in combination there was no reduction. Although isolated polyphenols have been shown beneficial to have effects on GR, other studies show different results. Intakes of single polyphenol compounds such as quercetin, kaempferol, myricetin, apigenin, and luteolin were found ineffective at reducing the risk of type 2 diabetes in The Women's Health Study (Song *et al.*, 2005). Few *in vitro* and animal studies have shown synergistic effects of polyphenols for various disease risks (Bastianetto *et al.*, 2009; Betts *et al.*, 2011; Conte *et al.*, 2003). There is limited research on polyphenol extracts in combination for reducing risk factors of diabetes, and those that have been done are conflicting. Mackenzie *et al.* (2007) found no effect of combined tea supplements on reducing hyperglycaemia. Their study looked at the effect of a mixed green and black tea extract in subjects with type 2 diabetes, and found that  $HbA1_c$  at three months was not significantly different between those taking tea supplements and those taking the control. Therefore, more work should explore the synergism that may take place between different classes of polyphenolic compounds for diabetes risk factors.

## 9.6 Conclusion

Many factors must be considered when using polyphenols as functional food additives. Although all extracts in isolation were shown to reduce starch breakdown and sugar release from white bread, these same doses were found to have no effect in other starch systems. Also, in combination there was no effect of any extract on sugar release. This is a unique study in that no other study to date has looked at determining the effect a combination of polyphenol extracts on sugar release from a starch rich food. Future work will look at increasing the dose of extract added into foods on sugar release, and also at the potential of polyphenols on sugar release from other medium to high GI foods.

#### 9.7 Publications

Coe S & Ryan L (2013) Sugar release from various starch rich foods with added polyphenol extracts, Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 72, E201.

Coe S & Ryan L (2014) Investigation of polyphenol synergism for reducing sugar release from white bread, Proceedings of the Nutrition Society (Submitted).

Coe S & Ryan L (2014) White bread enriched with polyphenol extracts shows no effect on glycaemic response or satiety, yet may increase postprandial insulin economy in healthy subjects, *Nutrition Journal* (Submitted).

#### 10. The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.) reduces the glycaemic response in humans.

#### 10.1 Summary

Anecdotal evidence suggests that baobab may play a role in improving health, yet to date there is little research on the fruit. Based on previous results from our lab in which the baobab fruit extract reduced starch digestion *in vitro*, it was hypothesised that it would show potential for reducing the GR, and for increasing satiety and diet induced thermogenesis (DIT) in humans. Nine health females were recruited for a randomised cross over trial, in which baobab fruit extract was consumed in solution at both a low dose (LD, 18.5g) and a high dose (HD, 37g) in 250 mL of water along with white bread. Each meal provided a total of 50g available carbohydrate (avCHO), and postprandial GR, satiety and energy expenditure (EE) were measured. Results found that the baobab fruit extract at both LD and HD significantly (p < 0.05) reduced GR, although there was no significant effect on satiety or on DIT. Therefore, more studies need to look into the effect of baobab as a potential alternative therapy for improving blood glucose levels.

#### 10.2 Introduction

Epidemiological studies have shown that plant foods rich in polyphenols can reduce the risk of diabetes (Mursu *et al.*, 2014; Nanri *et al.*, 2010). They may also be beneficial for increasing both DIT and satiety (Bolton *et al.*, 1981; Gruendel *et al.*, 2006; Raben *et al.*, 1994; Tanko *et al.*, 2008; Torronen *et al.*, 2012). Bolton *et al.* (1981) found that whole fruit produced a stronger satiety rating than fruit juice, and it was found that the return of appetite was also delayed with whole fruit consumption. This increase in fullness was thought to be due at least in part to the fibre content of the whole fruit. However, studies looking at the effect of different foods and food compounds on the association between satiety and DIT show conflicting results. In a study looking at the polyphenol and fibre-rich carob pulp, satiety post consumption was increased compared to the control (Gruendel *et al.*, 2006) and the pulp was also found to increase postprandial EE by 42.3%. In contrast Raben *et al.* (1994) found a

reduction in DIT and an increase in the feeling of fullness in subjects after they consumed a high fibre meal when compared to a low fibre meal. Therefore, polyphenols are thought to play a significant role in the increase of EE (Harada *et al.*, 2005).

Following on from previous work in our lab (Section 8) focusing on the role of the baobab fruit in starch digestion *in vitro*, it was further hypothesised that when tested in humans baobab extract would reduce the GR postprandially. It was also predicted that the extract would increase the feeling of fullness and the amount of energy expended after consumption, and that these three test parameters may show an association.

Based on the results from previous published data from our lab, the aim of the present study was to determine the effect of a LD baobab drink and a HD baobab aqueous drink (sample 6, Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita, London, UK) on postprandial GR, DIT and satiety in humans.

### 10.3 Methods

#### 10.3.1 Subjects

The current study was a randomised, single-blind, repeated-measures design with volunteers fed three different test meals on three different days. Ten subjects were originally recruited based on the guidelines on measuring the GR by the Food and Agricultural Organization/World Health Organization (FAO/WHO) (1998) to take into account individual variations, with this subject number being the same as that used by Sanaka *et al.* (2007). However, one subject dropped out due to personal reasons, and therefore nine healthy female subjects ( $25.3\pm4.8$  yr; height  $1.66\pm0.05$ m; weight  $61.2\pm8.0$ kg; body mass index  $22.3\pm2.6$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>; body fat  $25.4\pm7.7$ %; values are means  $\pm$  standard deviation {SD}) were recruited for the study by means of advertisements and personal communications. Before inclusion in the study, potential participants were briefed on all aspects of the experiment and were given the opportunity to ask questions. This was followed by a health assessment, which included anthropometric measurements and a health questionnaire (giving details of food allergies/ intolerances, metabolic diseases, special dietary needs, and smoking habits). Those who fulfilled all the acceptable criteria (age 18-60 yr; body mass index <30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; blood pressure between 110 and 120/75 and 85 mm Hg; fasting blood glucose <6mmol/ L; not on prescription medication; no genetic or metabolic diseases) were included in the study. On the day before each test, subjects were asked to restrict their intake of alcohol and caffeine-containing drinks and to refrain from strenuous physical activity. The study was conducted at the Functional Food Centre at Oxford Brookes University. All participants gave written informed consent before starting and the study was initiated after the approval by the Oxford Brookes University Research Ethics Committee according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki. On each test day subjects arrived between 7 and 9 am on the morning after an overnight fasting (10 - 12 hour before testing time) and without undertaking any physical activity.

#### 10.3.2 Test meal

The three test meals were a control (C), a LD solution of baobab fruit extract in 250 mL of water and a HD solution of baobab fruit extract in 250 mL of water (Baobab super fruit powder, Min Vita, London, UK). The control consisted of 132g of white bread (Sainsbury's White Sliced loaf, London, UK), and 250 mL still water. The LD consisted of 123g of white bread and 250 mL still water with 18.5g of baobab fruit extract added to make a drink (37% baobab per g avCHO) and the HD consisted of 114g of white bread and 250 mL still water with 37g of baobab fruit extract (74% baobab per g avCHO).

Each of the three meals contained 50g of avCHO which was calculated for each test meal using the procedure from FAO/ WHO (1998), according to the nutrition information available from the bread label and the baobab suppliers. Because previous controlled trials using baobab extract have not been performed, the doses of baobab used in this study reflect the amount and type of dietary fibre used in previous studies when measuring postprandial effects on GR (Gruendel *et al.*, 2007; Keogh *et al.*, 2007; Yan *et al.*, 2014).

#### 10.3.3 Study design

Volunteers participated in a randomised, balanced, controlled crossover study where they consumed the C, LD and HD on separate days in a random order. On the day prior to testing, volunteers were asked to record their food intake and repeat it prior to subsequent tests.

#### 10.3.4 Energy expenditure

On arrival in the laboratory, volunteers were asked to rest for 30 min in a supine position on a bed before baseline measurements of resting metabolic rate (RMR) were taken. RMR was determined in the morning between 7 and 9 am. RMR was measured at one-min intervals for 30 min

under the ventilated hood indirect calorimetry system (Deltatrac<sup>TM</sup> II Metabolic Monitor, Datex-Ohmeda Inc., Finland). The analyser was calibrated on each test day with standardised gases containing 5%  $CO_2$  and 95%  $O_2$ .

DIT was determined after the breakfast meal for 15 min in the first hour and then every 30 min until 180 min (Reed & Hill, 1996). The first 5 min of every 15 min time period was discarded to allow for stabilisation within the Deltatrac hood and the average of the remaining 10 min was used. This time period was recommended to be appropriate to measure the DIT (Reed & Hill, 1996). DIT was calculated as the increase in EE per min above pre-meal values for 3 hour after meal intake. EE and fat oxidation were calculated using the equations of Lusk (1928).

### 10.3.5 Glycaemic response

The protocol used to measure the blood glucose response was adopted from that described by Brouns *et al.* (2005) and is in line with procedures recommended by FAO/ WHO (1998). Blood was obtained by finger prick using the Unistick three single-use lancing device (Owen Mumford, Woodstock, UK). Before a finger prick, subjects were encouraged to warm their hand to increase blood flow. To minimize plasma dilution, fingertips were not squeezed to extract blood but were instead gently massaged starting from the base of the hand moving towards the tips. The first two drops of expressed blood were discarded, and the next drop was used for testing.

Blood glucose was measured using the HemoCue 201+ Glucose analyser (HemoCue Ltd, Dronfield, UK). The HemoCue is a reliable method of blood glucose analysis (Stork *et al.*, 2005). The HemoCue was calibrated each morning before testing, using control solution and ensuring displayed results were in a specified range (located in the control solution box). Fasting blood samples were taken at -5 and 0 min, and the coefficient of variation between the two readings was required to be less than 3% before testing could proceed. The test food was consumed immediately afterwards within 15 min at a comfortable pace. Further blood samples were then taken at 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150 and 180 min after consuming the test meal.

The change in GR was calculated by computing the difference between the blood glucose concentration at a time point and mean baseline blood glucose concentration (based on two baseline values taken 5 min apart). Because it represented the relative increment in the GR at any time point compared with the baseline value, it was this change in GR that was used for all further analyses, including incremental area under the curve (IAUC) calculated using the trapezoidal rule (Brouns *et al.*, 2005; Wolever, 2006), blood glucose response curve construction and statistics.
## 10.3.6 Satiety

One hundred millimetre continuous line visual analogue scales (VAS) were utilised to measure subjective feelings of hunger, fullness, desire-toeat and prospective food consumption. The volunteers provided VAS data at baseline (0 min) and at 30, 60, 90, 120, 150, and 180 min after the commencement of eating the test food, and after lunch. The specific questions asked were, 'How hungry do you feel?', 'How full do you feel?', 'How strong is your desire to eat?' and, 'How much food do you think you can eat?'

#### 10.3.7 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (version 20.0; SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA) and data and figures were processed in Microsoft Excel spread sheet (2006, Reading, UK). The IAUC was determined for blood glucose, total DIT and fat oxidation using the trapezoidal rule for values above the baseline. The relative increment in the GR and EE at any time point compared with the baseline value was used to assess the differences at each time. The differences were assessed using a three-factor repeated-measures (RM) ANOVA with differences between the meal assessed using contrasts within the ANOVA. Significance was set at p < 0.05. Values are presented as means  $\pm$  SD.

## 10.4 Results

#### 10.4.1 Glycaemic response

The GR showed an initial rise in blood glucose following the test meal to peak at 45 min for the two baobab doses and at 60 min for the control. All three tests reached their nadir at 180 min (Figure 10.1). The GR-IAUC was significantly different between the three meals after 180 min, 120 min and 60 min (p < 0.05), with the C meal having the greatest GR (Table 10.1). In the first 60 min the HD had the lowest GR while over the entire 180 min LD attenuated the GR the most.





Following the consumption of white bread in conjunction with 250 mL water (control), or 18.5g baobab or 37g baobab made up in solution with 250 mL of water, to equal 50 grams of available carbohydrate.

Finger prick blood samples were taken at 15 min intervals for the first hour, and then every 30 min for the last two hours, following the consumption of the test meal. Data are given as means  $\pm$  SD (*n*=9).

Table 10.1 Glycaemic response area under the curve (AUC) after consuming three test meals.

GR (mmol/min/L)	Control	18.5g Baobab	37g Baobab
GR AUC 60	86.1±46.6	72.4±44.4	59.6±35.6*
GR AUC 120	175.3±80.4	142.6±76.7*	135.8±74.6*
GR AUC 180	237.4±104.9	188.1±114.4*	193.1±104.3

p < 0.05 denotes significant decrease in glycaemic response (GR) compared to control at each time point (an ANOVA was performed followed by a Tukey's test). AUC at 60 min, 120 min and 180 min for each test meal to provide 50g of available carbohydrate. The three test meals consisted of the control white bread and 250 mL water, white bread and 18.5g baobab (low dose) made up in solution with 250 ml water and bread and 37g baobab (high dose) made up in solution with 250 mL water. Values represent mean  $\pm$  SEM.

\_\_\_\_

# 10.4.2 Energy Expenditure

There were no significant differences in resting EE between the three test days (Control;  $0.880\pm0.087$  kcal/min; 18.5g;  $0.897\pm0.066$  kcal/min; 37g;  $0.872\pm0.084$  kcal/min) with all three days having similar baseline measurements. EE increased postprandially following each of the three test meals. There were no significant differences in EE following the three meals with total DIT being similar for the three meals (C:  $13.75\pm6.51$  kcal; LD:  $11.25\pm5.91$  kcal; HD:  $13.42\pm6.22$  kcal).

## 10.4.3 Satiety

There was no significant difference between the visual analogue scores for any of the satiety parameters (Hunger: Control; 567±437; 18.5g; 550±411; 37g; 650±363 mm/min; Fullness: Control; 689±404; 18.5g; 750±424; 37g; 653±362 mm/min; Desire to eat: Control; 430±184; 18.5g; 578±413; 37g; 670±339 mm/min; Prospective consumption: Control; 409±452; 18.5g; 361±345; 37g; 567±328 mm/min).

# 10.5 Discussion

In the current study, the consumption of the LD and HD baobab fruit extract drinks significantly reduced the GR to white bread. What may be more important than lowering overall AUC may be preventing the large spikes in blood glucose 30-45 min after a meal (Ceriello, 1953). The HD baobab meal stabilised the blood glucose peaks more over the 3 hour period compared to the other two meals. Baobab is a rich source of dietary fibre, specifically soluble fibre, and the presence of fibre in a high carbohydrate food has been shown to blunt postprandial GR (Kwong *et al.,* 2012; Vosloo, 2005; Wolever, 2006). Soluble fibre specifically has been shown to be beneficial on postprandial glycaemia and on insulin levels in type 2 diabetic subjects (Flammang *et al.,* 2006). Baobab is also rich in flavonoids and Zhou *et al.* (2009) found that flavonoids extracted from lotus (*Nelumbo nuficera* Gaertn) reduced fasting blood glucose levels in diabetic mice. Therefore, both the fibre and the polyphenol content of the concentrated baobab extract may be contributing to the reduction in GR *in vivo*.

Satiety is dependent on many aspects of food intake, including the change in the GR, nutrient composition, hormonal changes and gastric emptying rates. In the current study, baobab fruit extract had no effect on satiety measures. The Glucostatic Theory states that the change in blood glucose levels between meals has an effect on hunger (Mayer, 1953). Therefore, any food that can stabilise blood glucose levels, such as seen in the HD meal, may reduce hunger and thus prove beneficial in weight management. Taking this into account, and also that the fibre content was increased in the HD baobab meal, it is of interest that there was no corresponding increase in satiety as shown in previous studies (Gruendel *et al.*, 2006; Raben *et al.*, 1994). In the current study, there were the limitations of a low subject number for measuring satiety (Stubbs *et al.*, 2000) and VAS were used as a measure of subjective hunger and they may not always reflect actual subsequent food intake (Ranawana & Henry, 2011). Therefore, an *al libitum* test meal may have been a more accurate reflection of satiety, however given the desire to measure DIT and GR for 180 min postprandially this was not deemed possible as by 180 any differences in satiety would not be visible.

There was no significant difference between the control meal and the LD or HD meal on postprandial EE. Macronutrients have a hierarchy for increasing postprandial EE, alcohol and protein increasing DIT more than carbohydrate and fat (Westerterp, 2004). In the current study, avCHO was kept constant between groups and neither white bread nor baobab are major sources of protein/ and or fat, therefore macronutrient content between groups was not largely different. However, there was a large increase in the amount of fibre being consumed as baobab content increased. As mentioned, although fibre rich foods have previously been shown to reduce the GR and increase satiety, the findings on DIT are more controversial with both increases and decreases in DIT demonstrated (Gruendel *et al.*, 2006; Raben *et al.*, 1994). Polyphenols found in green tea, such as EGCG and other catechins have been shown to increase 24 hour EE (Dulloo *et al.*, 1999). However, Dulloo *et al.* 

110

(1999) analysed polyphenols in isolation of other macronutrients, and therefore more studies need to be done on whole polyphenol rich extracts and total EE.

#### 10.6 Conclusion

In conclusion, this is a novel study as no other study to date has looked at the effect of different doses of baobab fruit extract in aqueous solution on GR, satiety or DIT. The baobab fruit is a rich source of bioaccessible polyphenols and the current study shows the potential of the polyphenol rich extract for reducing the GR to carbohydrate-rich foods *in vivo*. This is in good correlation with the results from previous studies, and with results from the *in vitro* dose response digestion in our lab. However, there was no effect of baobab fruit on satiety or on DIT for either the LD or HD drink. Apart from the use of VAS and the low subject number, there are some other limitations to the methods used in this study. Future studies will need to determine the individual polyphenols present in the extracts to identify which polyphenols or group of polyphenols may be eliciting the effects on GR. To elucidate the role of polyphenols in the extract, the soluble (pectin) and insoluble fibre content would need to be controlled for as they may be potential confounders. Finally, further human studies on GR would be essential for determining the optimal dose of baobab fruit extract in reducing postprandial glycaemia.

#### 10.7 Publication

Coe S, Clegg M, Armengol M & Ryan L (2013) The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (*Adansonia digitata* L.) reduces starch digestion and glycemic response in humans, *Nutrition Research*, **33**, 888-896.

# 11. White bread enriched with polyphenol extracts shows no effect on glycaemic response or satiety, yet may increase postprandial insulin economy in healthy subjects.

## 11.1 Summary

Carbohydrate rich foods that produce a slow, gradual rise in blood glucose levels have been shown to increase insulin sensitivity and postprandial satiety. Polyphenol rich plant sources have been shown to modify starch digestion from carbohydrate rich foods and lower resulting glycaemia. The aim of this study was to determine the effect of extracts rich in polyphenol compounds added to white bread, on GR, insulin response (IR) and satiety in healthy subjects. The two extracts at optimal doses with the greatest sugar reducing potential from the *in vitro* digestion were used in this study. On separate days thirteen volunteers (nine female and four male) consumed a control white bread, white bread with GTE (0.4%) and white bread with BAO (1.88%), and GR, IR and satiety were measured three hours postprandially. Although enriched breads did not reduce GR or hunger, white bread with added BAO significantly (p < 0.05) reduced the total (0-180 min) and segmental insulin AUC at 0-90, 0-120 and 0-150 min, and therefore reduced the amount of insulin needed for a given blood glucose response. This preliminary research suggests that there is potential for baobab fruit extract at low doses to be used as a functional additive to starch rich foods for improving parameters associated with insulin sensitivity.

# 11.2 Introduction

Foods that increase the postprandial GR have been associated with increased weight gain and therefore managing postprandial glucose excursions could be seen as a potential target for reducing the prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its associated disease. Because the compounds in various plant extracts can reduce the starch hydrolysis and postprandial GR, much interest has been focused on the role of certain extracts as potential functional food ingredients for improving health (Queen & Tollefsbol, 2010). As previously mentioned, postprandial blood glucose levels may influence feelings of satiety through glucoreceptors (Mayer, 1953), and IR is also thought to be highly associated with GR and satiety

(Flint *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, polyphenols may exert not only glucose lowering effects by reducing starch digestion, but also may reduce postprandial IR and increase satiety. It was therefore hypothesised that the addition various plant extracts to high GI white bread would slow the rate of starch breakdown, and therefore reduce the postprandial GR and IR and increase satiety in healthy humans.

The aim of this study was to use the results from the dose-response in our previous study (Section 8 and 9) to identify the two polyphenol rich extracts with the greatest sugar reducing potential added to white bread, and to determine their effects on postprandial GR, IR and satiety in healthy adults.

# 11.3 Methods

#### 11.3.1 Materials

All chemicals, extracts and ingredients were as previously described in sections 8.3.1 and 9.3.1.

## 11.3.2 Bread preparation

White bread was made in a Russell Hobbs bread maker as previously described. When adding extracts to the breads, the flour content was altered in order to keep the overall weight of each bread the same as the control bread. This was achieved by subtracting the extract weight in grams from the flour weight in grams, to determine the new flour weight with added extract. All bread samples were baked the night before, sealed at room temperature in plastic containers overnight and tested the following morning.

## 11.3.3 Subjects

Fifteen healthy volunteers were recruited for the study by means of advertisements, flyers and personal communications. Potential volunteers were briefed on all aspects of the study and were allowed to ask questions before giving written formal consent. Volunteers participated in a health assessment which included anthropometric measurements (height, weight, waist to hip ratio, Tanita BC-418MA segmental body composition analysis) and filled in a health questionnaire (asking about medications, vitamin and mineral supplement use, previous and present diseases, smoking habits and allergies). If volunteers fulfilled the acceptable criteria (BMI:  $<30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ; age: 18–65 yr; fasting blood glucose: 4–6 mmol/ L;

not on prescription medication; non-smoking; no genetic or metabolic diseases), they were given a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) to complete with regards to their average food intake over the previous three months, and they participated in a 24-hour dietary recall given by qualified personnel. The data for two volunteers was excluded based on failure to arrive at the second test visit. Therefore, a total of thirteen healthy normal or slightly overweight volunteers (nine female and four male; BMI: 19.4-29.7 kg/m2; 20-46 yr; 50.2-91.6kg mass) participated in the study. Each volunteer was asked to avoid the consumption of caffeine, alcohol, nicotine, marijuana or any other drugs and strenuous exercise on the evening prior to each trial, and to ensure that their food intake was as similar as possible for the 18 hour before all trials. Testing began each morning between 7.30 - 9.30 am after an overnight fast (10 - 12 hour).

The present study was conducted according to the guidelines laid down in the Declaration of Helsinki, and all procedures involving human volunteers were approved by the University Research Ethics Committee at Oxford Brookes University.

#### 11.3.4 Test meals

The test meals consisted of 50g of avCHO from freshly baked control white bread (CON), white bread with added GTE (0.4% of loaf weight in g) or white bread with added BAO (1.88% of loaf weight in g), and 250 mL of still water. This equated to 103.61g CON bread, 104.16g GTE bread with a total of 96.33mg added polyphenols and 106.97g BAO bread with 61.24mg total added polyphenols. Volunteers were instructed to consume the test meals at a comfortable pace within 15 min. The extracts used in this part of the study were the optimal doses/ extracts for reducing starch digestion *in vitro* (specifically RDS) and resulting sugar release from white bread (Sections 8 and 9). GSE and RES were also found to reduce RDS yet to not as great an extent. Also, the colour change and sensory properties of RES made it unacceptable for human consumption.

#### 11.3.5 Study design

This study was a single blind, randomised-controlled trial consisting of three meals each tested on one occasion in a random order on separate days, with at least one wash out day between each test. The volunteers were advised to keep their daily routines and diets similar throughout the testing period.

## 11.3.6 Glycaemic response

The protocol used to measure the blood glucose response was as previously described, adopted from that described by Brouns *et al.* (2005), reproduced by Coe *et al.* (2013; Section 10.3.5), and is in line with procedures recommended by the FAO/ WHO (1998). Blood samples were collected at baseline and 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150 and 180 min postprandial.

#### 11.3.7 Insulin response

As previously outlined in Ranawana and Henry (2011) and then in Ranawana *et al.* (2011), blood samples for insulin determination were obtained at the times mentioned above for GR. Using finger prick samples, 300  $\mu$ L of capillary blood was collected at each time point into Microvette collection tubes treated with di Potassium EDTA (CB 300 K2E; Sarstedt Ltd, Leicester, UK) and immediately stored in crushed ice. Microvette tubes were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min (Centrifuge MC-6; Sarstedt Ltd), and 120  $\mu$ L of the supernatant plasma was pipetted into eppendorf tubes and frozen at -40 °C. Upon analysis, samples were defrosted and insulin concentrations were determined by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay using a reliable automated analyser (Cobas E411; Roche Diagnostics, Burgess Hill, UK (Siahanidou *et al.*, 2011). The unit of measurement was  $\mu$ U/ mL.

The change in GR and IR from baseline was calculated by subtracting the mean baseline values from each time point. Therefore, the 'change in GR/ IR' was used for analyses including the incremental AUC, AUC graph constructions and statistics. The trapezoid rule was used to calculate AUC (without area beneath the baseline) by adding together the individual areas of the triangles and trapezoids for time periods up to the whole 180 min testing period (Brouns *et al.*, 2005; Wolever, 2006).

## 11.3.8 Satiety

One hundred millimetre continuous line VAS were utilised to measure subjective feelings of hunger, fullness, desire-to-eat and prospective food consumption. The volunteers provided VAS data at each time point mentioned previously, and AUC was calculated.

#### 11.3.9 Statistical analysis

A minimum sample size of twelve was required based on a difference in mean GR-AUC of 10 mmol/ L, a mean SD of 5 with a power of 0.9 and an [alpha] of 0.05. This was also based on previous studies in our lab measuring GR (Clegg *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, a sample size of thirteen was used in the current study. Statistical analyses were conducted using the SPSS version 21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois) with descriptive data presented as means.

A RM-ANOVA with Bonferroni correction was used after the data was tested for normality using the Shaprio-Wilk statistic. If data were skewed, a Friedman one-way ANOVA (non-parametric) was used to compare AUC for GR, IR and satiety between the three test meals. VAS data for each of the four satiety measures were analysed using a two-way RM-ANOVA with two within subject factors – time and meal. Pearson's correlation was used to compare GR, IR and satiety for each test meal. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

## 11.4 Results

## 11.4.1 Glycaemic response

Data are presented as change in GR from baseline in Figure 11.1. The data were analysed by total and segmental AUC. There was no difference in postprandial total or segmental GR-AUC (Figure 11.2) between any of the tests. However, there was a non-significant trend for BAO and GTE to have a lower peak compared to CON.



Figure 11.1 Change in blood glucose from baseline for 0-180 min (mmol/L).

50g available carbohydrate was consumed from a control white bread (CON;  $\circ$ ), white bread with 0.4% green tea extract (GTE;  $\bullet$ ) and white bread with 1.88% baobab fruit extract (BAO;  $\Delta$ ). Values are means (*n* 13).



Figure 11.2 Segmental areas under the blood glucose response curve (sAUC) for 60 – 180 min.

50g available carbohydrate was consumed from a control white bread (CON;  $\circ$ ), white bread with 0.4% green tea extract (GTE;  $\bullet$ ) and white bread with 1.88% baobab fruit extract (BAO;  $\Delta$ ). Values are means (*n* 13).

## 11.4.2 Insulin response

The change in IR from baseline is shown in Figure 11.3. BAO-enriched bread had a significantly (p < 0.05) lower total IR-AUC, a lower segmental AUC for 0- 90, 0-120 and 0-150 min and a lower incremental peak for IR compared to the CON and GTE breads (Figure 11.4). There was also a significant correlation between the GR and IR for the CON bread only (p < 0.05).



Figure 11.3 Change in insulin response from baseline 0-180 mins ( $\mu$ U/mL).

50g available carbohydrate was consumed from a control bread (CON;  $\circ$ ), white bread with 0.4% green tea extract (GTE;  $\bullet$ ) and white bread with 1.88% baobab fruit extract (BAO;  $\Delta$ ). Values are means (*n* 13).





\*p < 0.05 =significantly lower insulin response for BAO compared to CON and GTE. 50g available carbohydrate was consumed from a control bread (CON;  $\circ$ ), white bread with 0.4% green tea extract (GTE;  $\bullet$ ) and white bread with 1.88% baobab fruit extract (BAO;  $\Delta$ ). Values are means (*n* 13).

## 11.4.3 Satiety

There was no difference in any of the four measures for satiety AUC (Table 11.1). No significant difference in pleasantness or tastiness of the three breads was found. There was a trend for BAO to non-significantly increase satiety and for the CON to show the lowest ratings on all satiety measures.

TT 11 11 1 X / / /	1 1 /1	· · ·	• • •	1 1 1
<b>I able I I.I</b> Mean tota	I area under the curv	e satiety scores	s using visual	l analogue scales.

	CON	SD	GTE	SD	BAO	SD
How hungry do you feel	360.40	312.43	372.90	267.93	445.05	301.15
How full do you feel	413.34	293.57	449.16	229.50	464.36	326.48
How strong is your desire to eat	361.07	340.36	433.82	260.95	450.15	331.11
How much food do you think you can eat	312.50	295.05	324.29	256.96	347.22	287.98

CON, control white bread; GTE, white bread with green tea extract; BAO, white bread with baobab fruit extract. Values reported in millimetres/minute  $\pm$  SD (A two-way repeated measure ANOVA with two within subject factors – time and meal).

#### 11.5 Discussion

The addition of GTE and BAO extracts to white bread had no effect on GR or satiety in healthy subjects, yet BAO was shown to reduce the postprandial IR compared to the CON and GTE breads.

The *in vitro* digestion model can be used to predict the digestibility of various foods and has shown good correlation with the human digestive response (Araya *et al.*, 2002; Monro & Mishra, 2010). Specifically, the RDS *in vitro* is thought to be highly correlated to the GI of starch rich foods in humans (Englyst *et al.*, 1996; Englyst *et al.*, 1999). Polyphenols were shown to be negatively correlated to GR and therefore may influence the rate and degree of starch digestibility (Thompson *et al.*, 1984).

Although low doses of all extracts tested were shown to reduce *in vitro* starch digestibility, in the current study these same doses of BAO and GTE did not reduce the GR in humans. It is impossible to mimic the human digestive system exactly as there are many different processes

taking place in the body that can influence the GR which may not be accounted for *in vitro*. A study by Eelderink *et al.* (2012) found no association between *in vivo* starch digestibility and GR.

A variety of factors may influence the effect of starch breakdown and resulting GR. For example, Clegg *et al.* (2011) found no effect of berries on GR or satiety when consumed with starch rich pancakes, yet Törrönen *et al.* (2012) found that berry consumption with sucrose improved the overall GR and IR. As previously mentioned, tea polyphenols were shown to increase GR from high-amylose maize starch, yet reduced the GR to normal and waxy maize starch (Liu *et al.*, 2011). The administration of EGCG (at a dose equivalent to 1.5 cups of green tea) alongside common maize starch in mice was found to reduce postprandial blood glucose levels and inhibit *in vitro* pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase (Forester *et al.*, 2012). However, in the current study and also in the study by Liu *et al.* (2011), extracts were cooked into the starch source under investigation and were therefore subjected to baking. Whereas in the current study the objective was to develop potential functional foods, Forester *et al.* (2012) used a design similar to that of consuming a food and a beverage as separate entities. Various compounds in food undergo structural changes when subjected to heat, yet in the current study the overall polyphenol content of the breads was not measured after baking. However, the results from the *in vitro* part of the study found that extracts reduced sugar release from breads after being added to breads at low doses. Therefore, it was thought that certain compounds remained intact *in vitro* and therefore were predicted to exert their actions *in vivo*.

A meta-analysis by Liu *et al.* (2013) including 17 trials found that green tea consumption decreased fasting blood glucose and HbA1<sub>c</sub> and reduced fasting insulin concentrations. The monomeric and/ or oligomeric phenolic compounds in Kombucha green and black teas have been shown to inhibit starch hydrolysis via porcine pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase (Kallel *et al.*, 2012). However, as shown by Guzar (2012) the dose of green tea added to bread was important for determining starch digestion. Therefore, the dose of GTE used in the current study was not optimal for reducing the GR in humans.

Baobab fruit extract has been shown to be rich source of phenolic compounds such as the tannins, hydrocyanic acid, oxalates and a variety of flavonoids (Ghani & Agbejule, 1986; Tanko *et al.*, 2008). This fruit has also been shown to have anti-diabetic activity, thought to be largely due to its high fibre and polyphenol content (Nour *et al.*, 1980). Apart from the study done by our lab (Coe *et al.*, 2013; Section 10), only one other study has looked at the glycaemia reducing effects of baobab. In a streptozocin-induced diabetes rat model, extract of baobab fruit reduced the GR compared to the control (Tanko *et al.*, 2008). Baobab fruit contains soluble fibre which has been shown to reduce postprandial GR and IR

compared to a low fibre meal (Keogh *et al.*, 2007), however the dose of extract used in this study only contributed 1.2g of total fibre to the bread and therefore this low amount was unlikely to contribute to the GR and/ or IR.

From our previous study, baobab fruit extract consumed at higher doses of 18.5g and 37g in liquid form was found to reduce the postprandial GR to white bread (Coe *et al.*, 2013; Section 10). This contrasts to the much lower (yet sufficient) dose of 9.375g added to the white bread both in the *in vitro* digestion in the same study, and also in the measurement of postprandial GR in the current study. Although baobab was consumed in different forms and doses between the studies, none of the previous literature can be used to explain the inconsistency between the results on starch digestion and GR when testing the same doses of extracts. Different food sources may be the result of inconsistency between methods, for example the *in vitro* starch digestion and the GR *in vivo* have been shown to correlate well when studying fibre rich foods (Regand *et al.*, 2011). However the association between the two methods when considering polyphenol-starch interactions is more controversial and relies on the structural properties of the polyphenols (Piparo *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, more studies need to look at the validity and reliability of the different digestion methods.

In healthy normal weight individuals, the GR and IR are highly associated after the consumption of a typical meal resulting in a rise in plasma glucose followed by an increase in insulin release to combat these glucose levels (Mckeown *et al.*, 2004). In the current study, GR and IR were found to be correlated for the CON only and not the GTE or BAO breads. Therefore, it can be concluded that the addition of plant extracts to bread altered the relationship between blood glucose levels and resulting insulin release. This has been shown in a study by Liese *et al.* (2005) who found no association between GI and glycaemic load (GL) with insulin sensitivity or fasting insulin levels.

In the current study, BAO yet not GTE was shown to reduce the postprandial IR. BAO reduced the segmental and total plasma insulin AUC despite having no effect on blood glucose levels, and therefore for the same glucose response a low concentration of BAO addition to bread increased the efficiency of the IR. Tannins and flavonoids, such as those found in baobab fruit (Ghani & Abejule, 1986; Tanko *et al.*, 2008) have been shown to increase insulin sensitivity both *in vitro* and in mice, yet studies in humans are limited (Pinent *et al.*, 2008). Those with type 2 diabetes are at risk of having high circulating levels of insulin in the blood, and therefore consuming foods that can increase insulin efficiency would prove beneficial for maintaining plasma glucose (Kahn, 2003). Törrönen *et al.* (2013) found that certain berry mixtures improved the IR without improving the GR to white bread. Therefore, white bread consumption with berries reduced the amount of insulin needed for a normal or slightly improved GR, with the IR to rye bread also becoming further reduced by berry addition.

There were no differences in satiety measures between the breads which could be due to the lack of difference in GR between the tests. However, Flint *et al.* (2007) found insulin to be associated with short term satiety regulation, but GR showed no effect. In the current study, there was a non-significant trend for increased satiety in the BAO bread. Fibre and polyphenols have both been shown to increase satiety and therefore the reduction in IR in the BAO without its effect on satiety may have been counterbalanced by the slight increase in fibre, in polyphenols or both (Josic *et al.*, 2010; Slavin & Green, 2007). Sensory properties of the three breads in the current study were not affected by extract addition which could be due to the low extract doses used.

# 11.6 Conclusions

In conclusion, white bread enriched with GTE and BAO showed no effect on GR or satiety, yet BAO was shown to increase insulin economy. This is the first study to look at the effect of the addition of various extracts into white bread and the effects on GR, IR and satiety in humans. The reduction in IR after BAO may be due to the polyphenol association with carbohydrate digestion, or to the absorbed compounds from the extracts altering insulin action in the body. Relatively low doses of extracts were used in this study, and therefore the improvement in insulin parameters is of great significance. Future studies may look at C-peptide levels to determine if the the reduction in IR is due to a diminished pancreatic secretion of insulin rather than enhanced liver extraction. Although the dose was low, extracts were baked into bread and therefore may have directly interacted with starch chains requiring a lower amount to show a positive effect on glycaemic parameters. However, higher doses of extracts may be needed to see a reducing effect on GR. Due to the conflicting results from previous studies in our lab which found BAO to reduce starch digestion *in vitro* (Coe *et al.*, 2013) with no effect on GR in the current study, further research needs to determine the effects of different doses of BAO both in solid and liquid mediums, and the effect this has on metabolic parameters.

#### 12. Conclusions and future prospects

It can be concluded from the literature that there is sufficient evidence to suggest the role of polyphenols for improving risk factors of metabolic diseases. Specifically, research is highlighting the importance of polyphenols for improving markers of glycaemia and for reducing the GI of carbohydrate rich sources. Foods with enhanced functional characteristics offer the potential to target populations that are at risk of chronic disease, such as obese individuals and the elderly, for whom attempts to change lifelong dietary habits may be challenging. Dietary interventions may be a simple and cost effective way to bring benefits for the health of the population and thereby improve overall quality of life.

A systematic review of the literature showed that various polyphenol rich sources positively influenced the postprandial GR when consumed with simple or complex carbohydrates. Overall, polyphenols in combination with sucrose, glucose or bread were found to reduce the early phase GR, prolong the rate of glucose absorption into the blood and to sustain insulin secretion. Berries specifically were found to improve the GP when consumed with both simple sugars and complex starches as found in the four studies by Törrönen's group (2010, 2012a, 2012b, 2013). Based on the pattern of change in GR, it was concluded that polyphenol compounds were acting at the intestinal level either by reducing carbohydrate breakdown and/ or by reducing glucose transport, and may therefore contribute to the reduction in GI. However due to the large heterogeneity between different study designs and with only 13 papers included in the review, a confident conclusion is difficult to draw.

The research component of this PhD included both *in vitro* and *in vivo* methods. Tea is a commonly consumed beverage throughout the world, and green, white and black teas were found to be abundant in bioaccessible phenolic compounds (study 1, Title: Polyphenol bioaccessibility and sugar reducing capacity of black, green and white teas). Green tea is a widely accepted source of antioxidants and polyphenol compounds and is well known for its contribution to health. One green tea bag reduced starch breakdown and sugar release when digested alongside white bread *in vitro* and therefore potential benefits were seen at amounts easily obtainable from the diet. Green tea extract was then baked into white bread and it was found to reduce starch digestion at specified doses, highlighting the potential of different forms and doses of green tea for reducing the GR when consumed with carbohydrate rich foods (study 3, Title: The effect of polyphenol rich extracts in isolation and in combination, on sugar release from various starch rich foods *in vitro*). Although green tea extract was shown to reduce starch digestion *in vitro*, no effect was seen on the GR *in vivo* when consumed at equivalent doses as found in study 5 (Title: White bread enriched with polyphenol extracts shows no effect on

glycaemic response or satiety, yet may increase postprandial insulin economy in healthy subjects). Thus caution should be taken when comparing results between *in vitro* and *in vivo* digestion methods.

Grape seed and resveratrol are the health promoting components found in grapes and red wine, and in study 3 they were found to reduce starch digestion from white bread at specific doses *in vitro*. Although promising, more work would need to assess the glycaemia reducing potential of grape seed and resveratrol in human models before conclusions can be drawn.

Few trials to date have investigated the role of baobab fruit in health and the extract has only recently been made available for consumer purchase in the UK. In solution, baobab at relatively high doses of 18.5g and 37g was found to improve the postprandial GR to white bread in healthy females (study 4, Title: The polyphenol rich baobab fruit {*Adansonia digitata L.*} reduces the glycaemic response in humans). In study 5, when baked into white bread at 1.88% of loaf weight, baobab fruit had no effect on GR, yet reduced the IR. Therefore the IR for a given GR was significantly improved and this may be of benefit for increasing insulin sensitivity in those with type 2 diabetes in whom circulating plasma levels of insulin are high. Due to the low doses used when baking baobab into white bread, the improvement in IR is of great importance. It can be concluded that polyphenol rich sources such as baobab fruit can improve markers of glycaemia and it may therefore be considered as a functional additive. Further studies would need to elucidate the longer term implications of this work.

The polyphenol bioaccessilbity throughout *in vitro* digestion varied between sources, with the baobab extract, GTE, GSE and RES increasing into the gastric stage and further increasing into the duodenal stage. However, some teas tended to increase into the gastric stage and then begin to decline into the duodenal stage. This may have been a result of the form (bagged/ whole teas versus pure extracts), the concentration of polyphenols (lower in some teas compared to extracts) or the types of polyphenol present in the different sources. Different preparation methods may influence starch digestibility and resulting glycaemia and this PhD assessed various polyphenol preparation methods, including brewed tea (black, green, white and herbal varieties), extracts baked into bread (BAO, GTE, GSE and RES), and a raw extract made up as a cold drink (LD and D baobab extract). Also, different methods were used for starch sources, including baking (white and gluten free breads), cooking (flat bread) and the use of a commercial bread consumed alongside baobab drinks. Due to this and also the different doses used, it is therefore difficult to directly compare results between study designs.

In an attempt to establish recommended intake values for different polyphenols, more rigorous randomised controlled trials are needed to determine optimal doses and in what forms these compounds are most beneficial for health. Adverse effects of consuming high levels of

polyphenols must be acknowledged and the inconsistencies between *in vitro*, animal and human models are a major limitation. Knowledge on bioavailability is limited and due to the poor stability of these compounds, adequately assessing the content in foods proves challenging. Methods for determining the polyphenol content of various sources have limitations which may further lead to inaccuracy when measuring polyphenol intakes in different population groups. Although the current research could be strengthened by including additional assays such as HPLC and enzyme inhibition, the focus was not on the specific mechanisms taking place between the extracts and starch digestion. It is assumed that certain polyphenols may inhibit enzyme action, and this would need to be assessed in future studies looking at the in depth mechanisms of polyphenols on the GR. Also, the polyphenol content of breads after baking was unknown and some of the compounds may have been degraded during the baking process. However, because effects were seen on both starch digestion and on glycaemic parameters, it is assumed that a substantial amount of polyphenols remained intact after baking.

This PhD adds relevant knowledge to the expanding area of research into polyphenols and health. With the growth in the market of functional foods and the increasing consumer interest in nutrition, modifying the diet is becoming increasingly acknowledged for its role in the management of obesity and its related comorbidities. The research into polyphenols is only beginning to reveal the potential these compounds have in contributing to the longevity of the population.

## Acknowledgements

I would first and foremost like to thank my supervisor Dr Lisa Ryan, for her continuous support and guidance throughout my PhD. Dr Ryan has mentored me for the past six years, throughout both my undergraduate and postgraduate degree and has been one of my biggest support systems during this time. Dr Ryan has motivated me to excel in my work and to continuously publish throughout my PhD, and has not only been an excellent supervisor yet is someone I consider to be one of my closet friends.

Shirley Coe, my mother and best friend has supported me through both the achievements and the disappointments. Without my mother I don't believe I would have had the emotional strength to successfully complete my degree. During times of stress she has continuously been a positive role model and she has always believed in my success even when I had doubt in my own ability.

I would like to thank Dr Miriam Clegg, Ann Fraser, Dr Sangeetha Thondre and Dr Helen Lightowler who have provided support and advice over the previous three years. Dr Thondre assisted in training me in on various laboratory assays, as did Ms Sarah Warner, Dr Sarah Hillier and Ms Patricia Shaw.

Irene Cantero-Gonzalez and Mar Armengalo assisted in my research, collecting data and providing support in the laboratory.

My full degree and salary was funded by the USA Military Post 9-11GI bill funding scheme.

I would also like to thank Oxford Brookes University for providing support for me as a postgraduate student, and for providing me with the resources to complete my degree.

I would like to thank JING Tea Ltd for the generous gift of all the whole tea samples.

Finally, I would like to thank all the participants for their time in completing the studies.

# References

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (2014) Evidence Analysis Library. Eat Right; available at http://www.eatright.org/.

Ackland ML, Waarsenburg SVD & Jones R (2005) Synergistic antiproliferative action of the flavonols quercetin and kaempferol in cultured human cancer cell lines. *In Vivo*, 19, 69-76.

Adisakwattana S, Yibchok Anun S, Charoenlertkul P & Wongsasiripat N (2011) Cyanidin-3-rutinoside alleviates postprandial hyperglycemia and its synergism with acarbose by inhibition of intestinal α-glucosidase. *Journal of Clinical Biochemistry and Nutrition*, 49, 36-41.

Akhtar MS, Ramzan A, Ali A & Ahmad M (2011) Effect of Amla fruit (*Emblica officinalis* Gaertn.) on blood glucose and lipid profile of normal subjects and type 2 diabetic patients. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 62, 609-616.

Aldughpassi A & Wolever TMS (2009) Effect of coffee and tea on the glycaemic index of foods: no effect on mean but reduced variability. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 101, 1282-1285.

Almoosawi S, Fyfe L, Ho C & Al-Dujaili E (2010) The effect of polyphenol-rich dark chocolate on fasting capillary whole blood glucose, total cholesterol, blood pressure and glucocorticoids in healthy overweight and obese subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 103, 842-850.

Alzaid F, Cheung HM, Preedy VR & Sharp PA (2013) Regulation of glucose transporter expression in human intestinal caco-2 cells following exposure to an anthocyanin-rich berry extract. *PLOS One*, 8, e78932.

Ananingsih VK, Sharma A & Zhou W (2013) Green tea catechins during food processing and storage: A review on stability and detection. *Food Research International*, 50, 469-479.

Annunziata A & Vecchio R (2011) Functional foods development in the European market: A consumer perspective. Journal of Functional Foods, 3, 223-228.

Annuzzi G, Bozzetto L, Costabile G et al. (2014) Diets naturally rich in polyphenols improve fasting and postprandial dyslipidemia and reduce oxidative stress: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99, 463-471.

Arai S (1996) Studies on functional foods in Japan: state of the art. Food Factors for Cancer Prevention, 47-51.

Araya H, Contreras P, Alvina M, Vera G & Pak N (2002) A comparison between an *in vitro* method to determine carbohydrate digestion rate and the glycemic response in young men. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56, 735-739.

Arnold TH, Well MJ & Wehmeyer AS (1985) Koisan food plants: taxa with potential for economic exploitation. In Wickens GE, Goodin JR & Field DV (editors), Plants for Arid Lands. Allen & Unwin, London, 69-86.

Arumugam V, Lee JS, Nowak JK, Pohle RJ, Nyrop JE, Leddy JJ & Pelkman CL (2008) A high glycemic meal pattern elicited increased subjective appetite sensations in overweight and obese women. *Appetite*, 50, 215-222.

Astill C, Birch MR, Dacombe C, Humphrey PG & Matrin PT (2001) Factors affecting the caffeine and polyphenol contents of black and green tea infusions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 5340-5347.

Augustin LS, Franceschi S, Jenkins DJ, Kendall CW & La Vecchia C (2002) Glycemic index in chronic disease: a review. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 56, 1049-1071.

Auvichayapat P, Prapochanung M, Tunkamnerdthai O et al. (2008) Effectiveness of green tea on weight reduction in obese Thais: A randomized, controlled trial. *Physiology & Behavior*, 93, 486-491.

Bahls LD, Venturini D, Scripes ND, Lozovoy MAB, Simao TNC, Simao ANC, Dichi I & Morimoto HK (2011) Evaluation of the intake of a low daily amount of soybeans in oxidative stress, lipid and inflammatory profile, and insulin resistance in patients with metabolic syndrome. *Arquivos Brasileiros De Endocrinologia E Metabologia*, 55, 399-405.

Bahorun T, Luximon-Ramma A, Neergheen-Bhujun VS, Gunness TK, Googoolye K, Auger C, Crozier, A & Aruoma OI (2012) The effect of black tea on risk factors of cardiovascular disease in a normal population. *Preventative Medicine*, 54, S98-S102.

Balisteiro DM, Alezandro MR & Genovese MI (2013) Characterization and effect of clarified aracà juice on postprandial glycemia in healthy subjects. *Food Science and Technology*, 33, 66-74.

Barros F, Awika JM & Rooney LW (2012) Interaction of tannins and other sorghum phenolic compounds with starch and effects on *in vitro* starch digestibility. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60, 11609-11617.

Bastianetto S, Zheng WH & Quirion R (2000) Neuroprotective abilities of resveratrol and other red wine constituents against nitric oxide related toxicity in cultured hippocampus neurons. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 131, 711-720.

Basu A, Du M, Sanchez K, Leyva M, Betts NM, Blevins S, Wu M, Aston CE & Lyons TJ (2011) Green tea minimally affects biomarkers of inflammation in obese subjects with metabolic syndrome. *Nutrition*, 27, 206-213.

Baur JA, Pearson KJ, Price NL et al. (2006) Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high calorie diet. Nature, 444, 337-342.

Beckman CH (2000) Phenolic storing cells: keys to programmed cell death and periderm formation in wilt disease resistance and in general defense responses in plants? *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 57, 101-10.

Benzie IFF & Strain JJ (1996) The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of 'antioxidant power': the FRAP assay. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 239, 70-76.

Bermúdez-Soto MJ, Tomás-Barberán FA & García-Conesa MT (2007) Stability of polyphenols in chokeberry subjected to *in vitro* gastric and pancreatic digestion. *Food Chemistry*, 102, 865-874.

Besco E, Braccioli E, Vertuani S, Ziosi P, Brazzo F, Bruni R, Sacchetti G & Manfredini S (2007) The use of photochemiluminescence for the measurement of the integral antioxidant capacity of baobab products. *Food Chemistry*, 102, 1352-1356.

Beta T, Corke H, Rooney LW & Taylor JRN (2001) Starch properties as affected by sorghum grain chemistry. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 81, 245-251.

Betts JW, Kelly SM & Haswell SJ (2011) Antibacterial effects of theaflavin and synergy with epicatechin against clinical isolates of Acinetobacter baumannii and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 38, 421-425.

Bhat M, Zinjarde SS, Bhargava SY, Kumar AR & Joshi BN (2011) Anti-diabetic Indian plants: a good source of potent amylase inhibitors, evidence based complementary and alternative medicine. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*.

Bhatt JK, Thomas S & Nanjan MJ (2012) Resveratrol supplementation improves glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutrition Research, 32, 537-541.

Bhatti SK, O'Keefe JH & Lavie CJ (2013) Coffee and tea: perks for health and longevity. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 16, 688-697.

Bhupathiraju SN, Tobias DK, Malik VS, Pan A, Hruby A, Manson JE, Willett WC & Hu FB (2014) Glycemic index, glycemic load, and risk of type 2 diabetes: results from 3 large US cohorts and an updated meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 100, 218-232.

Birnbaum MJ (2001) Turning down insulin signaling. Journal of Clinical Investment, 108, 655-659.

Björk IM & Nyman MA (1987) *In vitro* effects of phytic acid and polyphenols on starch digestion and fiber degradation. *Journal of Food Science*, 52, 1588–1594.

Blomhoff R, Carlsen M, Halvorsen B, Holte K, Bohn S, Dragland S, Sampson L, Willey C, Senoo H, Umezono Y, Sanada C, Barikmo I, Berhe N, Willett W, Phillips K & Jacobs D (2010) The total antioxidant content of more than 3100 foods, beverages, spices, herbs and supplements used worldwide. *Nutrition Journal*, 9, 3.

Boath AS, Stewart D & McDougall GJ (2012) Berry components inhibit α-glucosidase *in vitro*: Synergies between acarbose and polyphenols from black currant and rowanberry. *Food Chemistry*, 135, 929-936.

Bogdanski P, Suliburska J, Szulinska M, Stepien M, Pupek-Musialik D & Jablecka A (2012) Green tea extract reduces blood pressure, inflammatory biomarkers, and oxidative stress and improves parameters associated with insulin resistance in obese, hypertensive patients. *Nutrition Research*, 32, 421-427.

Bolton RP, Heaton KW & Burroughs LF (1981) The role of dietary fiber in satiety, glucose, and insulin: studies with fruit and fruit juice. *Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 34, 211-217.

Bors W, Michel C & Stettmaier K (2001) Structure-activity relationships governing antioxidant capacities of plant polyphenols. *Methods in Enzymology*, 335, 166-180.

Boschmann M & Thielecke F (2007) The effects of epigallocatechin-3-gallate on thermogenesis and fat oxidation in obese men: a pilot study. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 26, 389s-395s.

Brasnyó P, Molnár GA, Mohás M et al. (2011) Resveratrol improves insulin sensitivity, reduces oxidative stress and activates the Akt pathway in type 2 diabetic patients. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106, 383-389.

Brennan CS (2005) Dietary fibre, glycaemic response, and diabetes. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, 49, 560-570.

Brennan MA, Derbyshire EJ, Brennan CS & Tiwari BK (2012) Impact of dietary fibre-enriched ready-to-eat extruded snacks on the postprandial glycaemic response of non-diabetic patients. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 56, 834-837.

British Nutrition Foundation (2014) Healthy eating: Fruit and vegetables; available at <u>http://www.nutrition.org.uk/healthyliving/healthyeating/fruit-and-vegetables</u>.

Brouns F, Bjorck I, Frayn KN, Gibbs AL, Lang V, Slama G & Wolever TMS (2005) Glycaemic index methodology. Nutrition Research Reviews, 18, 145-171.

Bryans JA, Judd PA & Ellis PR (2007) The effect of consuming instant black tea on postprandial plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in healthy humans. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 26, 471-477.

Buijsse B, Weikert C, Drogan D, Bergmann M & Boeing H (2010) Chocolate consumption in relation to blood pressure and risk of cardiovascular disease in German adults. *European Heart Journal*, 31, 1616–1623.

Burton-Freeman B (2010) Postprandial metabolic events and fruit-derived phenolics: a review of the science. British Journal of Nutrition, 104, s1-s14.

Cabrera C, Reyes A & Gimenez R (2006) Beneficial effects of green tea - a review. Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 25, 79-99.

Cacciola F, Donato P, Beccaria M, Dugo P, & Mondillo L (2012) Advances in LC-MS for food analysis. LC-GC Europe, 25, 15-24.

Canas S, Belchior AP, Spranger MI & Bruno de Sousa R (2003) High performance liquid chromatography method for analysis of phenolic acids, phenolic aldehydes and furanic derivatives in brandies; Development and validation. *Journal of Separation Science*, 26, 496-502.

Carris-Veyrat C, Amiot MJ, Tyssandier V, Grasselly D, Buret M, Mikolajczak M, Guilland JC, Bouteloup-Demange C & Borel P (2004) Influence of organic versus conventional agricultural practice on the antioxidant micro constituent content of tomatoes and derived purees; consequences on antioxidant plasma status in humans. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 6503–6509.

Carter P, Gray LJ, Troughton J, Khunti K & Davies MJ (2010) Fruit and vegetable intake and incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: systematic review and metaanalysis. *British Medical Journal*, 341, c4229.

Cavallero A, Empilli S, Brighenti F & Stanca AM (2002) High (1-3,1-4)-β-glucan barley fractions in bread making and their effects on human glycaemic response. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 36, 59-66.

Ceriello A (2005) Postprandial hyperglycemia and diabetes complications: is it time to treat? Diabetes, 54, 1-7.

Cermak R, Landgraf S & Wolffram S (2004) Quercetin glucosides inhibit glucose uptake into brush boarder membrane vesicles of porcine jejunum. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 91, 849-855.

Chai Y, Wang M & Zhang G (2013) Interaction between amylose and tea polyphenols modulates the postprandial glycemic response to high-amylose maize starch. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61, 8608-8615.

Charmorro S, Viveros A, Alvarez I, Vega E & Brenes A (2012) Changes in polyphenol and polysaccharide content of grape seed extract and grape pomace after enzymatic treatment. *Food Chemistry*, 133, 308-314.

Cheng Q, Cai S, Ni D, Wang R, Zhou F, Ji B & Chen Y (2013) *In vitro* antioxidant and pancreatic α-amylase inhibitory activity of isolated fractions from water extract of Qingzhuan tea. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*.

Cheplick S, Kwon YI, Bhownik P & Shetty K (2007) Clonal variation in raspberry fruit phenolics and relevance for diabetes and hypertension management. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 31, 656-679.

Cheplick S, Kwon YI, Bhownik P & Shetty K (2010) Phenolic linked variation in strawberry cultivars for potential dietary management of hyperglycemia and related complications of hypertension. *Bioresource Technology*, 101, 404-413.

Chiva-Blanch G & Visioli F (2012) Polyphenols and health: Moving beyond antioxidants. Journal of Berry Research, 2, 63-71.

Chiva-Blanch G, Arranz S, Lamuela-Raventos RM & Estruch R (2013) Effects of wine, alcohol and polyphenols on cardiovascular disease risk factors: evidences from human studies. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 49, 270–277.

Cho YY, Baek NI, Chung HG et al. (2012) Randomized controlled trial of Sajabalssuk (Artemisia princeps Pampanini) to treat pre-diabetes. European Journal of Integrative Medicine, 4, e299-e308.

Choo JJ (2003) Green tea reduces body fat accretion caused by high-fat diet in rats through  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor activation of thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 14, 671-676.

Christensen AS, Viggers L, Hasselström K & Gregersen S (2013) Effect of fruit restriction on glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes - a randomized trial. *Nutrition Journal*, 12, 6.

Chun OK, Chung SJ, Claycombe KJ & Song WO (2008) Serum C reactive protein concentrations are inversely associated with dietary flavonoid intake in US adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 138, 753-760.

Clegg M, Pratt M, Meade C & Henry C (2011) The addition of raspberries and blueberries to a starch based food does not alter the glycaemic response. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106, 335-338.

Clifford MN (1999) Chlorogenic acids and other cinnamates-nature, occurrence and dietary burden. Journal of Science and Food Agriculture, 79, 362-372.

Coe SA, Clegg M, Armengol M & Ryan L (2013) The polyphenol rich baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.) reduces starch digestion and glycemic response in humans. *Nutrition Research*, 33, 888-896.

Conte A, Pellegrini S & Taqliazucchi D (2003) Effect of resveratrol and catechin on PC12 tyrosine kinase activities and their synergistic protection from  $\beta$ -amyloid toxicity. *Drugs Under Experimental and Clinical Research*, 20, 243-255.

Cordero-Herrera I, Martín MA, Bravo L, Goya L & Ramos S (2013) Cocoa flavonoids improve insulin signaling and modulate glucose production via AKT and AMPK in HepG2 cells. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 57, 974-985.

Crawford P (2009) Effectiveness of cinnamon for lowering hemoglobin A1C in patients with type 2 diabetes: A randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 22, 507-512.

Crozier A, Del Rio D & Clifford MN (2010) Bioavailability of dietary flavonoids and phenolic compounds. Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 31, 446-467.

Curtis PJ, Sampson M, Potter J, Dhatariya K, Kroon PA & Cassidy A (2012) Chronic ingestion of flavan-3-ols and isoflavones improves insulin sensitivity and lipoprotein status and attenuates estimated 10-Year CVD risk in medicated postmenopausal women with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 35, 226-232.

D' Archivio MD, Files C, Benedetto RD, Garglylo R, Giovannini C & Masella R (2007) Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability. *Annali - Istituto Superiore di Sanità*, 43, 348–361.

da Silva Pinto M, Kwon YI, Apostolidis E, Lajolo FM, Genovese MI & Shetty K (2008) Functionality of bioactive compounds in Brazilian strawberry cultivars: evaluation of hyperglycemia and hypertension potential using *in vitro* models. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 4386-4392.

da Silva Pinto M, Kwon YI, Apostolidis E, Lajolo FM, Genovese MI & Shetty K (2010) Evaluation of red currants, blackcurrants, red and green gooseberries for potential management of type 2 diabetes and hypertension using *in vitro* models. *Journal of Food Biochemistry*, 34, 639-660.

Day AJ, Bao Y, Morgan MR & Williamson G (2000a) Conjugation position of quercetin glucuronide and effect on biological activity. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 29, 1234–1243.

Day AJ, Cañada FJ, Díaz JC, Kroon PA, Mclauchlan R, Faulds CB, Plumb GW, Morgan MRA & Williamson G (2000b) Dietary flavonoid and isoflavone glycosides are hydrolysed by the lactase site of lactase phlorizin hydrolase. *FEBS Letters*, 468, 166-170.

De Caluwé E, Halamová K & Van Damme P (2010) Adansonia digitata L. A review of traditional uses, phytochemistry and pharmacology. Afrika Focus, 23, 11-51.

De Castro Palomino Siller A (2006) In vitro starch digestibility and estimated glycaemic index of sorghum products Texas A&M University.

de Maat MP, Pijl H, Kluft C & Princen HM (2000) Consumption of black and green tea had no effect on inflammation, haemostasis and endothelial markers in smoking healthy individuals. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54, 757-763.

del Toma E, Lintas C, Clementi A & Marcelli M (1988) Soluble and insoluble dietary fibre in diabetic diets. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 42, 313-319.

Deshpande SS & Salunkhe DK (1982) Interactions of tannic acid and catechin with legume starches. Journal of Food Science, 47, 2080-2081.

Diabetes UK (2013) Diabetes in the UK 2013: Key statistics on diabetes. Available at http://www.diabetes.org.uk/.

Diabetes UK (2014) available at http://www.diabetes.org.uk/.

Dickinson S, Hancock DP, Petocz P, Ceriello A & Brand-Miller J (2008) High–glycemic index carbohydrate increases nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B activation in mononuclear cells of young, lean healthy subjects. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87, 1188-1193.

Dikeman CL & Fahey GC (2006) Viscosity as related to dietary fiber: a review. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 46, 649-663.

Diop AG, Sakho M, Dornier M, Cisse M & Reynes M (2006) The African baobab (Adansonia digitata L.): key features and uses. Fruits, 61, 55-69.

Dong JY & Qin LQ (2011) Soy isoflavones consumption and risk of breast cancer incidence or recurrence: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Breast Cancer Research*, 125, 315-323.

Dresner A, Laurent D, Marcucci M, Griffin ME, Dufour S, Cline GW, Slezak LA, Andersen DK, Hundal RS, Rothman DL, Petersen KF & Shulman GI (1999) Effects of free fatty acids on glucose transport and IRS-1–associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 103, 253-259.

Dulloo AG, Duret C, Rohrer D, Girardier L, Mensi N, Fathi M, Chantre P & Vandermander J (1999) Efficacy of a green tea extract rich in catechin polyphenols and caffeine in increasing 24-h energy expenditure and fat oxidation in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 70, 1040-1045.

Dulloo AG, Seydoux J, Girardier L, Chantre P & Vandermander J (2000) Green tea and thermogenesis: interactions between catechin-polyphenols, caffeine and sympathetic activity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 24, 252-258.

Dupont MS, Day AJ, Bennett RN, Mellon FA & Kroon PA (2004) Absorption of kaempferol from endive, a source of kaempferol-3-glucoronide, in humans. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 58, 947-954.

Edirisinghe I, Banaszewski K, Cappozzo J, Sandhya K, Ellis CL, Tadapaneni R, Kappagoda CT & Burton-Freeman BM (2011) Strawberry anthocyanin and its association with postprandial inflammation and insulin. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 106, 913-922.

Eelderink C, Moerdijk-Poortvliet T, Wang H, Schepers M, Preston T, Boer T, Vonk RJ, Schierbeek H & Priebe MG (2012) The glycemic response does not reflect the *in vivo* starch digestibility of fiber-rich wheat products in healthy men. *Journal of Nutrition*, 142, 258-263.

El-Sayed MIK (2011) Effects of portulaca oleracea L. seeds in treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients as adjunctive and alternative therapy. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 137, 643-651.

Englyst HN & Hudson GJ (1987) Colorimetric method for routine measurement of dietary fibre as non-starch polysaccharides. A comparison with gas-liquid chromatography. *Food Chemistry*, 24, 63-76.

Englyst HN, Veenstra J & Hudson GJ (1996) Measurement of rapidly available glucose (RAG) in plant foods: a potential *in vitro* predictor of the glycaemic response. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 75, 327-337.

Englyst KN, Englyst HN, Hudson GJ, Cole TJ & Cummings JH (1999) Rapidly available glucose in food: an *in vitro* measurement that reflects the glycemic response. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 69, 448-454.

Eshak ES, Iso H, Mizoue T, Inoue M, Noda M, Noda M & Tsugane S (2013) Soft drink, 100% fruit juice, and vegetable juice intakes and risk of diabetes mellitus. *Clinical Nutrition*, 32, 300-308.

Estruch R & Lamuela-Raventos RM (2014) Wine, alcohol, polyphenols and cardiovascular disease. Nutrition and Aging, 2, 2-3.

European Food Safety Authority (2014) Nutrition and health claims; available at http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/topics/topic/nutrition.htm.

FAO/WHO (1998) Carbohydrates in human nutrition. Report of a Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation. FAO Food Nutrition Paper, 66, 1-140.

Farrell TL, Ellam SL, Forrelli T & Williamson G (2013) Attenuation of glucose transport across Caco-2 cell monolayers by a polyphenol-rich herbal extract: Interactions with SGLT1 and GLUT2 transporters. *Biofactors*, 39, 448-456.

Felgines C, Talavéra S, Gonthier MP, Texier O, Scalbert A, Lamaison JL & Rémséy C (2003) Strawberry anthocyanins are recovered in the urine as glucuroand sulfoconjugates in humans. *Journal of Nutrition*, 133, 1296–1301.

Flammang AM, Kendall DM, Baumgartner CJ, Slagle BA & Choe YS (2006) Effect of a viscous fiber bar on postprandial glycemia in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 25, 409-414.

Flint A, Gregersen NT, Gluud LL, Moller BK, Raben A, Tetens I, Verdich C & Astrup A (2007) Associations between postprandial insulin and blood glucose responses, appetite sensations and energy intake in normal weight and overweight individuals: a meta-analysis of test meal studies. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 98, 17-25.

Flour and Bread Consumption (2014) NABIM, London UK; available at http://www.nabim.org.uk/statistics/flour-and-bread-consumption.

Forester SC, Gu Y & Lambert JD (2012) Inhibition of starch digestion by the green tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 56, 1647-1654.

Fukino Y, Shimbo M, Aoki N, Okubo T & Iso H (2005) Randomized controlled trial for an effect of green tea consumption on insulin resistance and inflammation markers. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 51, 336-342.

Galleano M, Calabro V, Prince PD, Litterio MC, Piotrkowski B, Vazquez-Prieto MA, Miatello RM, Oteiza PI & Fraga CG (2012) Flavonoids and metabolic syndrome. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1259, 87-94.

Gannon MC & FQ Nuttall (1987) Factors affecting interpretation of postprandial glucose and insulin areas. Diabetes Care, 10, 759-763.

Gebauer J, El-Siddig K & Ebert G (2002) Baobab (*Adansonia digitata* L.): a review on a multipurpose tree with a promising future in the Sudan. *Gartenbauwissenschaft*, 67, 155-160.

Ghani A & Agbejule AO (1986) A pharmacognostic study of the fruits of *Adansonia digitata* L. The State of Medicinal Plant Research in Nigeria, Ife, Nigeria, University of Ife 181–185.

Ghanim H, Sia CL, Korzeniewski K, Lohano, Abuaysheh S, Marumganti A, Chaurdhuri A & Dandona P (2011) A resveratrol and polyphenol preparation suppresses oxidative and inflammatory stress response to a high-fat, high-carbohydrate meal. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 96.

Gharras HE (2009) Polyphenols: food sources, properties and applications – a review. International Journal of Food Science & Technology, 44, 2512-2518.

Goff LM, Cowland DE, Hooper L & Frost GS (2013) Low glycaemic index diets and blood lipids: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 23, 1-10.

Gonthier MP, Donovan JL, Texier O, Felgines C, Remesy C & Scalbert A (2003) Metabolism of dietary procyanidins in rats. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 35, 837-844.

González-Castejón M & Rodriguez-Casao A (2011) Dietary phytochemicals and their potential effects on obesity: a review. *Pharmacological Research*, 64, 438-455

Graefe EI, Wittig J, Mueller S, Riethling AK, Uehleke B, Drewelow B, Pforte H., Jacobasch G, Derendorf H & Veit M (2001) Pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of quercetin glycosides in humans. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 41, 492–499.

Granfeldt YE & Björck IME (2011) A bilberry drink with fermented oatmeal decreases postprandial insulin demand in young healthy adults. *Nutrition Journal*, 10.

Grassi D, Lipi C, Necozione S, Desideri G & Ferri C (2005) Short-term administration of dark chocolate is followed by a significant increase in insulin sensitivity and a decrease in blood pressure in healthy persons. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 611-614.

Green RJ, Murphy AS, Schulz B, Watkins BA & Ferruzzi MG (2007) Common tea formulations modulate *in vitro* digestive recovery of green tea catechins. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 51, 1152-1162.

Gruendel S, Garcia AL, Otto B, Mueller C, Steiniger J, Weickert MO, Speth M, Katz N & Koebnick C (2006) Carob pulp preparation rich in insoluble dietary fiber and polyphenols enhances lipid oxidation and lowers postprandial acylated ghrelin in humans. *Journal of Nutrition*, 136, 1533-1538.

Gruendel S, Otto B, Garcia AL, Wagner K, Mueller C, Weickert MO, Heldwein W & Koebnick C (2007) Carob pulp preparation rich in insoluble dietary fibre and polyphenols increases plasma glucose and serum insulin responses in combination with a glucose load in humans. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 98, 101-105.

Gruenwald J (2009) Novel botanical ingredients for beverages. Clinical Dermatology, 27, 210-216.

Grussu D, Sterwart D & Mcdougall G (2011) Berry polyphenols inhibit α-amylase *in vitro*: identify active components in rowanberry and raspberry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 2324-2331.

Guo Y, Mah E, Davis CG, Jalili T, Ferruzzi MG, Chun OK & Bruno RS (2013) Dietary fat increases quercetin bioavailability in overweight adults. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 57, 896-905.

Guyot S, Marnet N & Drilleau J (2001) Thiolysis – HPLC characterization of apple procyanidins covering a large range of polymerization states. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 14–20.

Guzar I (2012) Effect of starch-polyphenol interactions on starch hydrolysis. A thesis presented to University of Guelph, Ontario Canada.

Guzman-Maldonado H, Paredes-Lopez O & Biliaderis CG (1995) Amylolytic enzymes and products derived from starch: A review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 35, 373-403.

Halliwell B (2008) Are polyphenols antioxidants or pro-oxidants? What do we learn from cell culture and *in vivo* studies? *Archives of Biochemistry & Biophysics*, 476, 107–112.

Hanhineva K, Törrönen R, Bondia-Pons I, Pekkinen J, Kolehmainen M, Mykkänen H & Poutanen K (2010) Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 11, 1365-1402.

Hara Y & Honda M (1990) The inhibition of α-amylase by tea phenols. Agricultural and Biological Chemistry, 54, 1939-1945.

Harada U, Chikama A, Saito S, Takase H, Nagao T, Hase T & Tolimitsu I (2005) Effects of the long term ingestion of tea catechins on energy expenditure and dietary fat oxidation in healthy subjects. *Journal of Health Science*, 51, 248-252.

Harborne JB & Williams CA (2000) Advances in flavonoid research since 1992. Phytochemistry, 55, 481-504.

Hardman WE (2014) Diet components can suppress inflammation and reduce cancer risk. Nutrition Research and Practice, 8, 233-240.

Hargrove JL, Greenspan P, Hartle DK & Dowd C (2011) Inhibition of aromatase and α-amylase by flavonoids and proanthocyanidins from sorghum bicolor bran extracts. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 14, 799-807.

Harman D (2006) Free radical theory of aging: an update. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1067, 10-21.

Health and Social Care Information Centre (2013) *Statistics on obesity, physical activity and diet-England*; available at <a href="http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB10364">http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB10364</a>.

Hegde SV, Adhikari P, Nandini M & D' Souza V (2013) Effect of daily supplementation of fruits on oxidative stress indices and glycaemic status in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, 19, 97-100.

Higdon J (2005) Flavonoids. Linus Pauling Institute, Oregon State University; available at <a href="http://lpi.oregonstate.edu/infocenter/phytochemicals/flavonoids/">http://lpi.oregonstate.edu/infocenter/phytochemicals/flavonoids/</a>.

Hii CS & Howell SL (1985) Effects of flavonoids on insulin secretion and 45Ca2+ handling in rat islets of Langerhans. Journal of Endocrinology, 107, 1-8.

Hooper L, Kroon PA, Rimm EB, Cohn JS, Harvey I, Le Cornu KA, Ryder JJ, Hall WL & Cassidy A (2008) Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 88, 38-50.

Horvath PJ (1981) The nutritional and ecological significance of tannins and related polyphenols. MS Thesis. Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, USA.

Hosoda K, Furuta T, Yokoawa A, Ogura K, Hiratsuka A & Ishii K (2008) Plasma profiling of intact isoflavone metabolites by high-performance liquid chromatography and mass spectrometric identification of flavone glycosides daidzin and genistein in human plasma after administration of *Kinako*. *Drug Metabolism & Disposition*, 36, 1485-1495.

Hosokowa M & Thorens B (2002) Glucose release from GLUT2-null hepatocytes: characterization of a major and a minor pathway. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 282, E794-E801.

Hotamisligil GS (1999) Mechanisms of TNF-α induced insulin resistance. Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes, 107, 119-125.

Hsu CH, Liao YL, Lin SC, Tsai TH, Huang CJ & Chou P (2011) Does supplementation with green tea extract improve insulin resistance in obese type 2 diabetics? A randomized, double blond, and placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Alternative Medicine Review*, 16, 157-163.

Huaidong D, van der A DL, van Bakel MME, van der Kallen CJH, Blaak EE, van Greevenbroek MMJ, Jansen EHJM, Nijpels G, Stehouwer, CDA, Dekker JM & Feskens E (2008) Glycemic index and glycemic load in relation to food and nutrient intake and metabolic risk factors in a Dutch population. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*,, 87, 655-661.

Huang HB, Guo QX, Qiu CS, Huang BY, Fu XG, Yao J, Liang JX, Li LT, Chen L, Tang KK, Lin LX Lu, JL, Bi YF, Ning G, Wen JP, Lin CJ & Chen G (2013) Associations of green tea and rock tea consumption with risk of impaired fasting glucose and impaired glucose tolerance in Chinese men and women. *PlosOne*, 87.

Huang S & Czech MP (2007) The GLUT4 glucose transporter. Cellular Metabolism, 5, 237-252.

Hursel R, Viechtbauer W & Westerterp-Plantenga MS (2009) The effects of green tea on weight loss and weight maintenance: a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Obesity*, 33, 956–961.

Hursel R, Viechtbauer W, Dulloo AG, Tremblay A, Tappy L, Rumpler W & Westerterp-Plantenga MS (2011) The effects of catechin rich teas and caffeine on energy expenditure and fat oxidation: a meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews*, 12, e573-e581

Huxley R, Ying Lee CM, Barzi F, Timmermeister L, Czernichow S, Perkovic V, Grobbee DE, Batty D & Woodward M (2009) Coffee, decaffeinated coffee, and tea consumption in relation to incident type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Internal Medicine*, 169, 2053-2063.

Jacques PF, Cassidy A, Rogers G, Peterson JJ, Meigs JB & Dwyer JT (2013) Higher dietary flavonol intake is associated with lower incidence of type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Nutrition*, 143, 1474-1480.

Jayesh Kumar B, Sabin T & Moola Joghee N (2012) Resveratrol supplementation improves glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition Research*, 32, 537-541.

Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM & Jenkins AL (1988) Starchy foods and glycemic index. Diabetes Care, 11, 149-159.

Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Leeds AR, Gassull MA, Haisman P, Dilawari J, Goff DV, Metz GL & Alberti KG (1978) Dietary fibres, fibre analogues, and glucose tolerance: importance of viscosity. *British Medical Journal*, 1, 1392-1394.

Jenkins DJ, Wolever TM, Taylor RH, Barker H, Fielden H, Baldwin JM, Bowling AC, Newman HC, Jenkins AL & Goff DV (1981) Glycemic index of foods: a physiological basis for carbohydrate exchange. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 34, 362-366.

Johnston KL, Clifford MN & Morgan LM (2002) Possible role for apple juice phenolic compounds in the acute modification of glucose tolerance and gastrointestinal hormone secretion in humans. *Journal of Science and Food Agriculture*, 82, 1800-1805.

Johnston KL, Clifford MN & Morgan LM (2003) Coffee acutely modifies gastrointestinal hormone secretion and glucose tolerance in humans: glycemic effects of chlorogenic acid and caffeine. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78, 728-733.

Johnston KL, Sharp P, Clifford M & Morgan L (2005) Dietary polyphenols decrease glucose uptake by human intestinal caco-2 cells. *FEBS Letters*, 579, 1653-1657.

Johnston MH, Lucius A, Meyer T & Gonzalez de Mejia E (2011) Cultivar evaluation and effect of fermentation on antioxidant capacity and *in vitro* inhibition of  $\alpha$ -amylase and  $\alpha$ -glucosidase by high bush blueberry. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 8923-8930.

Josic J, Tholen Olsson A, Wickerberg J, Lindstedt S & Hlebowicz J (2010) Does green tea affect postprandial glucose, insulin and satiety in healthy subjects: a randomized controlled trial. *Nutrition Journal*, 9, 63.

Juntunen KS, Laaksonen DE, Autio K et al. (2003) Structural differences between rye and wheat breads but not total fiber content may explain the lower postprandial insulin response to rye bread. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78, 957-964.

Kahn SE (2003) The relative contributions of insulin resistance and  $\beta$  cell dysfunction to the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 46, 3-19.

Kallel L, Desseaux V, Hamdi M, Stocker P & Ajandouz EH (2012) Insights into the fermentation biochemistry of Kombucha teas and potential impacts of Kombucha drinking on starch digestion. *Food Research International*, 49, 226-232.

Keli SO, Hertog MG, Feskens EJ & Kromhout D (1995) Flavonoids, antioxidant vitamins and risk of stroke: the Zutphen Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 154, 637-642.

Keogh JB, Lau CWH, Noakes M, Bowen J & Clifton PM (2007) Effects of meals with high soluble fibre, high amylose barley variant on glucose, insulin, satiety and thermic effect of food in healthy lean women. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 61, 597-604.

Khan N & Mukhtar H (2007) Tea polyphenols for health promotion. Life Science, 81, 519-533.

Kianbakht S & Hajiaghaee R (2013) Antihyperglycemic effects of vaccinium arctostaphylose L. fruit and leaf extracts in alloxan induced diabetic rats. *Journal of Medicinal Plants*, 12, 43-50.

Kim JH, Kang MJ, Choi HN, Jeong, SM., Lee YM & Kim JI (2011) Quercetin attenuates fasting and postprandial hyperglycemia in animal models of diabetes mellitus. *Nutritional Research and Practice*, 5, 107-111.

Kim JS, Kwon CS & Son KH (2000) Inhibition of glucosidase and amylase by luteolin, a flavonoid. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry*, 64, 2458-2461.

Kim TJ, Silva JL, Kim MK & Jung YS (2010) Enhanced antioxidant capacity and antimicrobial activity of tannic acid by thermal processing. *Food Chemistry*, 118, 740-746.

Kobayashi Y, Suzuki M, Satsu H, Arai S, Hara Y, Suzuki K, Miyamoto Y & Shimizu M (2000) Green tea polyphenols inhibit the sodium-dependent glucose transport of intestinal epithelial cells by a competitive mechanism. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48, 5618-5623.

Koh LW (2010) Evaluation of different teas against starch digestibility by mammalian glycosidases. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 58, 148-154.

Kohri T, Matsu N, Yamakawa M, Suzuki M, Nanjo F, Hara Y & Oku N (2001) Metabolic fate of (-)-[4-3H] epigallocatechin gallate in rats after oral administration. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 4102-4112.

Kuhnert N, Dairpoosh F, Jaiswal R et al. (2011) Hill coefficients of dietary polyphenolic enzyme inhibitors: can beneficial health effects of dietary polyphenols be explained by allosteric enzyme denaturing? *Journal of Chemical Biology*, 4, 109-116.

Kuzuhara T, Suganuma M & Fujiki H (2008) Green tea catechin as a chemical chaperone in cancer prevention. Cancer Letters, 261, 12-20.

Kwon O, Eck P, Chen S, Ccorpe CP, Lee JH, Kruhlak M & Levine M (2007) Inhibition of the intestinal glucose transporter GLUT2 by flavonoids. *FASEB*, 21, 366-377.

Kwon YI, Apostolidis E & Shetty K (2008) *In vitro* studies of eggplants (Solanum melongena) phenolics as inhibitors of key enzymes relevant for type 2 diabetes and hypertension. *Bioresource Technology*, 99, 2981-2988.

Kwong MGY, Wolever TMS, Brummer Y & Tosh SM (2012) Attenuation of glycemic responses by oat  $\beta$ -glucan solutions and viscoelastic gels is dependent on molecular weight distribution. *Food & Function*, 4, 401-408.

Lakenbrink C, Lapczynski S, Maiwald B & Engelhardt UH (2000) Flavonoids and other polyphenols in consumer brews of tea and other caffeinated beverages. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48, 2848-2852.
Lamien-Meda A, Lamien CE, Compaore MMY, Meda RNT, Kiendrebeogo M, Zeba B, Millogo JF & Nacoulma OG (2008) Polyphenol content and antioxidant activity of fourteen wild edible fruits from Burkina Faso. *Molecules*, 13, 581-594.

Landberg R, Sun Q, Rimm EB, Cassidy A, Scalbert A, Mantzoros C, Hu FB & van Dam RM (2011) Selected dietary flavonoids are associated with markers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in US women. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 141, 628-625.

Landete JM (2012) Updated knowledge about polyphenols: functions, bioavailability, metabolism, and health. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 52, 936-948.

Le Bourvellec C, Guyot S & Renard CM (2004) Non-covalent interaction between procyanidins and apple cell wall material: Part I. Effect of some environmental parameters. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects*, 1672, 192-202.

Lee CY (2013) Challenges in providing credible scientific evidence of health benefits of dietary polyphenols. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 5, 524-526.

Lee KH, Park E, Lee HJ, Kim MO, Cha YJ, Kim JM, Lee H & Shin MJ (2011) Effects of daily quercetin-rich supplementation on cardiometabolic risks in male smokers. *Nutrition Research and Practice*, 5, 28-33.

Leenen R, Roodenburg AJ, Tijburg LB & Wiseman SA (2000) A single dose of tea with or without milk increases plasma antioxidant activity in humans. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54, 87-92.

Liese AD, Schulz M, Fang F, Wolever TMS, D'Agostino RB, Sparks KC & Mayer-Davis EJ (2005) Dietary glycemic index and glycemic load carbohydrate and fiber intake, and measures of insulin sensitivity, secretion, and adiposity in the insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. *Diabetes Care*, 28, 2832-2838.

Lipinski CA, Lombardo F, Dominy BW & Feeney PJ (2012) Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 64, 4-17.

Liu J, Wang M, Peng S & Zhang G (2011) Effects of green tea catechins on the postprandial glycemic response to starches differing in amylose content. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 4582-4588.

Liu K, Zhou R, Wang B, Chen K, Shi LY, Zhu JD & Mi MT (2013) Effect of green tea on glucose control and insulin sensitivity a meta-analysis of 17 randomized controlled trials. *AJCN*, 98, 340-348.

Liu RH (2003) Health benefits of fruit and vegetables are from additive and synergistic combinations of phytochemicals. AJCN, 78, 5175-5205.

López-Sepúlveda R, Jiménez R, Romero M, Zarzuelo MJ, Sánchez M, Gómez-Guzmán M, Vargas F, O'Valle F, Zarzuelo A, Pérez-Vizcaíno F & Duarte J (2008) Wine polyphenols improve endothelial function in large vessels of female spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension*, 51, 1088-1095.

Lu T, Sheng HG, Wu J, Cheng Y, Zhu JM & Chen Y (2012) Cinnamon extract improves fasting blood glucose and glycosylated hemoglobin level in Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition Research*, 32, 408-412.

Lusk G (1928) The elements of the science of nutrition: WB Saunders Co.

Mackenzie T, Leary L & Brooks WB (2007) The effect of an extract of green and black tea on glucose control in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus: double blind randomized study. *Metabolism*, 56, 1340-1344.

Magaia T, Uamusse A, Sjohol I & Skog K (2013) Dietary fiber, organic acids and minerals in selected wild edible fruits of Mozambique. Springer Plus, 2, 88.

Man-Ying Chan M, Mattiacci JA, Hwang HS, Shah A & Fong D (2000) Synergy between ethanol and grape polyphenols, quercetin and resveratrol, in the inhibition of the inducible nitric oxide synthase pathway. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 60, 1539-1548.

Manach C & Donovan JL (2004) Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of dietary flavonoids in humans. Free Radical Research, 38, 771-785.

Manach C, Morand C, Gil – Izquierdo A, Bouteluop–Demange C & Rémésy C (2003) Bioavailability in humans of the flavanones hesperetin and naringenin after the ingestion of two doses of orange juice. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 57, 235–242.

Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Rémésy C & Jiménez L (2004) Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 79, 727-747.

Manach C, Williamson G, Morand C, Scalbert A & Rémésy C (2005) Bioavailability and bio efficacy of polyphenols in humans: Review of 97 bioavailability studies. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 230s–242s.

Manzano S & Williamson G (2010) Polyphenols and phenolic acids from strawberry and apple decrease glucose uptake and transport by human intestinal caco-2 cells. *Molecular Nutrition and Food Research*, 54, 1773-1780.

Marlett, JA, McBurney MI & Slavin JL (2002) Position of the American Dietetic Association: Health implications of dietary fiber. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 102, 993-1000.

Martineau LC, Couture A, Spoor D, Benhaddou-Andaloussi A, Harris C, Meddah B, Leduc C, Burt A, Vuong T, Mai Le P, Prentki M, Bennett SA, Arnason JT & Haddad PS (2006) Anti diabetic properties of the Canadian Iowbush blueberry *Vaccinium angusifolium Ait. Phytomedicine*, 13, 612-623.

Mathur S, Devaraj S, Grundy SM & Jialal I (2002) Cocoa products decrease low density lipoprotein oxidative susceptibility but do not affect biomarkers of inflammation in humans. *Journal of Nutrition*, 132, 366-3667.

Matsui T, Ueda T, Oki T, Sugita K, Terahara N & Matsumoto K (2001) α-Glucosidase inhibitory action of natural acylated anthocyanins. 1. Survey of Natural Pigments with Potent Inhibitory Activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49, 1948–1951.

Mayer J (1953) Glucostatic mechanisms of regulation of food intake. New England Journal of Medicine, 249, 13-16.

McCullough ML, Peterson JJ, Patel R Jacques PF, Shah R & Dwyer JT (2012) Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 95, 454-464.

McDougall GJ & Stewart D (2005) The inhibitory effects of berry polyphenols on digestive enzymes. Biofactors, 23, 189-195.

McDougall GJ, Shpiro F, Dobson P, Smith P, Blake A & Stewart D (2005) Different polyphenolic components of soft fruits inhibit α-amylase and glucosidase. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 2760-2766.

Mckeown NM, Meigs JB, Liu S, Saltzman E, Wilson PWF & Jacques PF (2004) Carbohydrate nutrition, insulin resistance, and the prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in the Framingham offspring cohort. *Diabetes Care*, 27, 538-546.

Medzhitov R (2008) Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature, 454, 428-435.

Mennen LI, Walker R, Bennetau-Pelissero C & Scalbert A (2005) Risk and safety of polyphenol consumption. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 326S-329S.

Miao M, Jianga H, Jianga H, Zhanga T, Cuia SW & Jina Z (2014) Phytonutrients for controlling starch digestion: Evaluation of grape skin extract. *Food Chemistry*, 145, 205-211.

Milner JA (2000) Functional foods: the US perspective. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 71, 1654s-1659s.

Mishra S & Monro, JA (2009) Digestibility of starch fractions in whole grain rolled oats. Journal of Cereal Science, 50, 61-66.

Mishra S, Monro JA & Hedderley D (2008) Effect of processing on slowly digestible starch and resistant starch in potato. Starch, 60, 500-507.

Monagas M, Khan N, Andres-Lacueva C, Casas R, Urpí-Sardà M, Llorach R, Lamuela-Raventós RM, & Estruch R (2009) Effect of cocoa powder on the modulation of inflammatory biomarkers in patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90, 1144-1150.

Monro JA & Mishra S (2010) Glycemic impact as a property of foods is accurately measured by an available carbohydrate method that mimics the glycemic response. *Journal of Nutrition*, 140, 1328-1334.

Morre DM & Morre DJ (2006) Anticancer activity of grape and grape skin extracts alone and combined with green tea infusions. Cancer Letters, 238, 202-209.

Most J, Goossens GH, Jocken JWE & Blaak EE (2014) Short-term supplementation with a specific combination of dietary polyphenols increases energy expenditure and alters substrate metabolism in overweight subjects. *International Journal of Obesity*, 38, 698-706.

Motilva MJ, Serra A & Macià A (2013) Analysis of food polyphenols by ultra high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry: An overview. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1292, 66-82.

Mukamel KJ, MacDermott K, Vinson JA, Oyama N, Manning WJ & Mittleman MA (2007) A 6-month randomized pilot study of black tea and cardiovascular risk factors. *American Heart Journal*, 154, 724e1-726.

Mulaudzi RB, Ndhlala AR, Kulkarni MG, Finnie JF & Staden JV (2011) Antimicrobial properties and phenolic contents of medicinal plants used by the Venda people for conditions related to venereal diseases. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 135, 330-337.

Mullen W, Archeveque MA, Edwards CA & Crozier A (2008) Bioavailability and metabolism of orange juice flavanones in humans: impact of a full fat yogurt. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 11157-11164.

Mullen W, Edwards CA & Crozier A (2006) Absorption, excretion and metabolic profiling of methyl-, glucuronyl-, glucosyl and sulpho-conjugates of quercetin in human plasma and urine after ingestion of onions. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 96, 107-116.

Murase T, Misawa K, Minegishi Y, Aoki M, Ominami H, Suzuki Y, Shibuya Y & Hase T (2011) Coffee polyphenols suppress diet induced body fat accumulation by down regulating SREBP-1c and related molecules in C57BL/6J mice. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 300, E122-E133.

Murase T, Nagasawa A, Suzuki J, Hase T & Tokimitsu I (2002) Beneficial effects of tea catechins on diet induced obesity: stimulation of lipid catabolism in the liver. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders*, 26, 1459-1464.

Mursu J, Virtanen JK, Tuomainen TP, Nurmi T & Voutilainen S (2014) Intake of fruit, berries, and vegetables and risk of type 2 diabetes in Finnish men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease risk factor study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 99, 328-333.

Nanri A, Mizoue T, Takahashi Y, Kirri K, Inoue M, Noda M & Tsugane S (2010) Soy product and isoflavone intakes are associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in overweight Japanese women, *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 109.

Narita Y & Inouye K (2009) Kinetic analysis and mechanism on the inhibition of chlorogenic acid and its components against porcine pancreas α-amylase isozymes 1 and 2. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57, 9218-9225.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2014) Type 2 Diabetes; available at https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/InDevelopment/GID-CGWAVE0612.

Neveu V, Perez-Jiménez J, Vos F, Crespy V, du Chaffaut L, Mennen L, Knox C, Eisner R, Cruz J, Wishart D & Scalbert A (2010) Phenol-Explorer: an online comprehensive database on polyphenol contents in foods. *Database*, doi: 10.1093/database/bap024.

Ning B, Brown RC, Venn BJ, Williams SM & Green TJ (2010) The effect of the fat and carbohydrate contents in the evening meal preceding GI testing on GI. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 64, 224-226.

Niwano Y, Adachi T, Kashimura J, Sakata T, Sasaki H, Sekine K, Yamamoto S, Yonekubo A & Kimura S (2008) Is glycemic index of food a feasible predictor of appetite. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 55, 201-207.

Nour AA, Magboul BI & Kheiri NH (1980) Chemical composition of baobab fruit (Adansonia digitata L.). Tropical Sciences, 22, 383-388.

Ochiai R, Sugiura Y, Shioya Y, Otsuka K, Katsuragi Y & Hashiguchi T (2014) Coffee polyphenols improve peripheral endothelial function after glucose loading in healthy male adults. *Nutrition Research*, 34, 155-159.

Olaokun OO, McGaw LJ, Eloff JN & Naidoo V (2013) Evaluation of the inhibition of carbohydrate hydrolysing enzymes, antioxidant activity and polyphenolic content of extracts of ten African Ficus species (Moraceae) used traditionally to treat diabetes. *Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 13.

Osman MA (2004) Chemical and nutrient analysis of baobab (Adansonia digitata) fruit and seed protein solubility. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition, 59, 29-33.

Ovaskainen ML, Törrönen R, Koponen JM, Sinkko H, Hellström J, Reinivu H & Mattila P (2008) Dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in Finnish adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 138, 562-566.

Oyelek GO, Salam MA & Adetoro RO (2012) Some aspects of nutrient analysis of seed, pulp and oil of baobab (*Adansonia digitata* L.). *Journal of Environmental Science, Toxicology and Food Technology*, 1, 32-35.

Packer SC, Dornhorst A & Frost GS (2000) The glycaemic index of a range of gluten-free foods, Diabetic Medicine, 17, 657-660.

Pandey KB & Rizvi SI (2009) Current understanding of dietary polyphenols and their role in health and disease. *Current Nutrition and Food Science*, 5, 249–263.

Passamonti S, Vrhovsek U & Mattivi F (2002) The interaction of anthocyanins with bilitranslocase. *Biochemistry and Biophysical Research Communication*, 296, 631-636.

Pereira MA, Parker EM & Folsom AR (2006) Coffee consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: an 11-year prospective study of 28812 postmenopausal women. *Archives of International Medicine*, 166, 1311-1316.

Pérez-Jiménez J, Fezeu L, Touvier M, Arnault N, Manach C, Hercberg S, Galan P & Scalbert A (2011) Dietary intake of 337 polyphenols in French adults. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 93, 1220-1228.

Peters CM, Green RJ, Janle EM & Ferruzzi MG (2010) Formulation with ascorbic acid and sucrose modulates catechin bioavailability from green tea. *Food Research International*, 43, 95–102.

Phipps SM, Sharaf MHM & Butterweck V (2007) Assessing antioxidant activity in botanicals and other dietary supplements. Pharmacopeial Forum, 33.

Pi-Sunyer FX (2002) Glycemic index and disease. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 76, 2905-2985.

Pignatellis P, Pulcinelli FM. Celestini A, Lenti L, ghiselli A, Gazzaniga PP & Violi F (2000) The flavonoids quercetin and catechin synergistically inhibit platelet function by antagonizing the intracellular production of hydrogen peroxide. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 72, 1150-1155.

Pinent M, Blay M, Blade MC, Salvado MJ, Arola L & Ardevol A (2004) Grape seed derived procyanidins have an antihyperglycemic effect in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats and insulinomimetic activity in insulin-sensitive cell lines. *Endocrinology*, 145, 4985-4990.

Pinent M, Castell A, Baiges I, Montagut G, Arola L & Ardévol A (2008) Bioactivity of flavonoids on insulin secreting cells. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 7, 299-308.

Piparo EL, Scheib H, Frei N, Williamson G, Grigorov M & Chou CJ (2008) Flavonoids for controlling starch digestion: structural requirements for inhibiting human α-amylase. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 51, 3555-3561.

Prior RL, Wu X. & Schaich K (2005) Standardized methods for the determination of antioxidant capacity and phenolics in foods and dietary supplements. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 4290–4302.

Queen BL & Tollefsbol TO (2010) Polyphenols and Aging. Current Aging Science, 3, 34-42.

Raben A, Christensen NJ, Madsen J, Holst JJ & Astrup A (1994) Decreased postprandial thermogenesis and fat oxidation but increased fullness after a high fiber meal compared with a low fiber meal. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 59, 136-139.

Radulian G, Rusu E, Dragomir A & Posea M (2009) Metabolic effects of low glycaemic index diets. Nutrition Journal, 8.

Rains TM, Agarwal S & Maki KC (2011) Antiobesity effects of green tea catechins: a mechanistic review. The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry, 22, 1-7.

Ramadori G, Gautron L, Fujikawa T, Vianna CR, Elmquist JK & Coppari R (2009) Central administration of resveratrol improves diet induced diabetes. *Endocrinology*, 150.

Ranawana V & Henry CJK (2011) Liquid and solid carbohydrate foods: comparative effects on glycaemic and insulin responses, and satiety. *International Journal of Food Science and Nutrition*, 62, 71-81.

Ranawana V, Clegg ME, Shafat A & Henry J (2011) Post mastication digestion factors influence glycemic variability in humans. *Nutrition Research*, 31, 452-459.

Reed GW & Hill JO (1996) Measuring the thermic effect of food. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 63, 164-9.

Regand A, Chowdhurry Z, Tosh SM, Wolever TMS & Wood P (2011) The molecular weight, solubility and viscosity of oat  $\beta$ -glucan affect human glycemic response by modifying starch digestibility. *Food Chemistry*, 129, 297-304.

Rios LY, Bennett RN, Lazarus SA, Rémésy C, Scalbert A & Williamson G (2002) Cocoa procyanidins are stable during gastric transit in humans. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 76, 1106–1110.

Rios LY, Gonthier MP, Rémésy C, Mila I, Lapierre C, Lazarus SA, Williamson G & Scalbert A (2003) Chocolate intake increases urinary excretion of polyphenol – derived phenolic acids in healthy human subjects. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 77, 912–918.

Riso P, Klimis-Zacas D, Del Bo C, Martini D, Campolo J, Vendrame S, Møller P, Loft S, De Maria R & Porrini M (2013) Effect of a wild blueberry (*Vaccinium angustifolium*) drink intervention on markers of oxidative stress, inflammation and endothelial function in humans with cardiovascular risk factors. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 52, 949-961.

Robertson MD, Currie JM, Morgan LM, Jewell DP & Frayn KN (2003) Prior short-term consumption of resistant starch enhances postprandial insulin sensitivity in healthy subjects. *Diabetologia*, 46, 659-665.

Rock W, Rosenblat M, Borochov-Neori H, Volkova N, Judeinstein S, Elias M & Aviram M (2009) Effects of date (Phoenix dactylifera L., Medjool or Hallawi Variety) consumption by healthy subjects on serum glucose and lipid levels and on serum oxidative status: A pilot study. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57, 8010-8017.

Rodriguesa AS, Pérez-Gregoriob MR, García-Falcónb, MS & Simal-Gándarab J (2009) Effect of curing and cooking on flavonols and anthocyanins in traditional varieties of onion bulbs. *Food Research International*, 42, 1331–1336.

Rumpler W, Seale J, Clevidence B et al. (2001) Oolong tea increase metabolic rate and fat oxidation in men. The Journal of Nutrition, 131, 2848-2852.

Rosen L, Blanco Silva L, Andersson U, Holm C, Östman EM & Björck I (2009) Endosperm and whole grain rye breads are characterized by low post-prandial insulin response and a beneficial blood glucose profile. *Nutrition Journal*, 8, 42.

Rosen L, Östman EM & Björck I (2011) Effects of cereal breakfasts on postprandial glucose, appetite regulation and voluntary energy intake at a subsequent standardized lunch: focusing on rye products. *Nutrition Journal*, 10.

Rosen L, Östman EM, Shewry PR et al. (2011) Postprandial glycemia, insulinemia, and satiety responses in healthy subjects after whole grain rye bread made from different rye varieties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59, 12139-12148.

Rothwell JA, Perez-Jimenez J, Neveu V et al. (2013) Phenol-Explorer 3.0: a major update of the Phenol-Explorer database to incorporate data on the effects of food processing on polyphenol content. *The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation*.

Rothwell NJ & Stock MJ (1983) Diet induced thermogenesis. Mammalian thermogenesis, 208-233.

Rusak G, Komes D, Likic S, Horzic D & Kovac M (2008) Phenolic content and antioxidative capacity of green and white tea extracts depending on extraction conditions and the solvent used. *Food Chemistry*, 110, 852-858.

Ryan L & Carolan S (2011) Determination of the total antioxidant capacity and total polyphenol content of commercially available green tea. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 70, 139.

Ryan L & Petit S (2010) Addition of whole, semi skimmed, and skimmed bovine milk reduces the total antioxidant capacity of black tea. *Nutrition Research*, 30, 14-20.

Ryan L & Prescott SL (2010) Stability of the antioxidant capacity of twenty-five commercially available fruit juices subject to an *in vitro* digestion. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 45, 1191-1197.

Ryan L, O'Connell O, O'Sullivan L, Aherne SA & O'Brien NM (2008) Micellarisation of carotenoids from raw and cooked vegetables. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 63, 127-133.

Ryu OH, Lee J, Lee KW, Kim HY, Seo JA, Kim SG, Kim NH, Baik SH, Choi DS & Choi KM (2008) Effects of green tea consumption on inflammation, insulin resistance and pulse wave velocity in type 2 diabetes patients. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 71, 356-358.

Sabu MC, Smitha K & Ramadasan K (2002) Anti-diabetic activity of green tea polyphenols and their role in reducing oxidative stress in experimental diabetes. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 83, 109-116.

Salas-Salvadó, J, Garcia-Arellano, A, Estruch, R et al. (2008) PREDIMED Investigators. Components of the Mediterranean-type food pattern and serum inflammatory markers among patients at high risk for cardiovascular disease. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 62, 651–659.

Salmerón J, Manson JAE, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, Wing AL & Willett WC (1997) Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of non—insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in women. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 277, 472-477.

Sanaka M, Yamamoto T, Anjiki H, Nagasawa K & Kuyama Y (2007) Effects of agar and pectin on gastric emptying and post-prandial glycaemic profiles in healthy human volunteers. *Clinical Experiment Pharmacology and Physiology*, 34, 1151-1155.

Sang S, Lee MJ, Hou Z, Ho CT & Yang CS (2005) Stability of tea polyphenol epigallocatechin-3-gallate and formation of dimers and epimers under common experimental conditions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 53, 9478-9484.

Santana-Rios G, Orner GA, Likic S, Amantana A, Provost C, Shiau-Yin W & Dashwood RH (2001) Potent antimutagenic activity of white tea in comparison with green tea in the Salmonella assay. *Mutation Research*, 495, 61-74.

Sapwarobol S, Adisakwattana S, Changpeng S, Ratanawachirin W, Tanruttanawong K & Boonyarit W (2012) Postprandial blood glucose response to grape seed extract in healthy participants: a pilot study. *Pharmacognosy Magazine*, 8, 192-196.

Saura-Calixto F, Serrano J & Goñi I (2007) Intake and bioaccessibility of total polyphenols in whole diet. Food Chemistry, 101, 492-501.

Scalbert A & Williamson G (2000) Dietary intake and bioavailability of polyphenols. Journal of Nutrition, 130, 2073s-2085s.

Scalbert A, Johnson IT & Saltmarsh M (2005) Polyphenols: antioxidants and beyond. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 81, 2155-2175.

Scheepers A, Joost HG & Schurmann A (2004) The glucose transporter families SGLT and GLUT: molecular basis of normal and aberrant function. *Journal of Parenteral & Enteral Nutrition*, 28, 364-371.

Schönthal AH (2011) Adverse effects of concentrated green tea extracts. Molecular Nutrition and Food Research, 55, 874-885.

Seeram NP, Zhang Y & Nair MG (2003) Inhibition of proliferation of human cancer cells and cyclooxygenase enzymes by anthocyanidins and catechins. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 46, 101-106.

Setchell KD, Brown NM, Desai P, Zimmer-Nechemias L, Wolfe BE, Brashear WT, Kirschner AS, Cassidy A & Heubi JE (2001) Bioavailability of pure isoflavones in healthy humans and analysis of commercial soy isoflavones supplements. *Journal of Nutrition*, 131, 1362s–1375s.

Seymour ME, Tanone II, Urcuyo-Llanes DE, Lewis SK, Kirakosyan A, Kondoleon MG, Kaufman PB & Bolling SF (2011) Blueberry intake alters skeletal muscle and adipose tissue peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor activity and reduces insulin resistance in obese rats. *Journal of Medicinal Food*, 14, 1-8.

Sharma P & Gujral HS (2010) Antioxidant and polyphenol oxidase activity of germinated barley and its milling fractions. Food Chemistry, 120, 673-678.

Sharma V & Jagan Mohan Rao L (2009) A thought on the biological activities of black tea. Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 49, 379–404.

Sheen AJ (2003) Is there a role for alpha glucosidase inhibitors in the prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus? Drugs, 63, 933-951.

Shimizu M, Kobayashi Y, Suzuki M, Satsu H & Miyamoto Y (2000) Regulation of intestinal glucose transport by tea catechins. BioFactors, 13, 61-65.

Shimoi K, Saka N, Kaji K, Nozawa R & Kinae N (2000) Metabolic fate of luteolin and its functional activity at focal site. Biofactors, 12, 181-186.

Shojaii A, Goushegir A, Dabaghian FH, Abdollahi M & Huseini HF (2011) Herb and herbal preparations for glycemic control in diabetes mellitus (a systematic review). *Journal of Medicinal Plant Research*, 5, 3845-3855.

Siahanidou T, Margeli A, Kappis A, Papassotiriou I & Mandyla H (2011) Circulating visfatin levels in healthy preterm infants are independently associated with high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and dietary long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Metabolism*, 60, 389-393.

Singleton VL & Rossi JA (1965) Colorimetry of total phenolics with phosphomolybdic-phosphotungstic acid reagents. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture*, 16, 144–158.

Skibola CF & Smith MT (2000) Potential health impacts of excessive flavonoid intake. Free Radical Biology & Medicine, 29, 375-383.

Slaughter SL, Ellis PR, Jackson EC & Butterworth PJ (2002) The effect of guar galactomannan and water availability during hydrothermal processing on the hydrolysis of starch catalysed by pancreatic  $\alpha$ -amylase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects*, 1571, 55-63.

Slavin J & Green H (2007) Dietary fibre and satiety. Nutrition Bulletin, 32, 32-43.

Slimestad R & Solheim H (2002) Anthocyanins from black currants. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 50, 3228-3231.

Song J, Kwon O, Chen S, Daruwala R, Eck P, Park JB & Levine Mm (2002) Flavonoid inhibition of sodium-dependent vitamin C transporter 1 and glucose transporter isoform 2, intestinal transporters for vitamin c and glucose. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 15252-15260.

Song Y, Manson JE, Buring JE, Sesso HD & Liu S (2005) Associations of dietary flavonoids with risk of type 2 diabetes, and markers of insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in women: A prospective study and cross sectional analysis. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 24, 376-384.

Soon YY & Barlow PJ (2004) Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of selected fruit seeds. Food Chemistry, 88, 411-17.

Spencer JPE, Mohsen MMAE, Minihane AM & Mathers JC (2008) Biomarkers of the intake of dietary polyphenols: strengths, limitations and application in nutrition research. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 99, 12-22.

Squadrito F, Marini H, Bitto A, Altavilla D, Polito F, Adamo EB, D'Anna R, Arcoraci V, Burnett BP, Minutoli L, Di Benedetto A, Di Vieste G, Cucinotta D, de Gregorio C, Russo S, Corrado F, Saitta A, Irace C, Corrao S & Licata G (2013) Genistein in the metabolic syndrome: results of a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 98, 3366-3374.

Stewart LK, Soileau JL, Ribnicky D, Wang ZQ, Raskin I, Poulev A, Majewski M, Cefalu WT & Gettys TW (2008) Quercetin transiently increases energy expenditure but persistently decreases circulating markers of inflammation in C57BL/6J mice fed a high fat diet. *Metabolism*, 57, s39-s46.

Stork AD, Kemperman H, Erkelens DW & Veneman TF (2005) Comparison of the accuracy of the HemoCue glucose analyser with the Yellow Springs Instrument glucose oxidase analyser, particularly in hypoglycaemia. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 153, 275-281.

Stubbs RJ, Hughes DA, Johnstone AM, Rowley E, Reid C, Eila M, Stratton R, Delargy H, King N & Blundell JE (2000) The use of visual analogue scales to assess motivation to eat in human subjects: a review of their reliability and validity with an evaluation of new hand-held computerized systems for temporal tracking of appetite ratings. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 84, 405-415.

Sundaram R, Naresh R, Shanthi P & Sachdanandam P (2013) Modulatory effect of green tea extract on hepatic key enzymes of glucose metabolism in streptozotocin and high fat diet induced diabetic rats. *Phytomedicine*, 20, 577-584.

Tabatabai A & Li S (2000) Dietary fiber and type 2 diabetes. International Journal of NPACE, 4, 272-276.

Tadera K, Minami Y, Takamatsu K & Matsuoka T (2006) Inhibition of α-glucosidase and α-amylase by flavonoids, *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology*, 52, 149-153.

Takahashi K, Kamada C, Yoshimura H, Okumura R, Iimuro S, Ohashi Y, Araki A, Umegaki H, Sakurai T, Yoshimura Y & Ito H (2012) Effects of total and green vegetable intakes on glycated hemoglobin A1c and triglycerides in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: The Japanese Elderly Intervention Trial. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International*, 12, 50-58.

Tamura A, Shiomi T, Hachiya S, Shigematsu N & Hara H (2008) Low activities of intestinal lactase suppress the early phase absorption of soy isoflavones in Japanese adults. *Clinical Nutrition*, 27, 248-253.

Tanka S, Han LK, Zheng YN & Okuda H (2004) Effects of the flavonoid fraction from Ginkgo biloba extract on the postprandial blood glucose elevation in rats. *Journal of the Pharmaceutical Society of Japan*, 124, 605-611.

Tanko Y, Yerima M, Mahdi MA, Yaro AH, Musa KY & Mohammed A (2008) Hypoglycemic activity of methanolic stem bark of Adansonnia digitata extract on blood glucose levels of streptozocin-induced diabetic Wistar rats. *International Journal of Applied Research of Natural Products*, 1, 32-6.

Thomas D & Elliot EJ (2009) Low glycaemic index or low glycaemic load diets for diabetes Mellitus (Review). The Cochrane Library, 1.

Thomas D, Elliott EJ & Baur L (2007) Low glycaemic index or low glycaemic load diets for overweight and obesity (Review). The Cochrane Library, 3.

Thompson LU, Yoon JH, Jenkins DJA, Wolever TM & Jenkins, AL (1984) Relationship between polyphenol intake and blood glucose response of normal and diabetic individuals. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 39, 745-751.

Thondre PS & Henry CJK (2009) High-molecular-weight barley  $\beta$ -glucan in chapatis (unleavened Indian flatbread) lowers glycemic index. *Nutrition Research*, 29, 480-486.

Thondre PS, Ryan L & Henry CJK (2011) Influence of polyphenols on in vitro starch digestibility of oat porridges. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 70.

Törrönen R, Kolehmainen M, Sarkkinen E, Mykkänen H & Niskanen L (2012a) Postprandial glucose, insulin, and free fatty acid responses to sucrose consumed with blackcurrants and lingonberries in healthy women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 96, 527-533.

Törrönen R, Kolehmainen M, Sarkkinen E, Poutanen K, Mykkänen H & Niskanen L (2013) Berries reduce postprandial insulin responses to wheat and rye breads in healthy women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 143, 430-436.

Törrönen R, Sarkkinen E, Niskanen T, Tapola N, Kilpi K & Niskanen L (2012b) Postprandial glucose, insulin and glucagon-like peptide 1 responses to sucrose ingested with berries in healthy subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 107, 1445-1451.

Törrönen R, Sarkkinen E, Tapola N, Hautaniemi E, Kilpi K & Niskanen L (2010) Berries modify the postprandial plasma glucose response to sucrose in healthy subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 103, 1094-1097.

Trayhurn P & Milner RE (1989) A commentary on the interpretation of *in vitro* biochemical measures of brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. *Canadian Journal of Physiology & Pharmacology*, 67, 811-819.

Trela BC & Waterhouse AL (1996) Resveratrol: isomeric molar absorptivity's and stability. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 44, 1253-1257.

Tresserra-Rimbau A, Rimm EB, Medina-Remón A et al. (2014) Inverse association between habitual polyphenol intake and incidence of cardiovascular events in the PREDIMED study. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 24, 639-647.

Tzulker R, Glazer I, Bar-Ilan I, Holland D, Avriam M & Amir R (2007) Antioxidant activity, polyphenol content, and related compounds in different fruit juices and homogenates prepared from 29 different pomegranate accessions. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55, 9559-70.

Uchida N, Yoshimoto N, Nakamura A, Takagi A, Honda K, Moto M, Katsuraya K & Hashizume N (2013) Difference of inhibitory effect of α-glucosidase by tea leaves species and extraction condition and effect of black tea on postprandial blood glucose level elevation in ICR mice. *Journal of Analytical Bioscience*, 36, 193-202.

Ullmann U, Haller J, Decourt JP, Girault N, Girault J, Richard-Caudron AS, Pineau B & Weber P (2003) A single ascending dose study of epigallocatechin gallate in healthy volunteers. *Journal of International Medical Research*, 31, 88–101.

Van Amelsvoort JM, Van Het Hof KH, Mathot JN, Mulder TP, Wiersma A & Tijburg LB (2001) Plasma concentrations of individual tea catechins after a single oral dose in humans. *Xenobiotica*, 31, 891–901.

Vertuani S, Braccioli E, Buzzoni V & Manfredini S (2002) Antioxidant capacity of Adansonia digitata fruit pulp and leaves. Acta Phytotherapeutica, 5.

Vetrani C, Rivellese AA, Annuzzi G, Mattila I, Meudec E, Hyötyläinen T, Orešič M & Aura AM (2014) Phenolic metabolites as compliance biomarker for polyphenol intake in a randomized controlled human intervention. *Food Research International*, 63, 233–238.

Vita JA (2005) Polyphenols and cardiovascular disease: effects on endothelial and platelet function. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 81, 2925-2975.

Vosloo MC (2005) Some factors affecting the digestion of glycaemic carbohydrates and the blood glucose response. *Journal of Family Ecology and Consumer Science*, 33.

Wallace IR, McEvoy CT, Hunter SJ, Hamill LL, Ennis CN, Bell PM, Patterson CC, Woodside JV, Young IS & McKinley MC (2013) Dose-response effect of fruit and vegetables on insulin resistance in people at high risk of cardiovascular disease a randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care*, 36, 3888-3896.

Walle T (2004) Absorption and metabolism of flavonoids. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 36, 829-837.

Wang ZM, Zhou B, Wang YS, Gong QY, Wang QM, Yan JJ, Gao W & Wang LS (2011) Black and green tea consumption and the risk of coronary artery disease: a meta-analysis. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 93, 506-515.

Weickert MO, Möhlig M, Schöfl C et al. (2006) Cereal fiber improves whole body insulin sensitivity in overweight and obese women. *Diabetes Care*, 29, 775-780.

Welsch CA, Lachance PA & Wasserman BP (1989) Dietary phenolic compounds: inhibition of Na+ dependent D-glucose uptake in rat intestinal brush boarder membrane vesicles. *Journal of Nutrition*, 119, 1698-1704.

Westerterp KR (2004) Diet induced thermogenesis. Nutrition & Metabolism, 1.

Williamson G (2013) Possible effects of dietary polyphenols on sugar absorption and digestion. Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 57, 48-57.

Williamson G & Manach C (2005) Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. II. Review of 93 intervention studies. *Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 81, 243S–255S.

Wilson T, Luebke JL, Morcomb EF, Carrell EJ, Leveranz MC, Kobs L, Schmidt TP, Limburg PJ, Vorsa N, Singh AP (2010) Glycemic responses to sweetened dried and raw cranberries in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Food Science*, 75, H218-H223.

Wolever TMS (2006) Glycaemic index and disease. Wallingford: CABI.

Woolnough JW, Monro JA, Brennan CS & Bird AR (2008) Simulating human carbohydrate digestion *in vitro*: a review of methods and the need for standardization. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 43, 2245-2256.

Wootton-Beard PC, Moran A & Ryan L (2011) Stability of the total antioxidant capacity and total polyphenol content of 23 commercially available vegetable juices before and after *in vitro* digestion measured by FRAP, DPPH, ABTS and Folin-Ciocalteu methods. *Food Research International*, 44, 217-224.

World Health Organization (2011) Global status report on non-communicable diseases 2010; available at <a href="http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd">http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd</a> report2010/en/.

World Health Organization (2013) Diabetes Fact Sheet.; available at http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/.

Wu LY, Chen Z, Li X & Li M (2009) Effect of tea polyphenols on the retrogradation of rice starch. Food Research International, 42, 221-225.

Wu LY, Juan CC, Ho LT, Hsu YP & Hwang LS (2004) Effect of green tea supplementation on insulin sensitivity in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 2, 643-648.

Yan J, Zhao Y, Suo S, Liu Y & Zhao, B (2012) Green tea catechins ameliorate adipose insulin resistance by improving oxidative stress. *Free Radical Biology of Medicine*, 52, 1648-1657.

Yang CS, Landau JM, Huang MT & Newmark HL (2001) Inhibition of carcinogenesis by dietary polyphenolic compounds. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 21, 381-406.

Yilmazer-Musa M, Griffith AM, Michels AJ, Schneider E & Frei B (2012) Grape seed and tea extracts and catechin 3-gallates are potent inhibitors of alphaamylase and alpha-glucosidase activity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 60, 8924-8929.

Yoon JH, Thompson LU & Jenkins DJA (1983) The effect of phytic acid on *in vitro* rate of starch digestibility and blood glucose response. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 38, 835-42.

Young AL, Cho EJ & Yokozawa T (2008) Effects of proanthocyanidin preparations on hyperlipidemia and other biomarkers in mouse model of type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 56, 7781-7789.

Zamora-Ros R, Rabassa M, Cherubini A, MR Sarda, Bandinelli S, Ferrucci L & Andres-Lacueva C (2013a) High concentrations of a urinary biomarker of polyphenol intake are associated with decreased mortality in older adults. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 143, 1445-1450.

Zamora-Ros R, Rothwell JA, Scalbert A et al. (2013b) Dietary intakes and food sources of phenolic acids in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 110, 1500-1511.

Zhang J & Kashket S (1998) Inhibition of salivary amylase by black and green teas and their effects on the intraoral hydrolysis of starch. *Caries Research*, 32, 233-238.

Zhang L, Li J, Hogan S, Cchug H, Webaum GE & Zhou K (2010) Inhibitory effect of raspberries on starch digestive enzyme and their antioxidant properties and phenolic composition. *Food Chemistry*, 119, 592-599.

Zhang X, Shu XO, Gao YT, Yang G, Li H, Jin F & Zheng W (2003) Soy food consumption is associated with lower risk of coronary heart disease in Chinese women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 133, 2874-2878.

Zhang YL & Liu DM (2011) Flavonol kaempferol improves chronic hyperglycemia-impaired pancreatic beta-cell viability and insulin secretory function. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 670, 325-332.

Zhou F, Cai YZ, Sun M & Corke H (2009) Effect of phytochemical extracts on the pasting, thermal, and gelling properties of wheat starch. *Food Chemistry*, 112, 919-923.

Zimmermann C, Cederroth CR, Bourgoin L, Michelangelo F & Nef S (2012) Prevention of diabetes in db/db mice by dietary soy is independent of isoflavone levels. *Endocrinology*, 153, 5200-5211.

157

.